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INTRODUCTION.

Moge than thirty years ago my father, then Captain Durand, of
the Bengal Engineers, being at home on leave, began to write
this history of the Cabul War. He had some special qualifica-
tions for the task, for he had served through Keane’s campaign,
had personally known most of the men whose actions he was
to chronicle, and afterwards, as private secretary to Lord Ellen-
borough, had enjoyed unusual opportunities of obtaining correct
and full information upon many important matters connected
with the subject of his work.

It was never completed ; for in 1848, convinced that an out-
break in the Punjab was imminent, he threw up his furlough
and returned to India—just in time to take a part in the battles
of the second Sikh War. For two or three years after the close
of the campaign his duties afforded him a certain amount of
leisure ; but the life of an Indian official is at best ill suited
to the prosecution of a literary task requiring such close and
constant application as the one he had undertaken, and I believe
he never resumed it. A portion of the manuscript was converted
into a long review article, which is repeatedly quoted by Sir
John Kaye, and has had a marked effect upon the historian’s
treatment of some parts of his subject. The rest was left un-
touched, and the narrative breaks off abruptly with the arrival
of Lord Ellenborough in India. It is, therefore, a fragment,
and in parts a rough one.

Nevertheless, fragmentary though it be, I have ventured to
bring it to light. Now that war has again been declared against
the Ameer of Cabul, and that the defiles of the Khybur have
once more reverberated the roar of British guns, I think the
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story of our victories and reverses in Afghanistan, told by one
who bore a part in the former, and early recognised the errors of
policy which led to the latter, cannot be altogether devoid of
interest.. I have not attempted to elaborate or complete the
narrative. Such an attempt could only have had the effect of
detracting from any value it may now possess; and the manu-
script goes to press almost as I found it. In one or two places,
however, I have permitted myself to deviate from the original
text. With some hesitation—for truth is truth, and I would
not willingly garble my father’s work—but in deference to the
opinion of others, and with the desire of sparing pain, I have
suppressed the statement of certain circumstances which, though
indubitable and not wholly devoid of historical interest, were
not, perhaps, necessary to the completeness of the story. And I
have slightly altered that portion of the manuscript which tells
of the storm of Ghuznee. A writer is necessarily at a disadvan-
tage in describing an exploit in which he was one of the chief
actors, and I found it difficult to supplement the text satisfac-
torily by means of notes. The alterations are, however, slight,
and there is not a sentence of my own in the account. The
whole is taken from papers in my father’s handwriting, and I
have kept his words.

It is, probably, needless for me to point out that a work like
this, written thirty years ago, and left in the rough, affords
neither an exposition of my father’s views with regard to our
policy in Central Asia, nor a fair specimen of his literary powers.
For the opinions of men and measures which the book puts
forward I offer no apology. They differ considerably in some
respects from the ideas now generally entertained, and they are
often as strongly expressed as they were strongly held. But,
however strongly held and expressed, they were not hastily
formed ; and, right or wrong, they are the result of careful and
censcientious thought.

For those who knew the writer personally, or who are ac-
quainted with the course of events in India during the last forty
years, it would not, perhaps, be necessary to add anything more.
But the career of an Indian official is as a rule little known in
England, and rapidly forgotten by Englishmen, even in India ;
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and as this book may fall into the hands of some who are wholly
ignorant of the writer’s claims to a hearing, I add a brief account
of his life. I cannot, of course, pretend that the account is an
impartial one, but I have done my best to make it truthful and
accurate.

Henry Marion Durand was born on November 6, 1812. The
son of a soldier, he early manifested an inclination for a military
career ; and after a brief education at Leicester and Putney,
where one of his schoolfellows was his future chief (Lord Can-
ning), he entered the East India Company’s College, at Addis-
combe. Here his success was marked. He passed out of
Addiscombe on June 7, 1828, ¢ with more prizes than he could
find hands to carry from the table,’ ! and five days later received
his commission as Second Lieutenant in the Corps of Bengal
Engineers. It was, I believe, a rule of the Company that no
cadet should be admitted to the service before the age of sixteen,
but the rule was set aside in his favour.

In October of the following year, after having passed with
special credit through the course preseribed for Engineer officers,
he set sail for India. The voyage was not altogether uneventful ;
for the ¢ Lady Holland,’ after running some risk from pirates,
was wrecked upon Dassan Island, and my father, exerting him-
self to save the lives and property of others, lost everything he
possessed. It was not until the end of May 1829 that he reached
Calcutta. -

In the vessel which brought him from the Cape he had met .
Alexander Duff, the first missionary from the Kirk of Scotland,
and afterwards one of his staunchest friends. The two had
much in common. It was said of my father after his death, by
one who wrote in no friendly spirit, that he ¢looked at every-
thing through the pure crystal of Christianity ;’ and the remark
was a8 true of him when he landed in India as it was thirty
years later. Even in those days his conduct was controlled by
a firm belief in the truth of the Bible, and to the end of his life
that belief never wavered. No record of his life, however brief,
would be other than thoroughly false if it failed to bring pro-

' Seven out of eight, and the sword for good conduct.
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minently forward the fact that a steadfast faith in the teaching
of Christ, free from the slightest admixture of cant or bigotry,
was the very foundation of his character. Humbly and fear-
lessly serving one Master, and relying upon a strength not his
own, he strove to do his duty unflinchingly from beginning to
end ; and, passing through many trials, he closed an upright,
uncompromising life by a death which was strangely calm and
peaceful.

When he arrived in India the country was in a condition of
profound tranquillity. The stormy Administration of Lord
Ambherst had come to an end; and Lord William Bentinck,
secure from foreign aggression, and harbouring no dreams of
conquest, had entered upon a policy of unsparing retrenchment.
The army was being rapidly reduced, and everything seemed to
presage a long peace. But then, as ever, the most promising
field for a man of soldierly aspirations was the line of our
North-Western Frontier ; for though our statesmen troubled
themselves but little about the countries west of the Indus, the
old ¢ Lion of Lahore ’ lay within four marches of the Sutlej, with
a large and eager army ; and other elements of danger were not
wanting.

Immediately after his arrival, therefore, my father applied
for employment in the North-West Provinces. He obtained it
without difficulty; and after a year spent in acquainting himself
with the work of the Building Department, and in surveying
sites for European troops in the Himalayas, he was appointed,
by special request, an assistant to Major Colvin, the Superin-
tendent of Canals. His fellow-assistants were all picked men.
It would not be easy to find three more distinguished names in
the ranks of Indian Engineers than Proby Cautley, William
Baker, and Robert Napier.

For the next five years, during which time large works were
executed and the system of canal irrigation was much developed,
my father was employed upon the canals west of the Jumna. The

) f his duties afforded him, during the hot weather, ample
iities for study ; and as he was from the first an untiring
“a strange mixture of the soldier and the student,” to
words of one of his earliest friends—those opportunities
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were not wasted. At the same time his work threw him into
constant contact with the people, and under peculiarly favour-
able circumstances. Regarding a Canal officer as their bene-
factor, one who had nothing to do with trying or taxing them,
they behaved towards him with an openness which natives of
India rarely show to a European; and he always felt that he
had gained more insight into the customs and character of the
agricultural classes during this time than at any subsequent
period of his career. Knowledge brought with it a kindly feeling
which it never lost.

In 1834, hearing that a detachment of officers was about to
be sent to Persia, to organise and drill the native army, he ap-
plied for the service; and his chief supported the application,
adding that if Government wanted another officer of the same
stamp they would find him in Henry Lawrence, of the Artillery.
Fortunately, perhaps, though to my father’s great vexation at
the time, the application was unsuccessful.

Meanwhile the little party of Engineers had directed their
attention to another field. The heads of the irrigation canals
were drawn from the Jumna, where that river debouches from
the outer ranges of the Himalaya, and it became a favourite
amusement with the Canal officers to make excursions into the
hills. It was in the course of omne of these excursions that a
clue was obtained to the discovery of the Sewalik fossils, which
startled the scientific world, and contributed so materially to the
development of the study of palmontology. The value of the
discovery is attested by Dr. Murchison, in his palmontological
memoirs of Falconer. By it, he says, ¢a sub-tropical mamma-
lian fossil fauna was brought to light unexampled for richness
and extent in any other region then known.’ Following up
their subject, the young officers sent to the Journal of the
Asiatic Society of Bengal, then under the management of James
Prinsep, a series of articles descriptive of the most interesting
gpecimens brought to light ; and when my father left the canals
three years later, the names of Cautley, Baker, and himself were
well known to English men of science.

I have dwelt upon this part of my father's early life because
the taste for geology and its kindred studies which he first ac-



X INTRODUCTION.

quired among the Sewalik fossils always remained with him.
His journals are tull of geological jottings ; and wherever he was
employed, from Burmah to Afghanistan, he seems to have found
time for the prosecution of his favourite subject.

In 1838, after some time spent in examining and reporting
upon the Nujjufghur Marsh and a large tract of country to the
south of Delhi, which it was proposed to drain, his connection
with the canals finally closed. The Surveyor-General of India,
Colonel Everest, had previously applied for his services ; and he
was now nominated for the duty of drawing up reports on the
condition and progress of the Trigonometrical Survey. This
duty, however, he never took up. Lord Auckland and his dis-

retary, Thomason, had been struck with the de-
ige of the people ‘and their tenures which my
uired during his work on the canals; and at the
>t weather he was offered, and accepted, the ap-
ecretary to the Revenue Board of the North-West
18 appointment, a singular one for a young mili-
was about to enter upon, when the assembly of
in Afghanistan turned his thoughts in a different
ough fully sensible of the distinction conferred
was not of a temper to resign, for any inducement
>ffered, the chance of active service ; and at once
is secretaryship, he applied for employment with
e field. The application was granted, and he was
1e Army of the Indus, as one of two Engineer
d, in addition to their other professional duties,
¢ of the Topographical Department, surveys of
the like. Upon their labours were based in a
all subsequent maps of Afghanistan, for the old
y incorrect.
isted in the preparation of the Engineer Park at
+ bridging of the Indus, my father accompanied
iy Cotton’s division to Quetta, and was with Sir
force in the advance to Candahar. From Can-
saring part in Sale’s expedition to Girishk, he
the main body upon Cabul. When Keane
Ghuznee, the provisions of the force so nearly
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exhausted that capture of the fortress by a coup de main could
alone save the expedition from calamitous failure, he was offered
by the Chief Engineer, Thomson, the command of the party
which was to blow in the Cabul Gate. The offer was a tempting
one, for the command of the party was a certain opening to dis-
tinction ; and to be specially selected for the duty by Thomson,
as fine a soldier a8 ever stepped, was in itself no small honour.
. Nevertheless it was declined. Knowing that Captain Peat, of
the Bombay Engineers, an excellent officer, and his senior, ex-
pected the command, my father requested that it might be
offered to him, asking only to be entrusted with the duty of
heading the explosion party, placing the powder, and firing the
train.! How he performed that duty I need not tell here.
Hardly able to walk, from the effects of severe illness, he had,
while reconnoitring in the course of the day preceding the
attack, narrowly escaped death at the hands of the Afghan skir-
mishers, and it was with extreme difficulty that he bore up
until the work was done. Immediately after the storm he was
forced to take to his bed.

After the arrival of the British force at Cabul my father was
appointed Engineer to the Shah; and in this capacity he did
his best to oppose the fatal error of abandoning the Bala Hissar.
Fortunately for himself, perhaps, he found that this lucrative
appointment debarred him from active service, and he soon
resigned it. His successor, Sturt, fell in the fatal retreat of
Elphinstone’s division. Returning to India with Sir John
Keane, he had the opportunity of becoming to some extent ac-
quainted with the Punjab and the condition of the Sikh army
shortly after the death of Runjeet Sing—an acquaintance which
was of use to him a few years later.

When the maps, plans, and reports connected with the
campaign in Afghanistan had been completed, my father went
to England on furlough. His religious convictions growing
stronger year by year, bad led him at this time to contemplate
resigning his career in India in favour of the Church. But after

' Sir Colin Campbell’s comment upon this unselfish act when, years afterwards,
he ascertained the truth of the story, was .a very characteristic one: ‘By God,
Durand, I wouldn't have done that for my own father!’
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much self-examination and consulting of friends he found he
was ¢ unfit for so serious a charge as entering the ministry, and
the idea was eventually abandoned. Shortly afterwards he was
introduced to Lord Ellenborough, then about to assume the
government of India, and was asked to draw up a military
memoir on the Punjab. The paper was shown by Lord Ellen-
borough to the Duke of Wellington, and elicited from the
latter a warm expression of approval. At the same time my
father received, and after some hesitation accepted, the offer of
an appointment on Lord Ellenborough’s Staff as aide-de-camp.
Before the new Governor-General reached Calcutta the appoint-
ment was exchanged for that of private secretary.

In this position my father remained throughout Lord Ellen-
borough’s Indian administration, refusing in succession several
high political posts. He was greatly tempted by the offer of
the Agency on the North-West Frontier, at that time perhaps the
most responsible appointment in the Governor-General’s gift ;
but he feared that by accepting it he might compromise the
reputation of a chief for whose character and abilities he had
early cause to entertain a high respect, and he decided to
decline the honour. ILord Ellenborough appreciated the
motives which influenced him in this decision, and a warm
personal friendship sprang up between the Governor-General
and his secretary, which was never interrupted. The careers
of both were very nearly cut short at the same time on the
field of Maharajpore, where Lord Ellenborough’s coolness and
courage under the close fire of the Mahratta guns won him the
admiration of many brave men.!

Upon Lord Ellenborough’s recall by the Court of Directors
my father was appointed by Lord Hardinge Commissioner on
the Tenasserim coast. Until this time his success had been

! Lord Ellenborough has been blamed for thrusting himself into a false position
at Maharajpore. As a fact he followed the directions of the commander-in-chief,
and it was only by an unforeseen change of disposition on the part of the enemy
that he found himself in front of their batteries. Once in the thick of the action,
his spirit was roused—and, as my father afterwards said, he ¢ thoroughly enjoyed it.’
But he retired to a less dangerous position when it was pointed out to him that
he was unduly exposing himself.
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rapid and uninterrupted. For the next thirteen years he was
destined to experience incessant trouble and disappointment ; to
meet with censure and supersession for honestly doing his duty ;
to face a storm of calumny and vituperation ; and to find him-
self, after seven-and-twenty years of varied military and poh-
tical service, a nearly ruined man.

Without writing at considerable length it would be impos-
gible to enter into the story of his administration in Tenasserim,
and of his recall by Sir Herbert Maddock. So long as Lord
Hardinge remained in Calcutta all went well, and he earned
the special commendation of the Indian Government. Bat
directly Lord Hardinge had departed for the North-West Pro-
vinces, leaving Maddock in Calcutta, as Deputy-Governor of
Bengal and President in Council, the aspect of affairs changed.
From circumstances which this is not the proper place to detail,
Maddock’s relations with my father had been far from cordial.
Freed from Lord Hardinge’s control, he lost no time in openly
manifesting his ill-will; and the Governor-General being fully
occupied with the course of events in the North, he ventured,
after a series of proceedings of which it is difficult for me to
speak with patience, to remove my father from his appoint-
ment. That the removal was wholly unmerited was afterwards
shown to the satisfaction of the highest authorities; but the
story is a long one, and I cannot follow it here.

On hearing of his recall my father appealed, as was natural,
to the Governor-General. This Maddock refused to permit, on
the ground that the appeal from his decision as Deputy-
Governor of Bengal lay to the President in Council ; that is, to
himself and one other member, the commander-in-chief and the
military member being absent. It is needless to comment on
the propriety of this dictum, whatever doubt there may be as to
its legality. At the same time that he thus officially refused
my father the right of appeal to the Governor-General, Mad-
dock, as afterwards appeared, was privately canvassing Lord
Hardinge’s concurrence. He failed to obtain it; for the
Governor-General, though he did not interfere with the Presi-
dent’s action, declined, to use his own words, being made
registering clerk to Maddock’s orders, and immediately offered
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my father the post of Chief Engineer in the Punjab. While
war was going on my father had placed his services at the
disposal of Government for employment in the field, and had
been ¢censured for so doing by the Deputy-Governor. But now
that war was over the offer was refused, and he returned to
England to seek justice from the Court of Directors.

During this time he was fiercely assailed by the Bengal
press, misled as to the facts of the case, and roused to indigna-
tion by his stern treatment of an unprincipled member of the
fraternity in Moulmein. ¢The Jeflreys of India,’ as he was
called, found, however, an able defender in Alexander Duff; and
the warm expressions of sympathy which he received at parting,
from every class of the community he had been declared unfit
to rule, did much to console him for the injustice and calumny -
he had gone through. Foremost among those who deplored his
loss were the little band of American missionaries, headed by
Judson, whose work in Burmah my father had aided by every
means in his power.

His appeal to the Directors was too late. The legality of the
decisions which had led to his removal was strongly affirmed by
counsel in England; but the Court had meanwhile sanctioned
the Deputy-Governor’s order. The President of the Board of
Control, however, assured him that on his return to India he
should be employed exactly as he had been before, and that he
should be no sufferer in any respect from what had passed. With
this assurance he was forced to be content.

It was at this time that he began to write his account of
the Cabul War. I have already described how the work was
interrupted by his return to duty in 1848. Although the peace
in the Punjab was, by those who should have known best,
confidently represented as solid and lasting, he was persuaded
that an outbreak was certain ; and his predictions were verified
with curious rapidity, for on arriving at the Sandheads he found
awaiting him orders to join the army at once—the outbreak had
already occurred. Hastening up to the frontier, he arrived in
time to witness the sanguinary battle of Chillianwalla. The
morning after that battle he did all that his position allowed
him to bring about an immediate advance; and it was, I
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believe, afterwards admitted by the Sikhs themselves that if an
advance had been made the complete defeat of the Khalsa
army, shaken and demoralised by the conflict of the previous
day, would bave been almost inevitable. But we had.lost fear-
fully, and it was not then understood how severely the Sikhs
had been tried by the fight. The opportunity was, therefore,
allowed to go by, and long weeks of weary inaction followed
before the final victory of Gujerat. Through that decisive
battle my father was with Colin Campbell’s division.

After the close of the campaign, the Tenasserim com-
missionership and several suitable appointments in the newly
annexed province of the Punjab being vacant, my father con-
fidently expected that the assurance given to him by the Pre-
sident of the Board of Control would be fulfilled. He was dis-
appointed ; for the Governor-General, Lord Dalhousie, knowing
nothing of him, and surrounded by men avowedly hostile to his
interests, set his claims aside ; and after a short stay at Gwalior,
as an assistant for the affairs of Sindia, he was relegated to the
subordinate political agency of Bhopal. There, with a hrief
interval of absence, he remained until the close of 1853.

Sir Charles Napier, no mean judge of a soldier, to some
degree compensated him for the slur by an offer which surprised
and gratified him more than he could say—the command of the
sappers and miners. But, war being over, my father, smarting
under a sense of wrong, and determined to obtain from the
Governor-General a clear recognition of the injustice inflicted
upon him, refused the offer. The refusal was unfortunate, for
a man of Lord Dalhousie’s imperious nature was little likely to
grant promotion which was demanded as a right, not asked as
a favour; and my father lost a promising opening for distinction
in his own branch of the service.

This period of his life was a trying one. Time after time
he saw political posts of importance, any one of which he could
bave had for the asking ten years before, given away to his
juniors, while he remained unnoticed in his obscure charge.
And year after year he strove without success to obtain the
military rank which was unquestionably his due. By an over-
sight on the part of Lord Ellenborough his name had been

a
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omitted from the list of recommendations for brevet rank after
the fight at Maharajpore ; and though Lord Ellenborough deeply
regretted the mistake, and afterwards did his best to repair it,
the ground lost was never recovered. The satisfaction of his
claim was deferred from year to year; and finally, after it bad
been supported by Lord Ellenborough, by Sir Charles Napier,
by Lord Gough, and even by Lord Dalhousie, the Court of
Directors declined to recommend it, on the ground that the
grant of the promotion would bring him over the heads of too
many officers who had now risen above him—thus, as one of his
supporters observed, making the very magnitude of the original
injustice the excuse for not repairing it. The decision was one
which almost irremediably ruined his prospect of advancement
in his profession—a profession which was the pride and passion
of his life.

But if this period of his career was one of disappointment
and dejection, it was not altogether wasted. The confidence and
goodwill with which he inspired the ruler of the Bhopal State have
borne good fruit. Throughout the Mutiny there was no stauncher
friend to the British cause than that brave and cool-headed
woman ; and the traditions she left behind her have not been
forgotten. Moreover, the leisure which he enjoyed enabled my
father to use his pen to some purpose. The ¢ Calcutta Review’
was then in its prime ; and, though he always rated his power
of writing very low, some of the essays which he contributed to
the ¢ Review’ at this time attracted considerable notice both in
India and at home. Besides articles on the wars in Cabul,
Burmah, and the Punjab, he wrote a series of papers show-
ing up the abuses of the system upon which India was then
governed, and advocating reforms which the Mutiny has since
forced us to adopt. These papers excited no small annoy-
ance in Leadenhall Street, for the existence of the Court of
Directors was at this time threatened, and use was made of
my father’s essays by reformers at home to deal some heavy
blows.

In December 1853, despairing of redress at the hands of
Lord Dalhousie, and finding his health seriously impaired, my
father threw up his charge at Sehore and returned to Europe,
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where he remained for nearly two years, endeavouring to find
some employment which might spare him the necessity of con-
tinuing his career in a country now become hateful to him.
He failed to do so; and towards the close of 1855 he sailed
again for India. His first appointment was not a promising
one. No political or military position being offered him, he was
forced to fall back upon a subordinate charge in the Department
of Public Works; and for more than a year he was employed as
Superintending Engineer of the Presidency Circle. He felt this ~
_ keenly; but the experience was of use to him in after life, and
during the latter part of this time he was enabled to do some
good outside the limits of his nominal duties. Lord Canning
had not been slow to recogmise the fact that in the superseded
and neglected Engineer officer he had found & man whose views
on questions of policy and war were worth considering; and
before long my father’s opinion came to be frequently asked,
and not infrequently taken, by the Governor-General. Twice
in particular, during 1856, he was, I believe, mainly instru-
mental in dissuading Lord Canning from projected military
operations which must have had a disastrous effect upon our posi-
tion in India. I refer to the proposals to occupy Quetta, and to
attack Persia overland through Afghanistan. In combating these
proposals he dwelt strongly upon the danger of denuding India
of British troops ; and it is unnecessary to point out how terribly
we should have regretted the mistake if, at the outbreak of the
Mutiny, a considerable part of our then scanty European garrison
had been hundreds of miles from our own provinces. As he had
expected, Persia was rapidly and easily coerced by our operations
in the Gulf, and our troops were set free in time for the crisis
of 1857.

In the beginning of that year Lord Canning offered my
father the charge of the Central India Agency, about to be tem-
porarily vacated by Sir Robert Hamilton, and the offer was
accepted. He took charge of his new appointment in April,
and retained it until the middle of December, throughout the
most critical period of the Mutiny. :

The tract of country comprised in the Central India Agency
was a point of special importance during this time. Through it

a2
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ran the direct road from Bombay to Agra, by which troops from
Bombay could be brought into operation against the North of
India, and by which also telegraphic communication between
Calcutta and the Madras and Bombay Presidencies could alone
be effected, for there was then no direct telegraphic line from
Madras to Calcutta. The maintenance of this line of commu-
nication was, therefore, invaluable. Nor was it less important to
maintain intact the line of the Nerbudda river, which, roughly
speaking, formed the southern frontier of the Agency, for the
Nerbudda was the one barrier between the mutinous Bengal
troops and the doubtful armies of Madras and Bombay. To
hold Central India, and if this failed at least the Nerbudda line,
was to localise the revolt, by preventing its spread over the
Southern Presidencies. For the attainment of these objects
my father had most insufficient means. His European force
consisted of a single battery of foot artillery, which contained
a source of weakness in the shape of native drivers, and was
moreover forced to remain statianary to check the native
troops at Mhow. The one chance lay in the fact that the
bulk of the armed forces in the Central India Agency were
troops belonging to the several State contingents; and he
hoped that by carefully isolating these troops and playing them
off against the regulars, it might be possible to maintain his
position. '
For six weeks after the outbreak at Delbi he succeeded in
doing so. But, contrary to his wishes and orders, the contingent
troops to the north were allowed to come into contact with the
mutinous sepoys. Their fidelity gave way, and gradually the
circle of insurrection closed southward upon Indore. On July 1
the crisis came. News had been received in the bazaar that the
late reports of the capture of Delhi by the British were untrue ;
and it now leaked out that the advance of a small column of
Bombay troops, ordered up to secure Central India, had been
arrested. This turned the scale. Holkar’s troops rose and
attacked the Residency ; the force collected for its defence, with
the exception of fourteen artillerymen and five Sikh troopers,
refused to fight; four hundred of them joined the insurgents;
and after a two hours’ cannonade, seeing that they were being
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surrounded by overwhelming numbers, and that all hope of suc-
cessful resistance was at an end, the little garrison determined
to withdraw. The retreat was effected in good order. Slowly
and deliberately, at the rate the gun-bullocks would walk, the
force moved off under the fire of the enemy’s guns—the ladies
and children being mounted on the gun-waggons, and the loyal
but panic-stricken troops covering the rear. The mutineers
soon gave up the pursuit and turned to the more congenial task
of plundering the treasury.

The line of retreat chosen was that on Mhow, where the
European battery was stationed, and upon which the Bombay
column had been ordered to advance ; but the contingent troops
refused to follow, and it became necessary to strike off towards
Bhopal territory, which, after a harassing march, was safely
reached. Here the party was hospitably received ; and after a
day’s stay in Sehore my father struck southward across the
Nerbudda, to bring up the Bombay column. Having arrested
the retirement of the Madras troops holding the Nerbudda,
which suicidal measure had been ordered during the first burst
of alarm caused by the news of the Indore outbreak, he joined
and pressed up Waadbwsm's force, and by August 1 the line of
the Nerbudda was once more secure.

During the rains the little column remained in enforced
idleness at Mhow, but directly the state of the country per-
mitted it moved into the field. The whole force at my father’s
disposal consisted of 600 Europeans and 1,200 natives. At
Indore, fourteen miles north of Mhow, were Holkar's troops—
1,400 horse, five battalions of infantry, and thirty guns. Beyond
these, at Gwalior, Sindia’s large contingent had broken out. To
the north-west several thousand Mewatees and Velayutees, stub-
born fighting men, had collected at Mundesore, and threatened to
overrun all Western Malwa. To the north-east the prospect
was even worse. It seemed only too probable that the Nana’s
forces, broken by Havelock about Cawnpore, might strike
southward, and, gathering to themselves the Banda and Gwalior
mutineers, pour down in one overwhelming mass upon Central
India, where there was nothing to stay their advance but the
small column at Mhow. Meanwhile, immediately to the east-

‘é.d:’
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ward, a body of Velayutees menaced Nimar, while immediately
to the westward a force of Afghans and other mercenaries rose
and occupied the strong fort of Dhar.

The plan of operations adopted to meet this combination
of difficulties was as follows: In order to avoid street-
fighting, and the risk of driving the insurgents northwards
into a junction with those at Mundesore, it was resolved to dis-
regard the former for a time, and, leaving Indore on the right,
march upon Mundesore by way of Dhar. After dispersing the
Mundesore army the column could swing round on Indore,
where it would probably find a disheartened enemy, or if
necessary strike across the main road above Indore and hound
back the Nana to the north-east. The plan proved completely
successful. Dhar fell after a ten days’ siege; the Mundesore
army was shattered and dispersed after some very severe
fighting. Neemuch was relieved ; and when the little column
arrived at Indore the mutinous regiments quietly laid down
their arms. These operations cleared the way for Sir Hugh
Rose’s brilliant campaign in Central India.

The day after the Indore troops had been disarmed my
father handed over charge of the Agency to Sir Robert Hamilton,
who had now arrived on the scene. Lord Canning’s opinion of
my father’s administration in Central India was afterwards
expressed in the following words: ¢ Colonel Durand’s conduct
was marked by great foresight and the soundest judgment, as
well in military as in civil matters. He had many points to
guard, and the force at his disposal was almost hopelessly small ;
but by a judicious use of it, and by the closest personal supervi-
sion of its movements, Colonel Durand saved our interests in
Central India until support could arrive.’

ve not space to enter here into a notice of the contro-
iich has arisen upon this portion of my father’s career.
after his return from Indore his action was attacked by
bert Hamilton, and sedulously misrepresented by a
of the Indian press; and years afterwards Sir Robert
n’s intimate personal friend, Sir John Kaye, followed
ittack in his ¢ History of the Sepoy War.” But Colonel
n, who has re-written this part of Kaye’s work, has
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taken an entirely different view, and there is hardly room for
further misrepresentation in the matter.

After handing over charge of the Central India Agency my
father went down to Bombay, and thence to Calcutta, where he
remained for a short time unemployed. At the end of April
1858 he was placed by Lord Canning upon special duty in
connection with the reorganisation of the Indian army, and for
some months he was hard at work collecting and noting upon
the opinions of the principal military and civil officers regard-
ing the measures to be pursued. The work was one of difficulty
and importance, for the Mutiny had broken up the Bengal
army, and had shown the utter insufficiency of our European
garrison. It had become, in fact, necessary to remodel alto- -
gether the military system on which the maintenance of our
Indian empire depends. The conclusions arrived at by my
father as the result of his inquiries were accepted by Lord
Canning ; and in September 1858, a Royal Commission having
been appointed to investigate the question, he was sent to
England, to lay before the Secretary of State the views of the
Governor-General. Those views were in the main his own; for
Lord Canning’s memorandum on the subject, which was laid
before the Commission, was closely in accord with one submitted
by him shortly hefore. In particular both felt strongly the
necessity for the formation of a local European army, and on
this point my father dwelt strenuously in his evidence before
the Commission. He considered the measure the only one
which could be relied upon to prevent the Home Government
in time of pressure from bastily denuding India of British
troops, and thus perilling the safety of the empire. The native
regular army he wished to see greatly reduced, and an irregular
force raised in lieu of a portion of the old regular regiments.

In the following January my father was appointed to a seat in
the Council of India, and in this position he remained for rather
more than two years. They were to him a period of continual
striving against hopeless odds. Firmly persuaded that the mea-
sures adopted in regard to Indian reorganisation were unwise
and unjust, he never ceased to exert himself to the utmost in
support of Lord Canning’s views, and in defence of the rights
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of the Indian armies. The influences on the other side were,
however, too strong, and his exertions resulted chiefly in injury
to his own prospects. The armies were amalgamated; the
staff corps was brought into being; and most of the minor
measures he opposed in council were carried against him.

In May 1861 he received a letter from Lord Canning
offering him the Foreign Secretaryshipin Calcutta, and pressing
him to accept it. This appointment Lord Canning had wished
to give him in 1859; but circumstances then rendered it im-
possible, and the Governor-General had been forced to make
other arrangements. 'When offered, the post was at first refused
—my father had many reasons for preferring to remain in
England. The care of a large family, his own weariness of an
Indian exile, and the feeling that his services had met with
scant appreciation, all combined to dissuade him from returning.
His first decision was, however, reversed. Pressed by others to
go out for the good of the service, and feeling that he owed
much to Lord Canning, he withdrew his refusal; and on July 4
started for India. It was, I think, characteristic of him that
he was strongly influenced in this matter by the desire of
making room in council for Qutram, who was about to risk his
life by taking up his appointment in Calcutta.

My father’s selection was at first viewed with some disfavour
by the Civil Service, for the Foreign Secretaryship was much co-
veted, and I.ord Canning had been guilty of a somewhat startling
innovation in giving it to an officer of Engineers. Yet I believe
I am safe in saying that when it was vacated, after four years’
tenure, there was no dispute as to its having been ably filled.
Strongly opposed to the sweeping annexations of Lord Dalhousie,
which had unsettled the minds of our Indian feudatories and

¢ and distrust broadcast; as strongly averse from the
e non-interference views of Cornwallis and Bentinck ;!
to the responsibilities which had been devolved upon
supreme power in India, my father was well suited for

en said—and it was an opinion shared by many thinking natives—that
vay of extinguishing native States was to abstain from all interference
irs. Isee thata late writer in the ¢ Quarterly Review ’ quotes a remark
effect made by the well-known Minister, Sir Madava Rao; ‘ Ifleft to
they will wipe themselves out,’
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carrying out the wise and conciliatory policy of Lord Canning
—a policy which he had some share in forming. With the
ignorant pseudo-tenderness which made a certain class of
political officers treat native States in India as foreign powers,
and foster the obeolete pretensions of the chiefs at the expense
of their subjects, he had, indeed, no sympathy. He always felt
for the peasant as much as for the prince. But native rulers
who ruled well had no truer friend, and they knew it. His
views on this important branch of Indian policy were expressed
by himself in an essay contributed to the ¢ Calcutta Review’
in 1865, and I cannot, I think, do better than quote it here.
After commenting upon the inapplicability of international
law to the relations between the Supreme Government and the
native States, and the folly of fostering notions of independence
which could not fail to prove destructive to the States them-
selves, he wrote :—

¢ These remarks are made in no other than the most friendly
feeling to native States, and from the conviction that the course
most conservative of their permanent interests is that which
prevents their rulers from entertaining chimerical notions of
their footing with respect to the Supreme Government. A just
apprehension of their real position will show them the wisdom
of avoiding opposition to the onward start which India is at
length making under British rule, and the expediency of
identifying themselves and their States with the progress now
effecting around them.

¢ By thus making common cause with the British Govern-
ment in its beneficent exertions, their own abiding interests will
be far better fostered than by the indulgence of empty preten-
sions. The English Government neither wishes to curtail their
honours or their possessions. The only thing which can now be
fatal to them is gross misrule, and its consequent isolation
from the policy of the Government of India, namely, the rapid
improvement of India and its races. The days of the annex-
ation policy are passed, and nothing but gross and obstinate
dereliction from the obligations and duties of their position
can henceforward endanger them ; but they must honourably
discharge the trust devolved upon them. If the days of annex-
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ation are gone, so too are the days of gross cruelty and tyranny;
for British supremacy can neither tolerate nor cloak such abuse
of administrative powers under the sgis of its protection.’

The views here expressed were in perfect accord with those of
Lord Canning; and Lord Canning’s rule in India, closed all too
goon, marked -the starting-point of a new era in our Indian
feudatory policy. It is true that others before Lord Canning
had held much the same views; but it was not until his time
that the British Government formally and finally accepted
them, and sealed its acceptance by entering into engagements
from which for the future there can be no withdrawal.!

In the summer of 1865 my father’s connection with the
Foreign Office ceased, by his appointment to a seat as military
member of the Viceroy’s council. Lord Canning had wished to
appoint him to this post some years before in place of OQutram.
But his views on army questions were not such as to gain him
favour at home, and the place fell to his old friend Napier, who
who had also been named by Lord Canning. It is possible that
this may have deprived him of what he afterwards was anxious
to obtain, the command in Abyssinia. To the end of his life
he never lost his enthusiasm for his profession, and his strongest
desire was to command an army in the field. He never suc-
ceeded in doing so; but he never grudged others the success
denied to himself. ¢Napier,” he used to say, ¢ has le feu sacré,
—there is no truer soldier alive.’

In the beginning of the year he had entertained some slight
hopes of succeeding to the Lieutenant-Governorship of the
Punjab, which post Lord Elgin had, I believe, intended for

! My father’s clear comprehension and acceptance of Lord Canning’s views
was not, I think, his only qualification for the post Lord Canning had given him.
His knowledge of Indian history was remarkably deep and accurate; and his
attainments as a linguist were considerable. Natives have often remarked to me
upon the fluency and correctness with which he spoke Hindustani; and he was at
home both in Persian and Arabic.

Putting aside the languages most immediately useful to him in the Indian
Foreign Office, he knew French, German, and Italian as few Englishmen know
them, and he always retained his love for classical authors, particularly the Greek
poets. I remember, when he was last at home, in 1868, being surprised, and
humbled, by his familiarity with Greek poetry, and the perfect ease with which he
read it. He also knew something of Hebrew, Burmese, and Spanish.
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him. Sir John Lawrence, however, preferred a man after his
own choice, and Sir Donald Macleod was chosen. Though to
some extent disappointed he was not surprised. His views
differed so widely from those of the Governor-General on many
important points that he had hardly expected any other result,
and he entered upon his new duties with none the less zeal. I
. cannot notice at any length the matters which filled the last
five years of his life. His varied experience and fearless, un-
compromiging character rendered his voice a weighty one in
council, and that upon matters apart from his special charge.
The work of the Foreign and Military Departments was, of
course, that with which he was most familiar ; but he could hold
his own on other questions, as some of his ablest colleagues
have testified. As regards our policy in Central Asia, the
measures of Lord Lawrence had his general support. What his
opinion might have been upon the later phases of our relations
with the trans-Indus powers I cannot, of course, say. Circum-
stances have so greatly changed since his death, that much
of the reasoning upon which he founded his conclusions is
no longer applicable. But while there was a good prospect
of maintaining a strong and friendly power in Afghanistan
he deprecated any advance beyond our frontier. In 1856 he
had opposed the occupation of Quetta as a counterpoise to
Persian aggression on Herat. Ten years later he opposed it.
He thought it easy to conceive circumstances which might
combine to necessitate the partial or entire occupation of
Afghanistan. Invasion from the westward was one contingency ;
and a variety of others might, he thought, be quoted as possible
inducements to an advance beyond the Indus frontier. But
under the circumstances as they then stood he saw no necessity
for such a step.

¢ I know,’ he wrote, ¢ that we could again seize Afghanistan,
if it were advisable or necessary, and that, with our Indus
frontier complete in its communications, parallel and perpen-
dicular, no power on earth could shake us out of that country.
I know, too, that with the Afghans friendly and cordial we could,
without the actual seizure of the country for ourselves, orga-
nise its defence in a most destructive manner against hostile
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invasion. But neither alternative is at present imposed upon
us as of the smallest necessity.’

My father’s period of duty as a member of the Viceroy’s
council closed early in 1870. Lord Mayo had from the begin-
ning of his rule in India been impressed with the idea that the
organisation of our political relations with the feudatory States
was not all that it might be; and in 1870 his views took shape
" in a project for the amalgamation under one head of the two
great Agencies of Central India and Rajputana. He proposed.
to appoint an Agent-in-Chief, who was to have charge of all the
States comprised within the limits of the two Agencies, besides
the administration of the outlying British district of Ajmere.
The Agent would, he thought, require ¢ rarer qualities than
those which would enable & man to be a successful Governor or
Lieutenant-Governor,’ and in my father he believed that he had
found those qualities. ¢Of all men in India,’ he wrote, ¢the
most likely to exercise influence of a powerful and at the
same time persuasive character is Sir Henry Durand. He has
great experience of the best mode of dealing with these men ;
he knows most of them personally ; he has a thorough knowledge
of the history of modern Indian diplomacy, and a fine appreciation
of that mixture of firmness and kindness which is so essential.
« « « « . Sir Henry Durand is greatly esteemed and somewhat
feared. He is a thoroughly honest and most upright man—very
laborious, and possesses great and wide experience. I have had
the misfortune to differ with him on several occasions, especially
on barrack expenditure and other matters of smaller importance ;
but nevertheless I have always done so with regret, for his
views are always well stated, and dictated by honest purpose.
I think his great forte is political work, and he possesses the
qualities which enable him to govern and direct men by
personal influence, which are much more rare than administra-
tive or judicial talent.’

Accordingly the proposed appointment was offered to my
father. The offer is an instructive comment upon the opinions
of Sir John Kaye and others who have stigmatised him as
wanting in sympathy and a bad political officer. It was declined.
He objected both to the principle of the scheme and to acceptin_g
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the post himself. Nothing, he said, would induce him to stay
in India except the Lieutenant-Governorship of the Punjab or
a military command. The former was thereupon offered to him,
Lord Mayo remarking, however, that he considered the Agency
the higher appointment of the two—*¢the greatest prize in the
service’—and that he regretted having to carry out his inten-
tions without my father’s assistance. He never did so. Whe-
ther the objections which my father brought against the scheme
dissuaded him, or a fitting man could not, in his opinion, be
found, the amalgamation of the Agencies was not carried into
effect.

On June 1, 1870, my father was sworn in as Lieutenant-
Governor of the Punjab.! He had been much pleased at the
manner in which his appointment was received. Lord Mayo
had announced his name at a farewell dinner to Sir Donald
Macleod, adding that his hearers would find their new
Governor ¢ firm and fearless, honest and brave ;’ and the speech
bad bheen cut short by a sudden storm of cheering, the purport
of which was not to be mistaken. ¢ Well,’ Lord Mayo afterwards
remarked, in surprise at the applause his words had called forth,
¢ men often say what they don’t mean, but they don’t cheer like
that if they don’t mean it.’” And he telegraphed to my father
that the reception of his name had been ¢enthusiastic.’ That
reception was only an index of the general feeling; and the few
months my father bad to live were cheered by the knowledge
that his selection for the most important post in India had been
approved without a dissentient voice. What, perbaps, pleased
him most of all was the fact that he received from no one more
warm and hearty congratulations than from his old opponents
of the Civil Service.

His tenure of the Lieutenant-Governorship was short. The
congratulatory letters of his friends in England bad hardly
ceased to pour in upon him before his place was vacant. After
a visit to Cashmere he started, in the beginning of the cold
weather, for a tour round the North-West Frontier ; and by the

! Three years before he had been given the Star of India, and he had been
recommended for the K.C.B. after the Mutiny by Lord Canning,
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close of the year he had arrived at Tonk. On the evening of
December 31, as it was growing dusk, the elephant on which he
was seated was taken up into a low, covered gateway through
which there was not room to pass. The mahout, seeing that he
could not go on, tried to back the animal, but it took fright and
started forward ; the howdah struck against the beams overhead,
and my father was thrown out. A man of great size, he fell
heavily, and the injury to his spine was fatal. He lingered for
a day, and at first it was thought that he might survive the
shock. Towards evening of January 1 the doctors saw that this
was impossible, and he was told that he could not live through
the night. He met the announcement with perfect calmness.
¢ What a little thing |’ he said. €It will be a warning.” His first
thought was for his work ; and, calling for an officer of the
Punjab Secretariat, he gave orders that a telegram should he
despatched at once to inform the Government of India. Then
he sent for those of his children who were with him in camp;.
and after explaining to them where they would find all important
papers, and entrusting them with some messages for others, he
spoke a few words of farewell. He told them he was dying;
that his life had been a hard and bitter one; and that the only
thing which had borne him through it was the love and fear of
God. He begged them, as his last advice, to look to Christ in
all things, to do justice, and to love the right. A few hours
later he passed quietly away.

It would be useless for me to attempt to describe my father’s
character. All men seem small to me compared with him. But
I may, perhaps, without impropriety quote what was written of
him not long ago by one who learnt to know him during the last
five years of his life :—

¢None who knew him well can speak otherwise than with
deep love of him. The combination of extreme strength and
tenderness were to me his chief charm. His manner to those
who were in any way objects of pity was the very beauty
of gentleness; yet he was a man of iron—his will, like his
frame, were cast in an heroic mould.. Of course a man so open
to sympathy might without much difficulty be imposed upon
—1I daresay he sometimes was—but he must have been a dan-
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gerous man to trifle with. To those who deserved his confidence
he was without reserve. His long experience, his wide reading,
his culture, his natural cheeriness and fun, made him, to younger
men especially, a delightful companion. Finally, as in most
really great men, there was nothing of the unapproachable
¢gwell ” about him. He would talk to a shoeblack as he talked
to His Excellency in Council ; only I think he would have been
most courteous to the shoeblack. He had strongly the fascina-
ting camaraderie of the soldier. If he had enemies, a man
of his strong views and his contempt for what he thought selfish
or unjust was sure to have them. He spoke sometimes, too, in
public with a warmth which seemed to justify the complaint
of those who characterised him as ¢ bitter.” Warmth was of
the essence of his character. But I have often been struck by
the manner in which he weighed his words, and spoke as if pro-
testing to himself when in private conversation he disparaged
any of those about him in public life. I am amazed, looking
back, to remember how often I heard him criticised, and how
rarely I heard him criticise others.”

H. M. DURAND.
December 11, 1878.






PREFACE

BY

THE LATE SIR HENRY DURAND.

THE events which the following work endeavours to bring before
the reader in their connection did not fail, as they severally
occurred, to strike the public mind with humiliation and grief,
or with joy and exultation. They partially aroused England to
a sense of the greatness of the trust conferred upon her by
Divine Providence, and forcibly called her attention to the vast
Empire won by the genius and courage of a few great men ;
repeatedly perilled by the weak and rash ; and the preservation "
of which may at any hour depend on the individual to whom
for the time its destinies have been entrusted. A consideration -
of events after the excitement of defeat or victory has been
allayed, and when the retrospect can be calmly made, may want
freshness of novelty in its incidents, but can scarcely fail to
prove instructive. With truth for his object, and the honour
and real interests of his country at heart, the writer feels that
he discharges a duty to some able and to many brave men in
placing before their countrymen an impartial review of their
deeds. For his own opinions he offers no apology but the
ancient one—

¢ Justum est bellum, Samnites, quibus necessarium, et pia
arma, quibus nulla nisi in armis relinquitur spes.’

b
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CHAPTER I

1826-1836.

ADMINISTRATION OF LORD WILLIAM BENTINCK—RELATIONS BETWEEN
THE BRITISH GOVERNMENT AND THE FRONTIER POWERS AT THE
CLOSE OF HIS RULE.

AFTER the conclusion of the Burmese War, and the
capture of Bhurtpore in 1826, British India enjoyed
a state of tranquillity but partially disturbed by the
military operations in Coorg, and the petty warfare in
the Cole country. TUnder the pacific and economical
administration of Lord William Bentinck, the public
revenue was well husbanded ; and at the close of his
rule that nobleman left a full treasury, the sources
of revenue in a healthy and improving condition, the
public credit of the Government high, and its name
and power generally respected. The native States in
close relation with the Anglo-Indian Government felt
confidence in the honesty and moderation of the man
who had wielded great power with a scrupulous regard
to existing treaties; to the rights both of dependent
and of independent States; and to the system of non-
B
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interference carried by his administration to an
unprecedented extent. A rule, on the whole, thus
wise and ‘just was, though not free from errors,
rewarded with the blessings of prosperity and peace ;
and in 1835 nothing threatened to disturb their con-
tinuance.

A concise review of the political relations existing
between the Supreme Government of India and the
chief frontier powers at the period that Lord William
Bentinck’s sway ceased is necessary in order to form
a clear understanding of the measures subsequently
taken, and a just apprehension of their nature and
influence.

Burmah, occupied with its own internal dissensions,
and still smarting under the humiliation of our hasty
Treaty of Yandaboo, was, though hostile in feeling,
powerless for offensive measures. This was proved by
the Court of Ava failing to attempt the recovery of the
ceded territory on the coast of Tenasserim, when an
excellent opportunity was afforded by the rebellion at
Tavoy and the panic flight from Mergui. The Burmese
on that occasion evinced no alacrity for the renewal
of hostilities; the insurrection of 1829 was speedily
quelled ; and in 1835 all was tranquil in that quarter.

The Government of Nepaul, torn by the struggles
of contending factions, isolated in position, and sensible
of its inability alone to cope with the British power,
courted its favour. Recent events had not allayed the
politic jealousy of the Ameers of Scinde. They had
permitted Burnes’s mission to explore the Indus; they
had also entered into treaties opening, under restric-
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tions, the navigation of that river to the enterprise of
British trade; and had thus complied with all reason-
able demands; but the unprovoked invasion of their
territory by Shah Shooja, our pensioner; his occupa-
tion of Shikarpore; and the defeat they sustained at
his hands on January 9, 1834 ; were not events calcu-
lated to render the relations of the Ameers with the
British Government more cordial than was their wont.
There was, however, nothing to apprehend from so
weak and divided a State.

The Khan of Bhawulpore maintained a cordial
alliance with the British. With everything to fear
from Runjeet Singh of Lahore, and much to dread
from the Ameers of Scinde, his safety lay in the good-
will of the Anglo-Indian Government, the only counter-
poise to his comparatively powerful and unscrupulous
neighbours.

The Punjab, under its wily ruler Runjeet Singh,
merited attention. He had gradually established his
authority over the Sikh chiefs, and, controlling to his
own purposes the military propensities of the race, had
formed a large standing army. Well equipped, and
provided with a numerous artillery, animated by
success, and under the sole command of a man who
had known how to inspire it with confidence, such a
force was not lightly to be despised. It would have
followed him had he led it against the British provinces,
but his natural shrewdness, aided by the sound advice
of the leading French officers in his service, warned
him of the danger attending too early a measurement
of strength with the Anglo-Indian army. Satisfied of

B2
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the pacific policy of the Governor-General, Runjeet
Singh directed Sikh energy and thirst of conquest to
the extension of empire where such could be effected
with less chance of discomfiture. To the successful
issue of such operations, and to the consolidation of
his power, a friendly alliance with the British Govern-
ment was essential ; and in 1835 the only event which
threatened to disturb the North-Western Frontier was
the contingency of the death of the ruler of the
Punjab. Partaking of all the vices of his race, and
having full scope for their indulgence, a sudden termi-
nation to a career of constant dissipation was not an
improbable event. Such an occurrence might be
anticipated, first, to lead to internal commotion rather
than to external aggression; and thus time would be
afforded for preparing to meet the exigencies of the
period. In the meanwhile all was tranquil and
promised so to remain. '

Thus on the west, from north to south, there was a
peaceful border. The ruler of the Punjab, the chief
of Bhawulpore, and the Ameers of Scinde, actuated
either by their interests or their fears, were severally
anxious for the maintenance of peace, and a good
understanding with the British Power. To the latter
the continuance of this state of affairs, though not as
essential to its existence, was of very great importance.
Hitherto, sometimes with and sometimes without equit-
able cause, but always with the pretext of necessity,
war had been the normal state of our growing power ;
it was the inevitable consequence of the first territorial
acquisition on the mainland of India, and of the result-
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ing contact of the mind, commercial energy, courage,
and ambition, of the English race with masses having
no common bond of nationality or religion, under the
sway of arbitrary rulers with complex views and ihterests,
and therefore utterly wanting in unity of purpose and
action. The sword once drawn in such a contest could
not permanently be sheathed, until one of two events
had come to pass: the native princes and people must
either sweep from the land its invaders, or submit to
their supremacy. In the inscrutable Will of the great
Ruler of the universe, the latter was to be the consum-
mation of a long series of independent, and therefore
mis-timed struggles, on the part of the Hindoo and
Moslem princes and people of India. That supremacy
was now fully established, and generally acknowledged ;
and every consideration of policy, humanity, and re-
ligion pointed out the hour as propitious to the con-
centration of the energies of the Anglo-Indian Govern-
ment on the advancement of the moral and physical
welfare of the millions in that vast empire entrusted to
its care.

In this spirit were the measures pursued by Lord
William Bentinck. Secure on all frontiers, he was
enabled to reduce the army to the strength sufficient
for the maintenance of internal order and external
respect, but unequal to foreign aggression for the ex-
tension of territory. In compliance with the wishes of
the Home Government, a few officers were sent to
Persia to aid in forming Persian troops; but such a
mission was not in accordance with the opinions of the
Governor-General, who, content with the North-West
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frontier then existing, and entertaining no apprehensions
of danger from the countries to the west of the Indus,
viewed with calm indifference their state of weakness
and division.

The desert, separating the British Provinces from
the river Indus, formed a good frontier to the south of
Ferozepore on the Sutlej. North of that place, and
throughout the petty Sikh States under British protec-
tion, the frontier was more practicable, and Runjeet
Singh with a large force at Lahore was within four
marches of the fords of the Sutlej. A post of
observation was therefore maintained at Loodianah ;
but the main strength in Northern India was kept on
the lines of the Ganges and Jumna, the troops being
cantoned in considerable force at Cawnpore, Meerut,
and Kurnaul, and in minor strength at Allahabad, Agra,
and Delhi, the latter place being the most advanced
magazine of the army. Other posts occupied by the
troops need not here be detailed, but it may be observed
that by reducing the number of small detached posts
and concentrating the regular troops, the military
occupation of the country was improved without injury
to its general internal security.

Lord William Bentinck quitted India, leaving it in
a profound peace which nothing threatened to disturb ;
and which held out the promise of the concomitant
blessings of economy in the public expenditure, im-
provement in the condition of the people, and of the
rise of institutions which, linking the prosperity and
advancement of the millions of India with the British
rule, should enable the latter to strike root in the affec-
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tions as well as in the fears of its subject races. The
contemplation of the origin of a war which effectually
blasted these dawning hopes, and delayed indefinitely
their fulfilment, will prepare the reader for a considera-
tion of the military operations, which, though on a
distant theatre, are devoid of instruction neither to
those who have to bare their swords at their country’s
bidding, nor to the men whom she may invest with the
fearful power of unfurling in her name upon those
distant shores the British ensign for war.
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CHAPTER II
17901887,

DESIGNS OF NAPOLEON IN THE EAST—EARLY RELATIONS8 BETWEEN
PERSIA AND THE EUROPEAN POWERS—THREATENED INVASION OF
© INDIA BY SHAH ZEMAN OF CABUL—SHAH SHOOJA AT LOODIANAH—
HIS RELATIONS WITH THE BRITISH AGENT, WADE—HIS TREATY
WITH RUNJEET SINGH AND EXPEDITION TO CANDAHAR IN 1834—
DIFFICULTIES OF DOST MAHOMED— CAPTURE OF PESHAWUR BY THE
SIKHS8—CONNECTION BETWEEN THE AFGHAN CHIEFS AND PERSIA—
GROWTH .OF RUSSIAN INFLUENCE AT TEHERAN—OONTEMPLATED
ATTACK UPON HERAT BY THE SHAH OF PERSIA.

THE review of our connection with Persia need not, for
present purposes, be carried back to a more remote
period than that in which the intrigues and daring
energy of Napoleon, extending their activity to a theatre
flattering alike to his imagination and ambition, were in
India met and baffled by the vigour and wisdom of a
Wellesley. The occupation of Egypt by Napoleon ;
the alliance which Tippoo, a bitter foe to the British,
eagerly made with the French ; the spreading influence
of the latter amongst the leading Mahratta powers; the
threatened invasion of India by Shah Zeman of Cabul,
who, urged on by the implacable enmity of Tippoo,
advanced to Lahore, bent on rendering the Mahometan
power supreme in the north of India whilst his ally
should strive for the same cause in the south and centre ;
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the existence of French settlements in India and its
seas; the loose scattered power of the British in the
east ; all concurred in forcing extreme vigilance upon
the man, who, aided indeed by the genius of a Wel-
lington and the courage of a Lake, found that he had a
fierce struggle not alone for empire but for existence
to maintain. He proved equal to the difficulties which
beset him. Seringapatam was taken and Tippoo slain
in its defence; French intrigue, checked in all and
foiled in some, waned amongst the native States; and
Shah Zeman, recalled from Lahore to the defence of his
own dominions, invaded by Persia, saved Herat, but lost
the opportunity of achieving an enterprise the prospect
of which was hailed with delight by the Moslem popu-
lation of India. '

Although the year 1799 had been further rendered
remarkable by the failure of Napoleon before Acre and
his inglorious retreat from under its walls, and by his
desertion of the army in Egypt, yet that army re-
mained, and the policy of France with respect to the
East, when Napoleon should bein a position to influence
her councils, was uncertain. The Marquis of Welles-
ley therefore determined to cultivate the alliance of
Persia, which he had already led to render valuable aid
in the interruption caused to the Afghan scheme of
Indian conquest by the Shah’s attack on Herat. In
1800 Malcolm was at the Court of Persia, and in 1801,
the year in which an Anglo-Indian force under Baird
was thrown into Egypt by the able ruler of India,
treaties political and commercial were signed between
the British and Persian Governments.
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But the compulsory evacuation of Egypt in 1801 by
the French army, the subsequent growth and consoli-
dation of our power in India by the victories of a Wel-
lington and a Lake, and the struggle of the allied
nations of Europe, foremost amongst whom were Eng-
land and Russia, against Napoleon, combined to pre-
clude attention being paid to the affairs of Persia, which,
in contact with Russia, and failing to obtain aid from
England, sought in 1805 assistance from France. In
May 1807 a treaty was concluded, and Napoleon en-
trusted the establishment of French interests and influ-
ence to General Gardanne as his ambassador, sending
at the same time French officers to discipline the
Persian troops.

The sudden reconciliation of the Emperors of France
and Russia at Tilsit in 1807, accompanied by the secret
treaty there entered into for the invasion of India,gave
importance to General Gardanne’s mission, and alarmed
the British Government. The sufferings of the French
army in Egypt had not effaced the impression made by
its first success, and British statesmen, inexperienced in
war, and always apt to measure the difficulties of
moving armies by the smooth surface of a map, might
be pardoned for fearing that what Napoleon as General
of the Republic had dared to contemplate, he might as
Emperor of France, in friendly alliance with Persia and
aided by Russia, carry into execution. Sir Harford Jones
was therefore despatched to Persia in 1808, and suc-
ceeded in re-establishing British influence, concluding
the preliminary treaty of March 12, 1809.

British officers were now employed in training Persian
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troops, and although their services were never needed
to repel French battalions, they were appreciated by
the Russian troops in future contests with the armies of
the Shah. '

The fears of the British Government did not last
long. The invasion of Russia by Napoleon and the
destruction of his army not only removed all apprehen-
sion on account of the designs upon India entertained
by the French Emperor, but was a practical lesson to
Europe that enterprises of distant conquest by large
armies demand the combination of great skill with vast
means. British statesmen, engrossed by the war in the
Peninsula and on the Continent, again in cordial alli-
ance with Russia, and freed from their once vivid
apprehensions for India, viewed, if not with entire in-
difference, at least with sobered jealousy, the encroach-
ments of Russia on Persia. The latter, unable to cope
with her powerful antagonist, now pressed England for
the fulfilment of the engagements incurred in 1809, but
it was not until Russia was wringing from Persia, by the
treaty of 1813, the cession of her acquisitions south of
the Caucasus and the undisputed command of the
Caspian, that the British Government was moved to aid
the Shah. Persia was as an ally weak, costly, and pro-
verbially uncertain, yet she had some claim to considera-
tion; and therefore the definitive treaty of 1814,
defensive in its stipulations, was concluded upon the
basis of the preliminary treaty of 1809. England thus
bound herself, in case any European nation invaded
Persia, to afford aid to the Shah either by sending a
force from India, or by the payment of an annual
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subsidy fixed at 200,000 tomaums. The treaty evinced
some jealousy of the possibility of India being invaded
from the westward, and it remained the basis of such
connection with Persia as the British Government
henceforth considered it expedient to maintain.

That connection was not very intimate. It would
be here needless to follow the series of operations which
engaged Persia on her northern frontier subsequently to
1814, and which led, after the war of 1826 and the
treaty of Toorkmantchai, signed in February 1828, to
the predominance of Russian influence in her councils.
The Shah found England, no longer under alarm for
her Eastern Empire, but a cold ally; and, embarrassed
by the liquidation of the indemnity due to Russia, was
glad to compound with England for the sum of 200,000
tomaums, at which price the Shah, in March 1828,
annulled the 3rd and 4th articles of the definitive
treaty, and thus liberated England from an obligation
she had, while it existed, been slow to fulfil. A weak
and wretched Government, with disordered finances,
and, through all the vices of Eastern despotism, grown
impotent, would have squandered as much gold as
England might give, but could never have been raised
from misrule, sloth, and corruption, to the exercise of
wisdom, economy, and energy. A golden wand has
not the magic power of regenerating a disorganised
kingdom such as that of Persia ; and it was evident that
the check upon Russian designs of extended empire,
when such should become dangerous, was not to be
found in subsidising the Court of Teheran.

Before resuming the subject of our subsequent re-

—~_
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lations with Persia, it will be advisable concisely to
trace the series of events which brought the rulers of
Afghanistan into communication with a power they had
in general found cause to fear and to oppose rather than
to court.

The threat of an Afghan invasion of Hindustan had
on two occasions, in the youth of our power, created
alarm, and caused regiments to be added to the strength
of the Indian army. Wellesley, by the advance of the
Shah of Persia on Herat, found, on the first occasion,
occupation for Shah Zeman’s scimitars in another field ;
and although subsequently this enterprising ruler again
contemplated an invasion of the rich plains of India,
yet the internal dissensions of his ill-compacted State,
and foreign aggression from the westward, once more
recalled him from his favourite project. The revolu-
tions which ensued in Afghanistan, the growth of the
Sikh State, and the consolidation of the British Empire,
removed for the future all dread of Afghan irruption.

It is unnecessary here to follow the revolutions of
the Cabul State through their chequered current until
1809, when the French alliance with Persia led us to
conclude a treaty with the State of Cabul, of which
Shah Shooja was at the time king. Equally needless
would it be to follow the maze of adventures and mis-
fortunes which ended in Shah Shooja’s deliverance,
through the energy and skill of his consort, from the
close durance in which he had been kept by Runjeet
Singh. He found an asylum under the protection of the
British Government, in 1816, at Loodianah. His vain
attempt to recover his throne in 1819 does not imme-
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diately connect itself with our present subject ; but his
want of success on that occasion, and the reverses and
sufferings he had previously undergone, in no degree
quenched his desire to rule, and the tedium of his resi-
dence at Loodianah was relieved by scheming for re-
mounting his lost throne.

His position at our frontier post was a favourable
one for the indulgence of such intrigues. Safe under
British protection, he there enjoyed frequent communi-
cation with Lahore and Cabul, and could without
difficulty maintain a correspondence with his real or
pretended adherents. At the same time he had the
opportunity, which he did not permit to escape him, of
ingratiating himself with the British agent, Captain
C.M. Wade. Bland in speech and in manner, and not
inexperienced in men, he saw the importance of gaining
this functionary, and did so—a feat not difficult even
with less art and leisure than Shah Shooja enjoyed.

Towards the close of 1831 the schemes of Shah
Shooja began to assume form, and he made advances to
Runjeet Singh which were favourably listened to by that
ruler, who in reply penned propositions the most im-
portant of which were assented to by Shah Shooja, and
subsequently formed the basis of a treaty. Wade had
been won to the Shah’s interest by flattering deference
and attention, and by the skill with which the ex-
monarch had gradually during their long intercourse
engaged Wade in his confidence. Provided no alarm
were given to the Governor-General’s policy of non-
interference, and this the British agent could easily
avoid, no difficulty was apprehended in that quarter.
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The great obstacle to be surmounted was the want of
funds. Shah Shooja tried his new friend and former
jailor; but Runjeet Singh, hopelessly avaricious and
exacting, was found impracticable. The bankers of the
chief cities in Hindustan and the Punjab were too con-
versant with Afghan faith and promises to risk capital
on such an adventure ; and at last there appeared no
hope unless the Shah could induce the British to inter-
fere in his behalf. Bold in assertion, he had succeeded
in convincing the British agent that his influence and
popularity was unbounded amongst the Afghan tribes.
Toorkistan was equally devoted.

¢ The people of Scinde, Beloochistan, and Seistan to
the confines of the Ocean,” wrote the Shah, ¢are well
inclined’ towards me. They wear the symbol of sub-
mission, and their country is mine.” He took care like-
wise to dwell on the schemes of conquest and the
military operations of the Persians under Abbas Meerza
in Khorassan. The pith of the application lay, how-
ever, in few words : ¢ Try, if it be possible, by the media-
tion of my friends’ (i.e. the British), ¢ to find a banker
ready to make a loan.” However cautiously put for-
ward by Wade, with an allusion to the news from
Khorassan, such a request was not of a nature to meet
with attention from Lord William Bentinck, who en-
joined the strictest non-interference. But most un-
fortunately he attached sufficient importance to the
information from Khorassan to direct that a person
should be deputed to Candahar as a mere reporter of
passing events. This, though nothing in aid of Shah
Shooja’s empty military chest, was a point gained, and
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encouraged him to proceed in his intrigues. He was
now sure, through Wade, of a safe emissary in the
person of the accredited newswriter of the British
Government. Accordingly, communications with Herat,
Afghanistan, and Scinde thickened ; and Wade, blinded
by his sympathies and predilections for Shah Shooja,
reported in September 1832 that the Ameers of Scinde
wrote in terms of great devotion to the Shah’s interests,
inviting him to prosecute his intentions, and enter their
territories on the conditions that he should relinquish
all claim to the sovereignty of Scinde and Shikarpore,
should confer it as a bequest on its then rulers, their
heirs, and successors, and should not remain at Shikar-
pore, his intended base of operations, more than ten
days.

With reference to the pretensions of the Cabul
throne to the sovereignty of Scinde, these terms of
great devotion were neither flattering nor palatable to
Shah Shooja, who, in addressing the Governor-General,
was careful to adopt other grounds for recommending
his contemplated enterprise and seeking pecuniary aid :
¢ As Abbas Meerza is come to Herat, if I can procure
assistance from the British Government I will proceed
to that place, and the country from Khorassan to the
Oosbecks, and to the boundary of the sea, will fall into
my hands and become friendly to the British.’” The
reply to such gasconade was, that the British Govern-
ment religiously abstained from intermeddling with the
affairs of its neighbours when this could be avoided—
that Shah Shooja was master of his own actions, but
~ that to afford him assistance for the purpose he con-
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templated would be inconsistent with that neutrality
which on such occasions is the rule of guidance adopted
by the British Government.

The reply was, so far as it went, correct; but it was
an error not to have accompanied it with advice against
re-fomenting civil war in & country which had now for
seventeen years disowned Shah Shooja’s rule. Such ad-
vice the British Government was entitled to offer to the
man who had long found an asylum under its protection
and lived upon its bounty, and who could not therefore
have objected to a remonstrance having for its object
the maintenance of general tranquillity. Lord William
Bentinck was bent on economy, and if the Shah suc-
ceeded, his pension of nearly 5,000/. a year would revert
to the coffers of the State; and the prospective em-
barrassment of his rapidly increasing family would be
shifted upon his reconquered country. But this view
of affairs was narrow and circumscribed, the view of
a mind not sufficiently alive to the high duty of the
ruler of such an empire as India. That duty is not
limited to bald non-interference. We owe to the East
those offices of humanity which engage every sovereign
to cultivate peace not alone within the borders of his
own territory, but also, in so far as his influence extends,
within those of neighbour nations. Firm advice from
the Governor-General of India, coupled with a refusal
to make an advance of pension to Shah Shooja, would
certainly have preserved Scinde from unwarrantable
invasion, and Afghanistan from civil war and the loss
of Peshawur. It would have tended to calm the appre-

-hensions of the Ameers of Scinde, and would have

o0 ’
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checked the disposition of Dost Mahomed and the chiefs
of Candahar to look for an alliance with Persia.

The. Governor-General committed a grave error,
one not to be measured by the smallness of the sum,
in granting an advance of pension to Shah Shooja
when about to start on his expedition. Such an act
could not fail in the East of being construed into a
material aid and effectual countenance of the Shah’s
designs. It encouraged him, and incensed his opponents
against the British Government, which, with professions
of peace and goodwill on its lips, appeared to furnish
means for the war and permit the levy of troops within
its territory, a system of non-interference on the part
of a very powerful government not at all comprehensi-
ble to the Afghan rulers.

Runjeet Singh, well aware of the community of
feeling between Wade and the Shah, deemed the
vaunted neutrality of the British Government of doubt-
ful complexion. It seemed expedient, therefore, whilst
negotiating with Shah Shooja the treaty of March 12,
1833, which might not be altogether palatable to the
Governor-General, to pretend suspicion of the man he
had once so deeply injured, and to address the Governor-
General for the purpose of eliciting a clear explana-
tion of his views with regard to the Shah’s expedition.
Assured by Lord William Bentinck that the British
Government had no concern in it, the Sikh felt himself
at liberty securely to watch the progress of the adven-
ture, and to turn it, if successful, as much as possible
to his own advantage.

Shah Shooja failed in his endeavours to realise
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money upon his jewels; but, furnished with an advance
of pension, he was enabled to quit the neighbourhood
of Loodianah on February 17, 1833. His march lay
along the left bank of the Indus, through the territory
of Bhawulpore, the ruler of which gave him a cold
reception and very trifling aid. The Ameers of Scinde
were not prepared at that season to offer any resistance
to the Shah’s progress; and he was permitted to pass
the Indus, and to occupy Shikarpore without opposi-
tion. Once in possession of that place, he had not only
a base for his future operations, but also, what was still
more necessary, the opportunity of levying contribu-
tions. Runjeet Singh, seeing so fortunate a commence-
ment, now considered it advisable to ratify the treaty
of March 12, which act had been delayed until success
on the part of the Shah should render it expedient.
When the season for military operations returned,
the Ameers pressed the Shah to leave Shikarpore, from
which place he had already wrung a considerable sum
of money, besides seizing the crops. The supply thus
obtained was insufficient for his exigencies, and for the
protracted operations he contemplated. He was there-
fore bent on exacting a heavy subsidy from the Ameers.
But the Scindian rulers, as adverse to the subsidy as
anxious to be rid of Shah Shooja, collected their forces,
and determined to try the issue of a battle. Fortune
once more smiled on the Shah, giving him on January
18, 1834, a victory which enabled him to dictate-terms
of peace to the Ameers, and to replenish his military
chest. Animated by this success, Shah Shooja hastened
02
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his preparations, and in the middle of February was on
his advance towards Candahar.

Dost Mahomed laboured under disadvantages so
great that nothing but skill and daring promptitude
could have extricated him. His brothers, the chiefs
of Candahar and Peshawur, were combining for his
overthrow; and the latter were intriguing with the
Sikhs, whom they ultimately invited to cross the Attock.
. Many of his chiefs were in communication with Shah
Shooja, the newswriter of the British Government, in
constant correspondence with Wade, having become
a partisan of Shah Shooja, and the channel for the
letters of those well affected to him. The expedition
of the Shah was regarded throughout the country as
countenanced and supported by the British Govern-
ment, and those well disposed to Dost Mahomed were
discouraged by a report apparently so well founded.
The Cabul ruler could with much difficulty, chiefly
by means unfavourable to his popularity, raise a small
amount of money with which to prepare for the coming
storm. He collected together as many men as he could
hope to maintain, and for a time remained inactive,
watching the progress of the intrigues of his enemies.
He had three to contend against—the Sikhs, Shah
Shooja, and his brothers of Peshawur and Candahar.
Leagued together for his ruin, his brothers were urging
him, towards the close of 1833, to march to Candahar
to assist in opposing Shah Shooja. The Shah had not
then advanced from Shikarpore, and Dost Mahomed,
aware that the object sought was to afford the chiefs
of Peshawur an opportunity of moving upon Cabul,
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if he could be induced to leave the place, and that
Shah Shooja could not march up the Bolan Pass for
some time to come, resolved to strike first where the
most necessary. Accordingly, having dismissed the
Candahar chief with the assurance that he was about
to hasten to his assistance, he caused his troops to
encamp a short distance from Cabul on the road to
Candahar, but snow setting in as usual at that time of
the year, he recalled the troops on the plea of the
severity of the season. His intentions were, however,
soon apparent by his march on December 31 from
Cabul towards Jellalabad. His advance was rapid,
and the second day after he appeared under the walls
of Jellalabad he stormed the place, carrying it by a
breach effected by a mine in one of the towers. Its
chief being in league with those of Peshawur and
Candahar, the establishment of Dost Mahomed’s power
at Jellalabad was a severe blow to the machinations of
his brothers, and strengthened his own position. It
now became a question whether, pushing on to
Peshawur, which would at once have fallen into his
hands, he should from thence contest the approach of
the Sikhs, or whether he should retrace his steps to
Cabul, and, marching to Candahar, oppose Shah Shooja.
Aware of his own inability to cope with the large,
regular, and well-organised force of Runjeet Singh
below the passes, and calculating that the Sikh ruler’s
caution would make him slow to risk his columns in
the defiles between Peshawur and Jellalabad, Dost
Mahomed determined on a rapid march to Candahar
to measure his strength with a foe more immediately
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endangering his power amongst his chiefs and subjects,
and against whom, if once permitted to gain secure
footing on the highlands of Afghanistan, the Cabul
chief could not hope to excite a fanatic opposition,
such as he had a sure ‘prospect of kindling against the
Sikhs, whatever might be their first successes. Shah
Shooja once disposed of, reliance could be placed on
the religious and national feelings of the Afghans for
the popularity of a crusade against the hated un-
believers.

In the meantime Runjeet Singh’s troops on the
Attock were in readiness ; and as soon as the intrigues
with the chiefs of Peshawur were ripe, and it. was
thought that the advance of Shah Shooja had made
itself felt, the Sikh commander, Hari Singh, moved
forward. He crossed the Attock without difficulty or
conflict, seized Peshawur on May 6, and drove the
Afghans to the mouth of the Khybur Pass. Peshawur,
thus obtained without loss, was speedily reinforced by
Runjeet Singh, who hastened to render his new conquest
secure. :

The Candahar chiefs, unable to offer serious resist-
ance to the advance of Shah Shooja, retired to Canda-
har, and the place was invested and attacked, but Dost
Mahomed appeared in time to save it. Shah Shooja,
as soon as he was apprised of the near approach of the
Cabul chief, moved out of the strong position he
occupied at old Candahar into a weaker ; allowed, with-
out an attempt to prevent it, the junction of the Cabul
and Candahar leaders; and then offered battle to their
combined forces; making at the same time every
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arrangement for flight from the action he was thus
bringing on. The safety of Dost Mahomed depended
upon his being able immediately to close in fight with
his antagonist ; for he was sensible of the growing dis-
affection of the chiefs and troops, and that the intrigues .
of the Shah had proved successful in undermining his
authority. He showed no hesitation, therefore, in
accepting the proffered battle; but attacked with his
uncertain troops, keeping in reserve under his own
command a small body of men upon whom he could
depend. The Afghans on neither side evinced much
appetite for the fight, and a loose skirmish rather than
a battle ensued. The small body of disciplined Hindu-
stanee men in the Shah’s service, about a couple of
battalions, under a half-caste of the name of Campbell,
would, if supported, have won the Shah a victory, for
they drove everything before them. But Shah Shooja,
gifted with no kingly courage, had fled the fight; his
Afghans, mistrusting their leader, had abstained from
committing themselves deeply in the action, and were
not slack to follow his example ; and the Hindustanees,
deserted by their friends and overwhelmed by numbers,
found it useless any longer to maintain a combat alike
objectless and disproportioned. Dost Mahomed, master
of the field without bringing his reserve into action,
treated the wounded Campbell well, and entertained
him in his own service. The artillery, camp equipage,
stores and records of the Shah fell into the hands of the
Cabul chief, who did not seem to consider his pusillani-
mous opponent worth capture or pursuit. The corre-
spondence of the Shah revealed the web of intrigues in
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which many of Dost Mahomed’s kindred and chiefs
were implicated, and the full extent of the dangers by
which he had been surrounded, foremost amongst which
was the disaffection of the Kuzzilbash leaders, whose
conduct, with that of their horse, had been of a very
doubtful complexion in the late engagement. He found
also a copy of the Shah’s treaty with Runjeet Singh,
and numerous letters with the seal of the British agent,
Wade, addressed to persons whose assistance might
prove useful to Shah Shooja, and who were exhorted
to render such aid as an acceptable service to the British
Government. The Cabul ruler, whether he believed
the letters to be genuine or not, could not but see in
them a sure proof of how universal was the impression
that the Shah’s expedition had the countenance of the
British Government.

This defeat of the Shah on July 2, 1834, disheartened
for a time even Wade, who held it ¢ perhaps fatal to
every hope of his restoration,” and contemplated for a
while supporting Dost Mahomed Khan. The latter
returned from Candahar to Cabul, where, inviting the
aid of the faithful in a crusade against the Sikhs at
Peshawur, and extorting from Hindoos and others all
the money they could be compelled to yield, he prepared
for his march to Jellalabad. At the end of February
1835 he quitted Cabul, and on reaching Jellalabad
assembled his forces. From thence he marched to the
Khybur, cleared it of Sikh posts, and took up a position
in the plain of Peshawur. Runjeet Singh had now, how-
ever, 26,000 men for the defence of his new acquisition,
and Dost Mahomed found himself forced to retire out
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of the plains and to withdraw from before his powerful
enemy.

As a natural consequence of the combined invasions
of Shah Shooja and Runjeet Singh, carried into execu-
tion with the cognisance, if not the secret approval, of
the British, Dost Mahomed and the chiefs of Candahar
were driven to seek the alliance of Persia. Upon the
throne of that country the candidate nominated by
Russia had lately been seated, and the influence of the
Czar was paramount at the Court of Teheran. We
have now traced the causes which led to an under-
standing between the rulers of Persia and Afghanistan.
It is time to return to the consideration of our own
relations with the former power, and to mark the course
of action pursued by us until the outbreak of the Cabul
war.
Early in 1834 the Russian Government expressed its
anxiety for a good understanding with England respect-
ing the affairs of Persia. It wasurged that the interests
of the two European Courts were very similar, and that
there was a prospect of civil discord arising upon the
death of the Shah unless the order of succession to the
throne were determined in favour of some one candidate
by the joint influence of Russia and England. The
British Government, concurring in support of the
hereditary prince, whose pretensions had already re-
ceived the countenance of the Russian envoy at the
Court of Teheran, issued corresponding instructions to
the British representative ; and upon receiving informa-
tion from Russia that the Shah of Persia had decided
on nominating the hereditary prince his successor to
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the throne, Lord Palmerston signified the gratification
of the British Governmerit at finding that Russia and
England were acting with regard to the affairs of Persia
in the same spirit, and were equally animated by a
sincere desire to maintain, not only the internal tran-
quillity, but also the independence and integrity of the
kingdom. The Shah died shortly after the settlement
of the succession, and the prince nominated by Russia
and approved by England ascended the throne of Persia.
He soon manifested a thirst for conquest, and certain
provocation offered to him by the ruler of Herat led
him to contemplate the invasion of that principality.
He was encouraged in this resolve by the submissive tone
in which the chiefs of Cabul and Candahar had sought
his alliance ; and before long the Shah’s designs began
to give umbrage to the British envoy, Ellis. The latter
ascertained that these ambitious schemes were fostered
by the Russian envoy, who pressed the Shah to lose no
time in undertaking the projected expedition, advanc-
ing as a reason for the immediate urgency of the mea-
sure the desire of the British Government to see the
Afghan monarchy restored, a desire evidenced by the
late attempt of Shah Shooja. Nor did the agents of
Dost Mahomed and the Candahar chiefs fail to dwell on
the facts that Shah Shooja had started from his asylum
in British India to attempt the recovery of the throne
of Cabul, and had been aided by the co-operation of the
close allies of the Anglo-Indian Government, the Sikhs.
The British envoy, however desirous of counter-
acting Russian influence, laboured under peculiar diffi-
culties; for not only had the Shah a just cause of war
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with Herat, but he also had the right to demand, in
virtue of the ninth article of the treaty with England,
that the latter should not interfere in the hostilities
contemplated. The article in question stipulated that,
‘If war should be declared between the Afghans and
Persians, the English Government shall not interfere
with “either party, unless their mediation to effect a
peace shall be solicited by both. parties.” The obliga-
tions of good faith were therefore clear and imperative ;
and their full force was felt by Ellis, who stated them
with precision in 2 memorandum to his Government,
dated January 15, 1836. He wrote :—

¢ The Shah of Persia lays claim to the sovereignty
of Afghanistan, as far as Ghuznee, and is fully determined
to attempt the conquest of Herat in the spring. Un-
fortunately the conduct of Kamran Meerza in violating
the engagements entered into with his Royal Highness
the late Abbas Meerza, and in permitting his Vizeer,
Yar Mahomed Khan, to occupy part of Seistan, has
given the Shah a full justification for commencing
hostilities. The success of the Shah in the undertaking
is anxiously wished for by Russia; and their minister
here does not fail to press it on to early execution.
The motive cannot be mistaken. Herat, once annexed
to Persia, may become, according to the Commercial
Treaty, the residence of a Russian consular agent, who
would from thence push his researches and communica-
tions, avowed and secret, throughout Afghanistan.
Indeed, in the present state of the relations between
Persia and Russia, it cannot be denied that the progress
of the former in Afghanistan is tantamount to the ad-
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vancement of the latter, and ought to receive every
opposition from the British Government that the obli-
gations of public faith will permit; but while the
Russian Government is free to assist Persia in the asser-
tion of her sovereign pretensions in Afghanistan, Great
Britain is precluded, by the ninth article of the existing
treaty, from interfering between the Persians and
Afghans, unless called .upon to do so by both parties;
and therefore, as long as this treaty remains in force,
the British Government must submit to the approach
of Russian influence, through the instrumentality of
Persian conquests, to the very frontier of our Indian
Empire.’

One opening offered itself to Ellis—to obtain the
assent of the Shah to the mediation of England between
Herat and Persia; but the latter was too wary to yield
compliance. Nevertheless, under an impression of the
great danger to the tranquillity of our Eastern Empire
which would result from the extension of the Persian
monarchy in Afghanistan, Ellis continued throughout
1836 repeatedly to remonstrate against the expedition
to Herat. He had no success, for the very earnestness
and anxiety displayed by him confirmed in the Shah’s
mind the accuracy of the statements of the Russian
envoy, and gave weight to the latter’s suggestions.
Even had the damage he apprehended for India been
as real and imminent as it was remote and imaginary,
the course pursued by the British envoy would have
been ill-calculated to secure his object; and, viewed
with reference to the undoubted right of the Shah to
demand redress by force of arms, such pertinacity was
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specially impolitic. Ellis had, however, brought him-
self to regard Persia, under Russian influence, ¢as no
longer an outwork for the defence of India, but as the
first parallel from whence the attack may be commenced
or threatened ;’ and the British Ministry, either adopt-
ing or affecting to adopt these views, impressed upon
McNeill, his successor at the Court of Persia, the neces-
sity for continuing to pursue the same line of policy
as had been followed by, and had failed under, Ellis.
Further, a serious reference was made to the Russian
Government through the British ambassador at St.
Petersburg to ascertain whether it was under in-
structions from that Court that its envoy in Persia
was exciting the Shah to military expeditions against
neighbouring States. The Russian Government dis-
avowed responsibility for the conduct of its agent, and
doubted the accuracy of McNeill's information; but,
whatever the commands of the Czar may have been,
Simonich deemed it advantageous to the interests of the
Russian frontier authorities and their measures that
the Shah with his force should be removed to as great
a distance as possible. He therefore advised and pressed
on the expedition to Herat. The Shah, well inclined
to demand redress from the Herat ruler, and jealous of
the re-establishment of a consolidated Afghan power,
was nevertheless not blind to the real motives of the
Russian envoy; and having to check the plundering
Turcomans, who had lately insulted his frontiers by
their raids, he marched to Asterabad and threatened
Khiva. But the expedition resulted in an inglorious
failure ; and its issue supplied an additional incentive
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for an advance into Afghanistan. The co-operation of
the Cabul and Candahar chiefs seemed to promise
success in an attack upon Herat, and the achievement
recommended itself to the Shah as one which would
wipe away the disgrace he had suffered, reflect honour -
upon his arms, and augment his reputation and strength
amongst his own subjects. England in the hour of
Persia’s need had shrunk from the fulfilment of the
defensive treaty, and had taken advantage of the
necessities of the Shah in 1828 to absolve herself from
engagements which, no danger threatening her Eastern
possessions, were regarded as embarrassing. More was
to be expected from her fears than from her goodwill ;
and the Shah might be pardoned if, reasoning from
experience, he anticipated the possibility of turning to
good account her eager apprehensions on the subject
of Herat, and eliciting from a cold but rich ally that
which the Court of Teheran always needed and coveted
—gold.

Lord Auckland, then Governor-General of India,
quickly adopted the tone of alarm with which the
British envoy in Russia spoke of the predominance of
Russian influence and the military operations contem-
plated by the Shah against Herat. In the early part of
1837 the Government of India reiterated its injunctions
to the envoy, urging him to dissuade the Shah from
the prosecution of his ambitious enterprise, upon the
ground that the Governor-General ¢must view with
umbrage and displeasure schemes of interference and
conquest on our western frontier.” The advance from
the figurative opinion of the British envoy in April
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1836, who thought Persia a Russian first parallel of
attack against India, to the assumption in April 1837
of Herat as our western frontier, marks the rapid pro-
gress of diplomatic alarm and rashness. Such un-
warrantable pretensions could produce no favourable
effect on the Shah of Persia, who, with right on his
side, and regardless alike of the advice, remonstrance,
and proffered mediation of England, marched towards
Herat on July 23, 1837.
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CHAPTER IIL

1834—APRIL 1838,

RETURN OF SHAH SHOOJA TO LOODIANAH—WADE'S EXERTIONS IN HIS
FAVOUR—MASSON'S COBRESPONDENCE WITH WADE—BURNES'S MISSION
70 CABUL—DOST MAHOMED'S ATTACK ON JUMROOD, AND PARTIAL
SUCCESS AGAINST THE SIKHS—MISSION OF VICOVICH TO CABUL—
FAILURE OF BURNES'S NEGOTIATION.

Trug British rule in India would be more beneficial were
it not accompanied by such rapid changes of men,
policy, and system, that all confidence in the permanence
of its measures has been destroyed. The evil is great;
and not less baneful in the internal administration, of
“which it forms to the native community the character-
istic feature, than in the external relations of our
Government with foreign States. It has been shown
that Lord William Bentinck carried even to excess the
principle of non-interference, and left India in profound
peace. Passing over the short interregnum which
elapsed before Lord Auckland became Governor-General,
the departure from the principle of non-interference and
the headlong plunge into a line of policy directly opposed
to it, which have rendered this nobleman’s career in
India for ever remarkable, must here be traced. It
was one of those sudden transitions from one policy to
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another for which the British rule is noted, and it
exemplified by its fruits the evils of the system.

After the defeat of Shah Shooja, and his return to
Loodianah, he succeeded in softening Wade, who ill
brooked the issue of the expedition, which had proved
so contrary to his anticipations and prophecies. Wade
was in correspondence with Masson, an antiquarian,
long resident in the countries west of the Indus. Calm,
unassuming, and sensible, Masson had won the respect
of chiefs and people, who honoured the truthful simpli-
city of the man’s character, and long had him in
favourable remembrance. From this source accurate
information was obtained of the events passing at
Cabul throughout 1836 and the greater part of 1837.
Masson’s letters were forwarded to Wade, who, trans-
mitted the information thus derived to Lord Auckland,
accompanied by his own observations and deductions,
always with a favourable leaning to Shah Shooja. The
Governor-General evincing a lively jealousy with respect
to the state of the countries to the west of the Indus,
and no ordinary apprehension of Russia and Persia, the
advocacy of Shah Shooja, steadily persevered in by
Wade, gradually produced its intended effect. Nor was
this, his object, interrupted by the arrival of Burnes to

the west of the Attock. It is true that Masson had

thenceforward to communicate with Burnes instead of

Wade. But the correspondence, having to pass through

Wade’s hands, was always forwarded to the Governor-

General with his opinions and surmises; and, there

being no inconsiderable jealousy between the two

men, Wade was ever inclined to frustrate rather than
D
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to adopt Burnes’s views, which were favourable to Dost
Mahomed.

If the Indian Government was unfortunate in the
strong bias of its agent at Loodianah, it was still more
so in the choice of Burnes for a mission to which im-
portance was attached. A man of inordinate ambition
but of average ability and shallow acquirements, san-
guine in temperament and wanting in self-control,
Burnes was not possessed of the qualifications essential
to success. Lord Auckland and his advisers were mis-
led by the reputation which Burnes’s amusing but most
inaccurate book of travels had obtained for its author,
and thought to reward merit and secure popularity
by selecting him for the duty. His mission was styled
a commercial one to the countries bordering on the
Indus, and comprised a variety of objects. (Government
itself, having no clear conception of what was attainable,
gave vague, rambling directions, necessarily leaving
much to the discretion of a mind the constitution and
calibre of which needed the most definite instructions -
for its safe guidance. Burnes, aware of the apprehen-
sions entertained by both the Home and Indian Govern-
ments respecting the Persian schemes of conquest, saw
with eager aspirations that his commercial mission was
in fact quickly assuming the functions of a political
mission ; and, his imagination being already inflamed
by McNeill's despatches before he reached Cabul, he
entered that city on September 20, 1837, quixotically
prepared to find, and to combat, giants of Russian in-
fluence and Persian intrigues.

Dost Mahomed having failed, after his victory over
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Shah Shooja at Candahar, to expel the Sikhs from
Peshawur, was occupied in 1836 with the intrigues of
his relatives and their partisans, emboldened as these
were by the Ameer’s want of success in his crusade,
and by the position at Peshawur of his brother, Sultan
Mahomed Khan, whom Runjeet Singh had found it con-
venient to re-establish there with a certain degree of
power. The Sikh governor of Peshawur, Hari Singh,
determined to command the mouth of the Khybur,
occupied Jumrood, a small fort in the plain near the
entrance of that pass. Dost Mahomed felt it important
to reassure the tribes of the Khybur, and to check the
measures adopted by the Sikhs for their intimidation.
He therefore, in the early part of 1837, despatched a
force, under his son Akbar Khan, to occupy the defiles.
The Afghans, meeting with no opposition in the pass,
advanced to Jumrood,and with their artillery commenced
to batter its walls. The Sikh governor, moving out
from Peshawur to the relief of his advanced post,
attacked the Afghans, and, capturing fourteen of their
guns, drove the besiegers from under the walls of Jum-
rood, and pursued them sharply into the broken ground
at the entrance of the pass. Here, however, the Sikhs,
who had in the ardour of pursuit become disordered,
were met by a large body of horse, which was moving
forward to share in the fight. Around them rallied
many fugitives, and the whole coming briskly upon the
Sikhs, who expected nothing less than such a vigorous
renewal of the fight, pushed them back in confusion.
The Sikh governor, Hari Singh, was mortally wounded
in this affair, and his troops were for a time disheartened
»2
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by the loss of a gallant leader ; but being shortly rein-
forced, they compelled the Afghans to withdraw from
the plains and to retire into and through the Khybur
Pass. The tribes which held the defiles were neverthe-
less encouraged by the success of the Afghan arms at
Jumrood, a success of course much exaggerated, but
which enabled Dost Mahomed to effect the object he
had in view, to curb Sikh aggression, to give heart to
the Khybur tribes, and to increase his own reputation
and strength at Cabul. '

Burnes, when on his road to Cabul, had with charac-
teristic indiscretion written letters to the Ameer Dost
Mahomed, and to his son Akbar Khan, remonstrating
against the renewal of hostilities with the Sikhs. Dost
Mahomed did not comprehend the object of a purely
commercial mission, and such an introductory step was
ill-calculated to counteract his belief that Burnes’s
mission meant something more. The belief was of the
nature of a hope, for he had not been elated by his
partial success at Jumrood ; and, understanding well his
exact position both with regard to the Sikhs and to his
own countrymen, he was well disposed to seize any
opportunity of strengthening himself by an alliance with
the powerful British Government. He had already
sought the countenance of that Government in 1835,
and had continued his exertions in 1836. He had now
seen that the bare intimation of the wishes of the
Governor-General was sufficient to curb Runjeet Singh’s
ambitious designs against Scinde. By a word the
British Government had thwarted the eager cravings of
the Sikh ruler for the acquisition of the treasures of
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Hyderabad, and for a sea-board to the Sikh kingdom,
objects within his grasp. It might with equal ease
mediate in his own favour and strengthen his position
by checking Sikh schemes of aggression to the west-
ward of the Indus. He hailed, therefore, with a pleasure
perhaps rather increased than damped by Burnes’s mis-
timed remonstrance, the arrival of an agent of the
Government from whose influence he had everything to
hope, and the dread of whose support to Shah Shooja
and the Sikhs had driven him and his brothers to court
the alliance of Persia, a power upon whose friendship no
reliance could be placed.

Meanwhile the loss of the Sikh governor and the
sacrifices which the possession of Peshawur entailed,
had not been without their effect on the mind of Runjeet
Singh. To hold his late acquisition it was necessary to
maintain a large body of troops to the west of the Attock.
This force, averse to the particular service on which it
was detached, far removed from his own control, and
for a considerable portion of the year having its com-
munications with Lahore completely cut off, was a
source of constant anxiety to the Sikh ruler. It was
often turbulent ; its position was a dangerous one ; and
its cost was necessarily very great. These considera-
tions had disposed Runjeet Singh, could he do so with
honour, to assent to any arrangement which might
relieve him of his troublesome conquest, without com-
promising his own position or strengthening his invete-
rate foes the Afghans. Could his sovereign rights be
insured to him, and the subordinate government of
Peshawur conferred upon some trustworthy person,
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able and willing to hold the country for the Sikhs, this
object would be attained. In Dost Mahomed’s hostile
brother, Sultan Mahomed Khan, Runjeet Singh had
precisely the man he required ; and accordingly, with a
shrewd eye for his own real interests, he showed every
disposition to carry the arrangement into effect at a
word from the British Government. That word was
not spoken, for the British Government, having curbed
Runjeet Singh with regard to Scinde, pretended delicacy
as to further dictation, being in reality far from sorry
that occupation for a large portion of his force was
found at a distance from the British frontier. More-
over, influenced by Wade’s prejudices, the Governor-
General was unwilling to do anything which could
strengthen the Barukzye family, so hostile to Shah
Shooja, and represented by Wade, who kept the Shah’s
cause steadily in view, as devoid of power and influence
in Afghanistan, a country torn to pieces by their inces-
sant discord.

Lord Auckland was, in fact, at this time wholly un-
decided what line of action to pursue in regard to the
western powers. The Home Government had taken up
the tone of alarm which McNeill fostered, and this had
been hastily responded to by the Governor-General.
Before, however, committing himself further, either by
forming connections with the remote countries beyond
the Indus, or by any other overt measure, he hesitated,
and, having no sound general principle of policy for his
guidance, but being afloat on a sea of conjecture,
allowed the shaping of his future course to depend in
great measure on the success of Burnes’s mission.
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Swayed by the vague apprehensions of a remote danger
entertained by others rather than himself, Lord Auck-
land felt the difficulty of encountering the Russo-Persic
phantoms; and, having no fixed views of his own, was
wholly unable to furnish Burnes with definite instruc-
tions. Nominally commercial, the mission was in fact
one of political discovery, and its real object was to
sound the state of affairs in the countries to which it
was deputed.

Burnes’s ambition was, however, of too hot a flame
for the cautious fulfilment of this duty; it would
not admit of such mere pioneering in politics; and
it impelled him to create importance for his mis-
gion and himself. Sanguine and credulous, never
pausing to weigh events or information, and not gifted
with a comprehensive mind, he was easily carried away
by the alarm which McNeill and the Home Government
rang ; to chime in with it was to raise his ambassade
to consideration ; and he needed not the epistolary en-
couragement of a chairman of the Court of Directors,
breathing war from his seat in Leadenhall Street, to
render him an apt instrument for kindling the fears of
others by his own, and for urging rash measures upon
his Government.

If Wade’s prejudices were enlisted in behalf of Shah
Shooja, Burnes’s were no less strong in favour of Dost
Mahomed, whose acquaintance he had first formed when
travelling in 1832. He based his hopes for counter-
acting Russian influence in Afghanistan, not upon the
resuscitation of Afghan monarchy under Shah Shooja,
but upon winning Dost Mahomed to British views and
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interests by strengthening his position at Cabul and
affording him British countenance.

Wade and Burnes were, therefore, opposed to each
other on all points but one, and that unfortunately was
concurrence in the danger to be apprehended from the
extension of Persian empire to the eastward, and from
the associated advance of Russian power and intrigue in
her train.

Dost Mahomed, a man whose shrewd sense and
natural ability had been developed by constant collision
with character of every hue and intrigue of every form,
quickly fathomed the British envoy. He was dis-
appointed to find Burnes unprovided with definite in-
structions ; but as the goodwill and pliancy of the
envoy were at once apparent, the Ameer, working upon
these, entertained the hope, if Burnes had influence
with his own Government, of drawing considerable
advantage from the mission. Burnes’s want of reserve
early laid open to Dost Mahomed the importance at-
tached to the Persian advance on Herat, and the con-
sideration with which this event invested Afghanistan ;
and Dost Mahomed, conscious of the credulity of the
agent, nourished hopes of being able through him to
act upon the fears of the Anglo-Indian Government.
He experienced no difficulty in moulding Burnes to his
purpose. The commercial agent proved only too will-
ing an instrument, and was easily induced to forward
propositions to the Governor-General, principal amongst
which was, without any previous attempt to ascertain
Runjeet Singh’s wishes, the cession of Peshawur to the
Ameer, on the condition that one of his sons should
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reside as a hostage at Lahore. The chiefs of Candahar
being at this time in correspondence with Persia, Dost
Mahomed, to prove his sincerity, wrote at Burnes’s re-
quest to dissuade them from the prosecution of the
connection. Correspondence ensued, which ended in
an inconsiderate offer from Burnes of three lachs of
rupees to enable the Candahar chiefs to make head
against Persia.

These negotiations were carried on with so little diplo-
matic caution that Runjeet Singh became aware of the
nature of the communications from Cabul, and himself
addressed a warning letter to Burnes, indicating Sultan
Mahomed Khan as a faithful servant of the Maharaja,
and Dost Mahomed as a person for whom he could
entertain no feeling of confidence. This communica-
tion from Runjeet Singh was made in the same spirit in
which he had, prior to Burnes’s arrival in Afghanistan,
consulted Wade regarding the terms of peace he should
tender to Dost Mahomed. The answer of the Govern-
ment had been that, if Runjeet Singh desired it, Burnes
should be instructed to convey from him any reason-
able proposition to the ruler of Cabul. But Wade,
through whom the reply was made, hostile to any mea-
sure which could strengthen the Cabul chief, had found
no difficulty in alarming Runjeet Singh, and in effectu-
ally deterring him from the endeavour to effect a re-
conciliation with Dost Mahomed. So anxious, however,
was the Lahore ruler to be rid of Peshawur, that he
was now again willing to have entered into arrange-
ments for peace, provided that by the cession of that
place to Sultan Mahomed Khan he could have avoided
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materially strengthening the Cabul chief, whom he had
been taught to regard with jealous dread..

Burnes’s conduct at Cabul was no less wanting in
decorum, which in a Mussulman country is seldom
departed from, than in diplomatic caution and reserve.
His behaviour in this respect, coupled with his undig-
nified bearing, speedily lost him the respect of the chiefs
and people. Nor was their respect increased by Burnes’s
attitude upon the arrival of the Russian Cossack officer
Vicovich, said to be the bearer of a letter from the
Emperor of Russia—an event which cast the British
agent into a state of ludicrous excitement and despond-
ency. The Candahar chiefs, as well as Dost Mahomed
and his advisers, were almost as much astonished and
perplexed as the British agent by the apparition of
Vicovich at Candahar and Cabul. At both places the
credentials of the Russian were the subject of con-
troversy and doubt, and at Cabul they were submitted
to Burnes. Burnes at once pronounced them genuine,
though entirely inexperienced in the official forms of
Russian correspondence, and ignorant of everything
which could have qualified him to express an opinion.!

! In the writer's private journal I find the following entry, under date
January 31, 1839 :—

‘We called on Mr. Masson. He gave us a very amusing account of
Burnes’s rencontre with Captain Vicovich at Cabul. This Russian officer
reached Oabul “with a pair of black kid gloves, a French translation of
Burnee'’s travels, and a long Persian epistle, well powdered with gold leaf, pur-
porting to be from the Emperor of Russia.” The Afghans, of whom Mr.
Masson speaks highly, laughed at this soi~disant envoy, and discredited him
tn toto. Had Burnes had the sense to laugh too, all would have gone well ;
but he took the thing seriously, lost head, and was himself the person who
induced the Afghans to consider Captain Vicovich in the light of an
accredited envoy.’
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Leech, a young officer of Engineers, not deficient in
talent; but inexperienced and wanting discretion, was
now deputed by the envoy to Candahar. The object
of his mission was vague: to watch events, gain infor-
mation, and promote British influence. Leech, unfortu-
nately, was not more decorous in his conduct at Candahar
than his superior at Cabul. Being a younger man it
was less surprising, but it was equally injurious; for it
lost him the respect which even a subordinate represen-
tative of the Anglo-Indian Government should make it
his study to obtain by the exercise of those qualities
which seldom fail to command it.

It has been before observed that Burnes’s despatches,
passing through Wade’s hands, were transmitted to
their destination accompanied by the biassed comments
of Shah Shooja’s staunch advocate. This gave the
latter the advantage of opposing, either by argument or
by flat contradiction of facts, the views and opinions of
Burnes, who on the contrary had no opportunity of
retorting. Uncontradicted as Wade’s communications
were, they could not fail of having an effect unfavour-
able to Dost Mahomed’s interests, for they were received
at a time when repeated intimations that the chiefs of
Cabul and Candahar were seeking alliance with Persia
had indisposed the Indian Government, ignorant of the
real nature of these advances, from placing confidence
in the Barukzye family. The siege of Herat by the
Shah of Persia, the correspondence of Russian authori-
ties with Candahar, and the arrival of Vicovich at
Cabul, still further disinclined the Governor-General
from strengthening Dost Mahomed and consolidating
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his power—a measure which might give umbrage to
Runjeet Singh, whose alliance assumed additional im-
portance in proportion as the alarm of the Indian
Government waxed greater. Wade, invalidating Burnes’s
opinions by plausible arguments and contradicting his
facts by bold assertion, arrayed McNeill and Masson
against him, and urged that ¢ Runjeet Singh would be
brought with difficulty to acknowledge the elevation of
Dost Mahomed Khan to the sovereignty of the Afghans,
while, should the consolidation of that people become a
measure of indispensable necessity to the establishment
of security on the frontier of the Indus, the election of
Shah Shooja, would only be in fulfilment of the compact
which was formerly made with him, and would exact
no new concessions.’

The suggestion was made at a right conjuncture;
and the seed thus sown produced as its first-fruit a
despatch from the Governor-General which disapproved
of the propositions stipulating the cession of Peshawur
to Dost Mahomed, and ordered that the offer of
three lachs of rupees to the Candahar chief should be
rescinded. The despatch was accompanied by a letter
to Dost Mahomed, urging him to effect a reconciliation
with Runjeet Singh; to relinquish the idea of recover-
ing Peshawur, as a hope which could not be realised ;
to repose confidence in the good offices of the Indian
Government ; and not to seek connection with other
powers without the approbation of the Governor-
General, on pain of the discontinuance of that favour-
able influence for the exertion of which Government
claimed the merit of having induced Runjeet Singh to
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cease from his schemes of conquest in Afghanistan, and
also on pain of the withdrawal of the mission.

Dost Mahomed was not only disappointed at the
result of Burnes’s sanguine expectations, but hurt and
displeased by the tone of Lord Auckland’s letter. The
Ameer well knew the progress of Runjeet Singh’s arms
to the westward had only been checked by the dread
which the Sikhs entertained of the Khybur defiles, and
their ruler’s mistrust of his own power to subdue the
Afghans. He regarded, therefore, as an insulting pre-
sumption of his ignorance the weight ascribed to British
intervention. Aware of the treaty framed, with the
cognisance of the British Government, between Shah
Shooja and Runjeet Singh, on which the latter pro-
fessed to hold Peshawur, he could only esteem the
threat of an interruption of good offices as practically
pointing to a direct or indirect sanction to the renewal of
such operations as had been in 1834 frustrated by his
own energy and the pusillanimous timidity of Shah
Shooja at Candahar. He had no confidence either in
Persia or Russia. The designs of the former he dreaded ;
of the latter, except in name, he was ignorant; and the
presence of her agent, Vicovich, though Burnes had
pronounced his credentials genuine, the Ameer himself
held of small moment. But seeing that great import-
ance was attached to the fact by the British agent, and
that the Governor-General, alarmed by events at Herat,
was seeking to establish British influence in Afghanistan,
Dost Mahomed determined not to further this policy by
entering into obligations which would isolate him from
foreign connections, unless indeed some more palpable
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equivalent were in return made to him than general
expressions of goodwill.

The conduct of the mission, official and private, had
sunk it into contempt, and the irascible vanity of
Burnes — wounded by the proceedings of his own
Government, by the countenance now given to Vicovich
at Cabul, and by the neglect shown to himself—im-
pelled him to a line of conduct hasty and injudicious,
and which, wanting in truth, composure, and dignity,
exasperated the Ameer. Negotiation, after some fruit-
less attempts for its renewal by the wiser part of Dost
Mahomed’s advisers, was broken off, and, finally, on
April 26, 1838, Burnes quitted Cabul.

Thus terminated a mission which, entrusted to wiser
and better men, might have had very different results.
In the absence of definite instructions, much was left to
the discretion of its leader; and therefore the entire
failure of a futile commercial mission, metamorphosed
into a political mission of discovery and vague negotia-
tion, must not altogether be attributed to the instrument
selected. At the root lay the original error of a vacil-
lating Government, having no clear settled line of
policy or principle for its guidance, and therefore
unable to furnish its agents with that which was a
desideratum to itself. In pronouncing judgment upon
Burnes’s unfortunate negotiations, the fact must be
borne in mind that he was deputed at a time when
Lord Auckland professed to adopt a line of policy
entirely the reverse of that which he ultimately pur-
sued. On April 10, 1837, the Governor-General wrote
‘that the circumstance of the British Government
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having resolved decidedly to discourage the prosecution
by the ex-King, Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk, so long as he
may remain under our protection, of further schemes of
hostility against the chiefs now in power in Cabul and
Candahar,” might be found on the part of Burnes a
means useful in the establishment of British influence.
The enunciation of such a resolution could not, in the
absence of detailed instructions, but serve as a key to
the views of the Government in the course they wished
pursued in Afghanistan; and a more judicious and
cautious diplomatist than Burnes, left entirely to his
own discretion, might, acting upon the assumption of a
moderate degree of stability in the decisions of a
Governor-General, have partially compromised himself
before he could learn how short a time sufficed for an
entire change of opinions, views, and policy.
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CHAPTER 1IV.
NOVEMBER 1837—SEPTEMBER 1838,

SIEGE OF HERAT BY THE PERSIANS—POTTINGER—MCNEILL'S NEGOTI-
ATIONS WITH THE SHAH—HIS VIEWS REGARDING PERSIAN DESIGNS
UPON AFGHANISTAN—VALUE OF HERAT TO PERSIA.

Having briefly traced the conduct and failure of a
mission from which Lord Auckland anticipated, in April
1837, no further result than ¢ the collection of accurate
information, the extension of commercial intercourse,
and the conciliation of friendly sentiments,’ the pro-
gress of events which were contemporaneously taking
place in Khorassan must now be followed. The Shah
of Persia, having mustered his army, which was es-
timated at 10,000 infantry, 2,000 cavalry, and thirty
guns, marched to the frontier, and besieged Ghorian, a
fortress about forty miles from Herat. The place was
treacherously surrendered to the Shah on November
15, 1837, after a siege of ten days; and he then
advanced to and commenced the siege of Herat.

The Russian envoy evinced great joy at the capture
of Ghorian ; but he remained at Teheran, not wishing by
his presence in the Shah’s camp to appear to take a more
active part in the military operations which his Govern-
ment pretended to discountenance. The British envoy
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abstained from accompanying the Shah, in order to
mark the disapprobation with which the advance of
the army was viewed by his own Government. Both
envoys, however, had subordinates in attendance on
the besieging army to watch the progress of events
and to further the views and interests of their respective
Governments.

An officer of the Bombay army, Lieutenant Pottin-
ger, having obtained permission to be absent from his
military duties for the space of a year, had, from a
spirit of curiosity and enterprise, been travelling in the
countries to the west of the Indus. Leaving Cabul in
July 1837, he found his way in disguise to Herat. He
had been there a short time when the news of the
Persian advance reached him. The conditions of his
leave of absence made Pottinger desirous to avoid being
shut up in a besieged place ; but he found it impossible
to do so, partly in consequence of severe sickness, and
partly on account of the disturbed state of the neigh-
bouring country. Moreover, the Herat authorities
desired to retain a British officer in the city, thinking

. to derive advantage from his presence, as a token of
the countenance of the British Government. Once in
communication with McNeill, however, Pottinger was
soon at ease with regard to breach of military rules:
and his love of enterprise, no longer running counter
to the sense of duty, found accidentally a promising
field.

- The medium of communication between the two
British officers was a horseman whom McNeill de-
spatched with the Herat envoy, when the latter, having

E
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failed in his mission, was dismissed by the Shah of
Persia. This messenger was stopped by the Russian
agent, Borowski, when passing through the Shah’s
advancing army, and Pottinger’s letter was for a time
taken from him. It was not read, but it created much
suspicion, exasperated the Shah, and enabled the
Russian mission to assert the presence of a British
officer, bearing no accredited political functions, among
the besieged.

The Shah, on his arrival before Herat, did not feel
himself strong enough to invest the place effectually.
Three of its five gates were kept open by the besieged,
who drove out their cattle daily to graze, and main-
tained an uninterrupted intercourse with the surround-
ing country. The siege, conducted with little skill and
small energy, made slow progress; whilst the Heratees,
confident in their own courage and defences, showed
little respect for their adversaries. They made nightly
sorties, inflicting loss upon the working parties and
guards, and capturing guns, which they capsized into
their own ditch. Occasionally their attacks were ex-
tended to the foraging parties of the enemy, which
suffered considerably from the alertness of the Afghans.
The Persians, however, showed themselves capable of en-
during hardship and privations; and the season proving
a mild one, the Shah, though he lost many of his irregu-
lars by desertion, was enabled to hold on in his dilatory
siege operations. But his supply of ammunition,
originally insufficient, was quickly expended; and
additional supplies arriving slowly, at considerable
intervals of time, and never in large quantity, the firing
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was renewed after long periods of rest, during which
the Afghans had abundance of time to repair whatever
damage an ill-directed fire of short duration might have
caused to their defences. The system thus pursued by
the Persians, of expending in a day or two their store
of shot, and then having to wait a month before they
could again open their guns upon the place, was
quaintly spoken of by Pottinger as doing just enough
mischief to point out where repairs were requisite. The
mining operations were not better managed ; indeed,
they were so conducted as to render doubtful the wish -
of the besiegers that they should be effective. Certain
it is that the battalion of Russian deserters which formed
part of the Shah’s army did not appear much in earnest
at their attack, but contented themselves with proving
to the Afghans, whenever a sortie from the place at-
tempted to assault their posts, that this could not be
done with impunity. A considerable number of the
men were Poles, who, though not of a temper to suffer
disgrace by hasty turning from Afghan scimitars, yet
had no very goodwill for the cause in which they were
engaged, and seemed, so far as consistent with their
fidelity as mercenaries in the pay of Persia, to be but
little indisposed towards the Heratees. Perhaps the
fact that the price of provisions in the besieged place
was one-fourth that of provisions in the camp, conveys
in fewest words a correct idea of the real character
of this siege, in which the besieging army required
strong escorts for its foraging parties and for its
convoys of stores and ammunition, and yet repeatedly
®2



52 THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR.

had the mortification of losing its caravans, and of
having its foraging parties driven in with loss.

Owing to the protracted nature of the siege and the
exhaustion of the surrounding country, the supplies of
food for the Persian army became very precarious, and
rendered it hopeless to think of gaining the fortress by
a blockade, which would have brought more suffering
on the besiegers than even their patient endurance
could be relied upon to sustain. At the same time the
gallantry and confidence of the defenders held out no
promise of an easy capture, should the endeavour be
made to storm works, in which no breach had been
effected. Affairs were in this state, after the siege had
continued for four months, when McNeill received an
intimation from Leech at Candahar, which led him to
conclude that the Governor-General of India had
written, directing him to attempt to withdraw the Shah
from Herat by treaty or otherwise; the preservation of
the integrity of that place being considered of vital im-
portance. In consequence of the receipt of this intelli-
gence from Leech, McNeill determined, without awaiting
Lord Auckland’s instructions, to proceed to the Shah’s
camp, and to endeavour by every means in his power
to induce the Shah to come to terms with the ruler of
Herat. Colonel Stoddart, the subordinate placed in the
Shah’s camp by McNeill, first received Leech’s commu-
nication ; with singular indiscretion he at once divulged
it to the Shah; and by this premature step put the
Shah and the Russian agents on their guard. Lord
Palmerston being made acquainted with the intentions
of the British envoy, wrote on May 21, 1838, in approval




MCNEILL'S ARRIVAL IN THE PERSIAN CAMP. 53

of the step. He authorised McNeill to state explicitly
to the Shah that the British Government looked upon
his enterprise as undertaken in a spirit of hostility
towards British India, and incompatible with the spirit
and intention of the treaty with Persia; and that con-
sequently perseverance in the Shah’s military operations
against Herat would cause Great Britain to consider
friendly relations at an end, and to take steps for the
security of the possessions of the British Crown.
McNeill, upon his arrival in the camp, was coldly
received, for the Shah had endeavoured to stop him at
Ghorian, urging that his presence at Herat could not
fail to encourage the besieged. The British envoy
found that the tardy and frequently interrupted siege
operations had been diversified by repeated attempts at
negotiation, which, as the Shah was not inclined to
moderate his pretensions or demands, had always failed.
In another quarter Persian intrigue seemed successful ;
for McNeill, in constant correspondence with Burnes
and Leech, heard from the former of the progress of
Vicovich at Cabul, and from the latter of a treaty
between the chiefs of Candahar and the Shah of Persia,
the draft of which had been accepted by the chiefs.
If McNeill’s despatches had in 1837 unduly disturbed
Burnes’s excitable mind, Burnes’s letters now exerted a
corresponding effect upon McNeill, and seem to have
cast him into a fever of apprehension for the conse-
quences of the fall of Herat—an event which from the
state of affairs he could not but perceive to be impro-
bable, and which he so reported both to Lord Palmerston
and Lord Auckland at the self-same time that he dwelt
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on the imminent peril with which India was threatened
by the siege, and informed the Shah that if the attempt
were not abandoned, the British Government would be
obliged in self-defence to remove the Persian army by
force. Some of Burnes’s private communications were
intercepted by the Shah. The importance attached to
the siege of Herat by the Indian Government and its
functionaries, and the failure of the British missions at
Cabul and Candahar, were thus divulged in all the
colouring of Burnes’s heated fancy, and acted as a spur
to the Shah’s perseverance in the enterprise on which
he had embarked.

Both Lord Palmerston and Lord Auckland approved
the views of McNeill. Lord Palmerston, on July 27,
1838, instructed the British envoy to state to the Shah
that as he had thought fit to enter upon a course of
proceeding wholly at variance with the spirit and in-
tent of the treaty with Great Britain, the latter felt
herself at liberty to adopt, without reference to that
treaty, such measures as a due regard for her own
interests, and the security of her dominions, might
suggest. Lord Auckland, receiving about the same
time the news of the failure of Burnes’s mission at
Cabul, and of McNeill’s ungracious reception in the
camp before Herat, prepared to carry McNeill’s threats
into effect; and the Bombay Government was ordered
to make a demonstration in the Persian Gulf by the
despatch of troops and cruisers to the Island of Karrak,
whilst the Governor-General at the same time turned
his attention to the re-establishment, by force, of British
influence in Afghanistan.
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The British envoy having allayed the animosity
which his unwelcome arrival had produced, commenced
after a few days to urge measures which might lead to an
accommodation. On April 19 he entered the besieged
town, with the consent of the Shah, for the purpose
of mediating a treaty, and was engaged during that
night in settling with the Herat minister the draft of
an agreement, which, conceding more than was reason-
able, and all that the Shah demanded, preserved the
independence of Herat. McNeill had not, however, left
the town on the morning of the 20th, when he heard of
the arrival of the Russian envoy in the Shah’s camp..
That functionary had hastened to follow the British
envoy, and arrived in time to frustrate his negotiations
when apparently on the eve of a favourable termination.
Thenceforward the Shah, instead of evincing any in-
clination to accept the terms he had last dictated,
renewed his demand for the acknowledgment of his
sovereignty, and, aided by the advice of Count S8imonich
and the exertions of the officers of the envoy’s suite,
prosecuted the siege with renewed vigour and more
skill. The Russian furnished money to the Shah, and
enabled the latter to encourage his dispirited troops by
the payment of a portion of their dues and by the
prospect, under more soldierly management, of a speedy
conclusion to their labours and dangers. On the other
hand, the Heratees were nothing daunted by the failure
of the negotiations. Making a sortie in force they took,
and kept for two days, a Persian trench ; swept into the
town a hundred horses of the enemy; and, by sending
out of the place about two thousand persons not needed
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for the defence, diminished the consumption of food
and the risk of a successful blockade. Whatever hopes
the Shah of Persia may have entertained from the
arrival of emissaries announcing that aid was about to
be despatched from Candahar, and that no apprehen-
sions need be had of a hostile movement from Cabul,
the Heratees knew better both the power and circum-
stances of the Barukzai chiefs than to care for such
reports ; and whilst the Persians were flattering them-
selves with rumours of division and discord amongst the
besieged, the latter, sallying out sword in hand, dashed
boldly into the enemy’s trenches, stormed his batteries,
and succeeded in carrying off & couple of guns.

The Shah, thus insulted, was forced to wait the
arrival of ammunition. In the meantime he occupied
himself in constructing additional batteries, under the
direction of Russian officers, and in amusing the British
envoy with a show of readiness to comply with the
demands of England. He professed himself willing to
conclude a treaty with Herat, provided he were enabled
to relinquish his enterprise with honour, by means of
an explicit threat of hostility on the part of the British
Government. The Shah had no intention of acting as
he promised, and the request was an instance of Eastern
finesse, having no other object but to gain time and to
draw any advantage which by accident might accrue
from the re-opening of discussion and diplomatic notes.
McNeill’s threat, conveyed in the terms subsequently
authorised by Lord Palmerston’s instructions, produced,
therefore, on the part of the Shah, instead of a treaty
with Herat, a long paper containing a series of complaints
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and accusations against the British Government, and
maintaining the right of Persia to inflict punishment
on the Heratees for their acts of rapine and plunder
against Persian subjects. A quantity of diplomatic notes
were hereupon exchanged ; but the British envoy, weary
of his hopeless undertaking, and sensible that his further
stay was fruitless and derogatory to the dignity of his
Government, at length quitted the Persian camp on
June 7, 1838, completely foiled in his endeavours to
induce the Shah to discontinue his military operations.

The crops now ripening, provisions became more
abundant in the Shah’s camp, and reinforcements from
Tabreez and Azarbijan began to reach him in small
numbers both of horse and foot. But the Heratees,
neither dispirited nor failing in their alertness, con-
tinued to harass the besiegers; and the Hazarah and
Jemsheedee tribes, taking the opportunity which Persian
negligence offered them, swept from the plains into
their own hills a number of horses, mules, and at-
tendants, belonging to the Persian camp.

The Shah, through Burnes’s despatches to McNeill,
was thoroughly conversant with the state of British
influence in Afghanistan. Encouraged by the alarm
displayed, and by the importance which the Indian
Government and its agents attached to Herat, he
scarcely needed the urgent advice of Count Simonich to
fortify him in his resolution; and the supplies of am-
munition having at length reached in some quantity,
and the batteries erected under Russian supervision
being completed, the Persian artillery reopened its fire.
After six days of continuous battering, a grand assault,
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planned' and arranged by the Russian envoy, was made
on June 23. It failed of success. The Persian troops
were at one time in possession of the rampart, and were
in the act of bringing up gabions to form a lodgment
and secure the standing they had gained in the body
of the place; but by one of those strange events with
which war is chequered, and which mock the calcula-
tions of far more skilful leaders than those, who directed
the Persian assault, this temporary advantage was
suddenly thrown away. A body of Afghans, driven by
the Persian attack from another part of the defences,
came rushing in their flight along the Shirazee, or lower
line of work, which skirted the main rampart ; and the
Persians, engaged in forming their lodgment on the
upper line of works, stricken with panic at what
appeared the charge of their foes to cut off their
retreat, deserted their lodgment and fled hastily from
the position they had won. The assault was ultimately
repulsed with heavy loss, although the endeavours of
the besiegers were, if not very gallant, yet repeated.
Many officers of rank were killed and wounded, amongst
the former Major-General Borowski, of the Russian
service; and the Shah, dispirited by the failure of an
attack for the success of which the greatest exertions
had been made, now relinquished the hope of capturing
the place, and turned his attention to withdrawing his
troops, artillery, and stores from a position which
would have been by no means satisfactory had the
Heratees pursued with the same degree of energy and
courage as they had shown in defending their town.
The strength of the place, the resolution of the
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besiegers, the skill of the Russian military advisers, and
the gallantry of the besieged, were severally subjects of
much exaggeration. The siege was, from first to last,
thoroughly ill-conducted ; and the defence, in reality
not better managed, owed its éclat to Persian ignorance,
timidity, and supineness. Pottinger’s advice was seldom
asked, and still more seldom taken, by the defenders,
who viewed his presence as a political rather than a
military advantage ; and no one spoke more impartially
or plainly of the conduct of both besiegers and besieged
than did Pottinger himself.!

In fact, any advantage which may be supposed to
have resulted from the presence of Pottinger at Herat,
was more than counterbalanced by the exasperation
which it provoked in the Shah against the British
envoy, and by the justification it afforded for the
active aid rendered to the besiegers by Count Simonich
and the Russian officers of his stafl. But if the presence
of Pottinger was of questionable utility, there can be

! The British envoy’s accounts of the siege are perplexing. The Shah’s
army is stated when mustered to have been about 10,000 infantry, 2,000
cavalry, and thirty guns (September 28, 1837). Subsequently, that is after
the siege had continued three months, it is stated at 40,000 men and eighty
guns (February 23, 1886). At this time Persian casualties are estimated to
have been thirty men daily, which in three months would amount to 2,700
men, exclusive of desertions, and if, as afterwards mentioned (April 11,
1838), the loss continued to average from ten to twenty men daily, taking
the mean of McNeill's number, for the daily loss, the ten months' siege
would appear to have cost the Shah about 6,000 men. It admits of little
doubt that had the Persian army been 40,000 strong the place would have
been better invested and the relative positions of besiegers and besieged far
different from what they were ; but the Shah could not have fed and kept
together that number of men. The first estimate of the strength of the
besieging force appears on every ground the most accurate, and the loss
sustained may with safety be reduced to about one sixth.
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no doubt that McNeill’s arrival in the camp before
Herat was of essential dis-service to the cause espoused
by the British Government; for the step rendered the
presence of Count Simonich in camp not only defensible
but necessary, and enabled him, at a most important
period of the siege, to encourage its energetic prosecu-
tion, and to advise and ultimately arrange an assault
which only failed of success through an unforeseen
accident—one of those accidents beyond the control of
man, by which, in derision of his best efforts, the results
of war are often determined. The Shah was never in
earnest in his negotiations with the Heratees, whether
such were mediated by NcNeill or by others. They
merely served as a diversion to both parties during the
intervals when the besiegers were awaiting ammunition
and stores, and afforded the opportunity to renew in-
trigues in camp and city from which either side hoped
to derive advantage. Gross indignity to the British
envoy, complete failure of his object, increased energy
in the siege operations, and enhanced danger to the
besieged, were the fruits of McNeill’s visit to Herat,
which was a measure both unnecessary and injudicious.

As the British envoy’s opinions relative to the
treaty were not only approved but acted upon both by
the British and the Indian Governments, the sound-
ness of these views merits examination. They were
based on the assumptions that Afghanistan was at the
time our frontier ; that the capture of Herat by Persia
involved imminent peril to the security and internal
tranquillity of our Indian Empire; and that Persia, in
prosecuting the siege of that place had, acting in con-
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cert with Russia, entered upon a course of proceeding,
avowedly unfriendly, if not absolutely hostile, to British
interests and at variance with the spirit and intent of
the definitive treaty.

If the assumptions be conceded that Afghanistan
was our frontier, and that the integrity of Herat was
of vital importance to the British power in India—the
fall of that place to the Shah being equivalent to its
becoming a Russian parallel of attack against India—
few casuists would deny that England was justified in
taking measures of active defence without reference to
the prohibition contained in the ninth article of the
treaty ; for the spirit and purpose of that treaty, as
prescribed in the first article, was in direct opposition
to the line of policy pursued by Persia, acting, under
the foregoing supposition, in subordination to the con-
trol and influence of Russia. The prohibition contained
in the ninth article, and the promise by England to
observe it, were evidently relative to a state of affairs
in which Persia was understood to hold an entirely
different position from that which, under Russian dicta-
tion and supremacy, the present argument supposes her
to have held, when she claimed the validity of the
specification which precluded England from interfering
in wars between the Afghans and Persians. The in-
dependence of Persia from foreign European control
was undoubtedly a tacit consideration which not only
originated the general object of the treaty as specified
in the first article, but also the promise made in the
ninth article ; and the fulfilment of the main purpose
of the treaty as well as of the minor promise were
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already conditional on the preservation by Persia of
her independence. That condition lost, England could
no longer be bound by an engagement founded on its
existence.

Afghanistan, however, so far from being our fron-
tier, was not even in contact with British India; but
was separated from our possessions by the countries
on the Indus, namely, the Punjab, Bhawulpore, and
Scinde, and by the tract of desert which, comprising
Bikaneer, Jessulmeer, and Jodhpore, was in itself alone
no bad frontier, and far removed from the highlands
of Afghanistan.

The exaggerated fears of Russian power and in-
trigue entertained by Elis, McNeill, Burnes, and Wade,
the flame of which was communicated by them to the
British and Indian Governments, invested Herat with
a fictitious importance wholly incommensurate with the
strength of the place and its position in regard to
Candahar and the Indus. To speak of the integrity of
the place as of vital importance to British India was a
hyperbole so insulting to common sense as scarcely to
need refutation, and which ignorance of the countries
west of the Indus, and inexperience of military opera-
tions in the East, could alone palliate. An excursive
imagination might deem it of possible importance at
some remote future, but it required the hallucinations
of chimerical alarm to render it an object of vital
solicitude.

Although Russian influence might predominate at
Teheran, Persia could not with propriety be regarded
by England as so completely under the guidance and
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protection of the Czar as absolutely to alter the state
of affairs and the conditions under which the engage-
ment to fulfil the terms of the ninth article was in-
curred. Since 1828, when England freed herself from
the embarrassment of the third and fourth articles of
the treaty, Russian influence at the Court of Teheran
had on the whole increased, but not to that degree
that Persia was to be regarded as having annulled all
alliances with England or any other foreign power
which hinged on her existence as an independent State.
She had been humbled, but not conquered by Russia,
and therefore she had a right to expect that the faith
of treaties should be observed with her, and that
England should not, upon groundless assumptions,
conclude herself authorised to act in contravention of
the clear and precise terms of an article to which she
had on two several occasions promised to adhere. The
punishment of Herat- for its infractions of a convention
with Persia could not legitimately be construed into a
hostile breach of the definitive treaty. It might be un-
palatable to England, but the latter had solemnly con-
sented to neutrality in case of war arising between the
Persians and Afghans; and she was bound, without
cavil or chicanery, to observe scrupulousnon-interference -
even at the hazard of a less remote danger than was
the possible capture of Herat. It is a national misfor-
tune when the interpretation of treaties becomes de-
pendent on the vague apprehensions of statesmen, to
whom it costs but a figure of speech to advance their
frontier ten or twelve degrees of longitude, in order
there to seek and combat a chimerical danger and to
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involve the intermediate countries in a long series of
desolating wars. No dispassionate judgment can ap-
prove the morbid sensitiveness of a policy which in its
endeavours to ward off a hypothetical and remote
peril can coldly overlook the mass of immediate suffer-
ing, evil, and injustice which its measures must
produce.

Almost simultaneously with the final assault on
Herat was the occupation of the Island of Karrak by
the British troops despatched from Bombay. McNeill
having received intimation of this event, and also the
instructions of Lord Palmerston for his guidance, de-
spatched Colonel Stoddart to the Shah with a written
message founded on the communication of the British
minister, and explicitly stating that perseverance in the
siege would interrupt the friendly relations between
Persia and Great Britain and cause the latter to take
such steps as she might think best calculated to provide
for the security of the possessions of the British Crown.
This was accompanied by an announcement of the
occupation of Karrak and a demand for reparation on
account of insults to the British mission. The message
found the Shah disheartened by his late failure and
already engaged in making preparations for breaking
up the siege and retreating within his own frontiers.
The demonstration in the Persian Gulf was much ex-
aggerated by public rumours, and was a source of
uneasiness to the Shah, rendering his return to Tehe-
ran doubly advisable. He therefore acceded to such
of the requests of the British envoy as were in unison
with his predetermined retirement from Herat ; and all
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things being arranged for the rapid retreat of the
Persian army, the camp broke up on September 9, and
returned by rapid marches, unharassed by the enemy,
within the frontiers of Persia, leaving garrisons, however,
in Ghorian, Furrah, Subzar, and Khoorookh. When
it is considered that the Shah calculated upon occupy-
ing sixty days on his return to Teheran, and that it was
held by military men that if the distance were com-
pleted in seventy-five days the troops would have
marched very well, a definite conception of the real
value to Persia of Herat as a possession may be ob-
tained. The army, when advancing on Herat, had,
however, taken a longer time ; the Shah quitted Teheran
on July 23, and only reached Ghorian in the beginning
of November, being upwards of three months en route.
Fortresses so much in advance of the main territories
and strength of a country as are Ghorian and Herat,
with respect to Persia, add neither to the offensive nor
defensive powers of a State, but compromise a certain
portion of its strength in men and means by isolating
them at a vast distance from support in the midst of a
hostile country.
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CHAPTER V.
JUNE=OCTOBER, 1838,

LORD AUCKLAND RESOLVES TO RESTORE SHAH SHOOJA—THE TRIPARTITE
TREATY — MACNAGHTEN APPOINTED ENVOY — RECEPTION OF THE
TREATY BY THE AMEERS OF SCINDE—ORGANISATION OF A FORCE
FOR THE INVASION OF AFGHANISTAN—PROCLAMATION OF OCTOBER
1, 1838.

SiMULTANEOUSLY with the despatch of instructions for
the demonstration in the Persian Gulf by the occupation
of the Island of Karrak, Lord Auckland, contemplating
the subversion of the authority of the Candahar and
Cabul chiefs, and the re-establishment in Afghanistan of
some power friendly to British influence, had resolved
upon entering into negotiations with Runjeet Singh for
this purpose.

With great reason the Governor-General was at this
time averse from engaging the Anglo-Indian army in
support of such a policy; and his inclinations leaned to
casting on Runjeet Singh and the Sikh army the enter-
prise of conquering Cabul, and of thus raising a friendly
barrier to Russo-Persian influence and territorial ac-
quisition. Wade’s suggestions and insinuations pre-
sented Shah Shooja as more available for the further-
ance of the Governor-General’s views; and pointed to_
the treaty of 1833 between the ex-king and Runjeet
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Singh as a precedent which admitted of being converted
into a pretext for the renewal of analogous measures in
subservience to British interests. Undecided as to the
course to be pursued, Lord Auckland sent Mr. Mac-
naghten in May 1838 on a mission to Lahore, to
discuss and arrange with the Sikh ruler the manner in
which, with his consent, the desired measure could be
best effected. Macnaghten was accustomed to give
weight to Wade’s views, and finding on consultation
with Burnes and Masson that both disapproved of the
attempt to establish a Sikh government as supreme in
Afghanistan, while Masson coincided with Wade in
preferring Shah Shooja as an instrument for overturn-
ing Dost Mahomed and his brothers, the latter expedient
was deemed the best, and was finally adopted by the
Governor-General. At first, however, there was on
Lord Auckland’s part no intention of plunging the
Indian Government into the expenses and hazards of a
trans-Indus war ; cold, cautious, and reflecting, but
infirm of purpose, it was by gradual steps that he
unfortunately suffered the alarms, real or pretended, of
others, and their importunities, ultimately to prevail
over his own judgment. The plan first contemplated
was that Shah Shooja, aided by British officers and
funds, and by the hearty co-operation of Runjeet Singh,
should achieve the recovery of his throne without the
appearance of British bayonets in his train ; but Burnes,
who had been summoned by Macnaghten to Lahore,
was resolute in urging as a necessity that English
troops must accompany the Shah, and argued that if
only a regiment or two were sent, their presence would
» 2
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be a source of great strength and security, and insure
success. This opinion was adopted, but Sir H. Fane,
the Commander-in-Chief of the army, objected, upon
military grounds, to risking so small a detachment of
troops upon a distant and hazardous expedition; the
more particularly as the enterprise had, as an object
co-ordinate with the establishment of Shah Shooja, the
relief of Herat, or its recapture from the Persian army,
according as circumstances might demand. Under the
supposition that the presence of British troops was
essential, the arguments by which Fane deprecated the
impolicy of risking disgrace to the British arms and
colours, by isolating a small body of men amongst
open foes and very doubtful friendsin distant countries,
were unexceptionable; and Lord Auckland, unable
with good grace or consistency to forego the line of
policy upon which he had already embarked, and
eagerly pressed by those around him to persevere,
determined to assemble and move a British army into
Afghanistan in support of his views and measures.

The operations ultimately resolved upon were in
accordance with the counsels which had been pertina-
ciously, though for long cautiously, pressed upon the
Government by Wade. Not only was the treaty of
1833 between Runjeet Singh and Shah Shooja made
the basis of the tripartite treaty now entered into by
those potentates and the Anglo-Indian Government, but
the same system of invading Afghanistan by double
line of operations, the one by Peshawur on Cabul, and
the other by Shikarpore on Candahar, was adopted.
Wade had thus the satisfaction of seeing his schemes in
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favour of Shah Shooja in the end completely triumphant,
and there only remained to fill up the measure of his
success that the carrying into execution his own plans
should be entrusted to him as envoy with the Shah.
In this, however, he was disappointed, as also his rival
Burnes, for as Fane was to command the army, Mr.
Macnaghten’s proposal of himself for envoy met with
the acceptance of the Governor-General, who felt that
if the superior political functions were to be separated
from the military command, a person of higher rank
and official situation than either Captain Wade or
Captain Burnes must, out of courtesy, be placed in con-
trol of the Commander-in-Chief, Sir Henry Fane. The
selection was unhappy, for Macnaghten, long accustomed
to irresponsible office, inexperienced in men, and igno-
rant of the country and people of Afghanistan, was,
though an erudite Arabic scholar, neither practised in
the field of Asiatic intrigue nor a man of action. His
ambition was, however, great, and the expedition, hold-
ing out the promise of distinction and honours, had met
with his strenuous advocacy.

The tripartite treaty negotiated by Macnaghten,
and concluded on June 26, 1838, was remarkable,
amongst other of its stipulations, for the consideration
shown to our allies the Ameers of Scinde. The Anglo-
Indian Government had previously formed engagements
with these princes as independent rulers of the coun-
tries in their possession. In 1834 when Shah Shooja
invaded their territories, Lord W. Bentinck, although
he failed to discountenance the expedition, which it lay
in his power to stop by a word of remonstrance, was
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yet careful to observe and to enjoin a strict neutrality ;
and instructed the British agents on the Sutlej and
Indus to do their utmost to remove the impression,
should it anywhere exist, that the British Government
was connected with the plans of Shah Shooja or other-
wise than entirely indifferent to his movements. The
fourth article of the treaty entered into between Run-
jeet Singh and the Shah had implied by its terms the
cognisance of the Anglo-Indian Government, and
rendered its agexit, Wade, the elected mediator in re-
spect to Scinde. It ran as follows :—¢ Regarding Shikar-
pore and the territory of Scinde lying on the right
bank of the Indus, the Shah agrees to abide by what-
ever may be settled as right and proper, in conformity
with the happy relations of friendship subsisting between
the British Government and the Maharajah through
Captain Wade.” This unauthorised use of the name of
the British Government having been pointed out, the
necessary precautions were taken to prevent the clause
creating misapprehension or alarm, and to deny any
participation in the treaty on the side of the Governor-
General of India. Subsequently, in 1836, when Runjeet
Singh captured Roghan, the chief town of the Mazarees,
a tribe on the right bank of the Indus, and nominally
dependent upon the Ameers; carried by assault a fort
in the neighbourhood of Shikarpore, garrisoned by their
troops ; and, collecting forces, had made all necessary
preparations for a regular campaign against them ;
Lord Auckland, deeming the opportunity favourable
for establishing British influence in Scinde upon a solid
basis, interposed to deter the Sikh ruler from advancing -
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against Shikarpore, and from any hostile intentions
which he entertained ¢towards the territories of the
Ameers of Scinde.” The Commander-in-Chief in Bengal
was warned of the possibility of hostilities with the
Sikh ruler, and the Bombay Government was directed
to have troops in readiness to move into Scinde, on the
requisition of the resident, Pottinger, should armed
interference become necessary, from the Ameer accept-
ing the offered protection of the British Government
against Runjeet Singh’s threatened invasion. Runjeet
Singh chafed at the curb put upon his schemes of
aggrandisement and extension of territory, but wisely
yielded to the friendly remonstrance, and withdrew his
troops from the frontier, being on every account desirous
not to afford the British power an excuse for placing a
military cantonment in Scinde. The Ameers were
equally unwilling to admit armed intervention or the
residence of a British agent at their court, but were
ready to accede to the proposal, that an officer on the
_part of the British Government should reside at Shikar-
pore, and be the medium of communication between
the Governments of Hyderabad and Lahore. Negotia-
tions, however, continued throughout 1837, and in April
1838 a treaty was concluded with some, not all, of the
Ameers of Scinde, by which it was agreed that an ac-
credited British minister should reside at the court of
Hyderabad. After such a termination to this series of
negotiations the Ameers were naturally surprised to
receive, in September 1838, from the British resident,
as a first-fruit of his office, the following communica-
tion of the wishes and intentions of Lord Auckland :
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¢ Their Highnesses have, of course, long heard of the
unsettled state of Khorassan and Afghanistan; and, in
the opinion of the Governor General, a crisis has now
arrived in those countries which imperiously demands
the interference of the British Government, both with
regard to the settlement and well-being of the countries
in question, and also for the tranquillity and security of
Hindustan and the States adjoining it.

¢ His Lordship is further of opinion that it is now
necessary that the real friends of the British Govern-
ment should unequivocally stand forward to evince
their friendly feelings by assisting in the measures which
the Governor-General may consider requisite to frus-
trate and render null the combination which the
governments to the westward of India are known to
have formed, with the object of disturbing and injuring
the possessions of the British Government, and with
them those of its allies and tributaries.

¢ A treaty was made about five years ago between
his Majesty Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk and the Maharajah
Runjeet Singh, consisting of fourteen articles. In the
fourth article of that treaty it was written :—

¢« Regarding Shikarpore and the territory of Scinde
lying on the right bank of the Indus, the Shah will
agree to abide by whatever may be settled as right and
proper, in conformity with the happy relations of friend-
ship subsisting between the British Government and the
Maharajah, through Captain Wade.”

‘The said treaty was not, for certain reasons, acted
on at the time it was first written, but at present it has
been resolved to bring it into execution; and the
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Governor-General of India has agreed to become a party
to it, with the addition of four articles. One of these
articles provides for Maharajah Runjeet Singh receiving
annually two lacs of rupees from the Shah, in considera-
tion of which his Highness is always to keep 5,000
Mussulman troops ready at Peshawur for the king’s
service when required. Another article stipulates that
when Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk shall have established his
authority over Cabul, &c., his Majesty is not to make
any demands upon or to molest Kamran Shah of Herat.
A third article provides for the Shah entering into no
negotiations or treaties with any foreign powers with-
out the knowledge and consent of the British and
Lahore governments. And the fourth article is to the
following effect :—

¢«“Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk agrees to relinquish for
himself, his heirs and successors, all claims of supre-
macy and arrears of tribute over the country now held
by the Ameers of Scinde, which will continue to belong
to the Ameers and their successors in perpetuity, on
condition of the payment to him by the Ameers of
such a sum as may be determined under the mediation
of the British Government; 15,00,000 of rupees of such
payment being made over by him to Maharajah Runjeet
Singh. On these payments being completed, article 6
of the treaty of March 12, 1833, will be considered
cancelled, and the customary interchange of letters and
suitable presents Dbetween the Maharajah and the
Ameers of Scinde shall be maintained as heretofore.”

¢ For the purpose of giving full and perfect effect to
the said treaty, Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk has been fur-
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nished by the British Government with money, arms,
and other necessary means for raising and equipping an
army, which is to march, under his Majesty’s personal
command, by the route of Bhawulpore and Shikarpore
into Afghanistan; whilst another army, belonging to
Maharajah Runjeet Singh, is to march with the king’s
eldest son from Peshawur by the direct road to Cabul.
With the object of supporting, in case it should be
requisite to do so, the king’s own army, a British force
is also to take the same route by Shikarpore, and both
these armies may be expected to reach the Indus about
the beginning of the month of Sheval (December 19),
and to cross at Bukkur, or in that neighbourhood.
They will thénce move by the route of Shikarpore on
Candahar ; and the Governor-General of India relies
on the friendship and goodwill of the Government of
Scinde to render every assistance, by ordering boats to
be collected for crossing the river, and camels and grain
to be also furnished as far as may be required. The
hire and price of all boats, camels, grain, &c., will be
punctually paid agreeably to the custom of the British
Government in friendly countries.

‘The Governor-General confidently trusts that the
Ameers of Scinde will see the magnitude of the benefit
which they will derive by being secured, by the pay-
ment of a moderate sum of money, from all future
claims, either as to the tribute payable to the monarchs
of Cabul or the undoubted pretensions of the latter to
Shikarpore. His Lordship also believes and thinks that
their Highnesses, as sincere friends and near neighbours,
will be happy and ready to take this opportunity of
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meeting the views and assisting in the great objects of
the British Government, from which the Ameers have
already derived such essential relief and advantage
by its mediation with Maharajah Runjeet Singh, and
which has not, in the arrangements now in progress
forgotten or overlooked their interests and well-being,
as is clearly demonstrated by the article of the treaty
above quoted.’

It was no wonder that this communication furnished
matter of amazement to the Ameers. Participation in
the treaty formerly concluded between Runjeet Singh
and Shah Shooja, when the latter took Shikarpore, had
at the time been expressly repudiated by Lord William
Bentinck. It was now spoken of by the British
Government as the basis for the stipulations of the
new tripartite treaty. The very article which had
called forth remonstrance against the unauthorised use
of the name of the British Government was now specifi-
cally quoted, followed by the announcement that though
the treaty which contained it had not, for certain
reasons, been acted upon at the time it was first written,
it was now to be brought into execution. And this
announcement was made by the self-same Governor-
General who, at the close of 1836, deeming Shikarpore
a territorial possession of the Ameers, had interposed
to prevent the Sikh ruler from invading it. Forgetful
of this admission and voluntary assertion of the Ameers’
rights, Lord Auckland now revived the pretensions,
which he termed undoubted, of Shah Shooja to Shikar-
pore, and to a claim for tribute, making these the
pretext for the formal demand of a heavy and un-
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defined subsidy, of which Runjeet Singh’s share alone
was to amount to fifteen lacs of rupees.

The Ameers, having in their hands Korans in which
the Shah had granted them receipts in full for all
demands duly signed and sealed, were naturally slow
to perceive the magnitude of the benefit thus imposed
upon them; they regarded the whole measure as one
of shameless extortion ; and undoubtedly on but few, if
any, occasions has the British Government lent its name
to the sanction of a more iniquitous demand.

Pottinger was sensible of the character of the duty
which was thrown upon him. He thus wrote on
August 27, 1838: ¢ Had our present connection existed
some years, and our resident thereby had time, by
constant kindly intercourse with the chiefs and people,
to have removed the strong and universal impression
that exists throughout Scinde as to our grasping policy,
the case might have been widely different; but I enter
upon my new duties without anything to offer, and
with a proposal that will not only strengthen the above
impressions (for many besides the Scindees will believe,
at the outset, that we are making a mere use of the
Shah’s name), but revive a claim to tribute which has
been long esteemed obsolete.’

Pottinger had, however, enabled the Anglo-Indian
Government to class the Ameers amongst those who
were in communication with Persia, for he had for-
warded to the Governor-General the copy of a letter
from the Ameers of Hyderabad to the Shah. Although
this letter contained nothing but the usual flowery
compliments of Eastern potentates, and was made so
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little a matter of importance or secresy that its contents
and composition had been openly discussed, yet it
suited the purpose of the British Government to amplify
its contents into a tender of allegiance. The Ameers
were thus implicated amongst those entertaining designs
hostile to British interests, and colour was given to the
harsh and unjustifiable terms thrust upon them by our
power for compulsory acceptance. Nay, further, the
letter in question being translated into an act of hos-
tility and bad faith committed toward the British
Government, the transfer of the share of the govern-
ment of Scinde from the guilty parties to more faithful
members of the family was held by Lord Auckland to
be clearly justified, and was urged upon Pottinger. He
was not, however, in a position, had he wished, to adopt
hastily the suggestion, and the unpalatable demands
which were to be pressed on the Ameers had led him
to apply to the Bombay Government to hold troops in
readiness to move into Scinde upon his requisition.

All scruples at first entertained by the Government
had now been swept away, and, military operations on a
great scale being contemplated, it was deemed essential
to success that a British force of not less than 5,000 men
should be sent by the Bombay Government with the
least practicable delay for the occupation of Shikarpore,
or such other parts of Scinde as might be deemed most
eligible for facilitating our operations beyond the Indus,
and for giving full effect to the provisions of the tripar-
tite treaty. This resolution was notified to the resident
with the following remark from the Governor-General :
‘He deems it hardly necessary to remind you that
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in the important crisis at which we are arrived, we
cannot permit our enemies to occupy the seat of power ;
the interests at stake are too great to admit of hesita-
tion in our proceedings, and not only they who have
shown a disposition to favour our adversaries, but they
who display an unwillingness to aid us in the just and
necessary undertaking in which we are engaged, must
be displaced, and give way to others on whose friendship
and co-operation we may be able implicitly to rely.’
The resident was deterred from acting on these
repeated instructions to displace the obnoxious Ameers
from all share in the government of the country by
considerations of expediency. Power was in their
hands, and a premature disclosure of so rigorous a
measure would at once have caused the Ameers
effectually to paralyse all arrangements for the collection
of supplies. QGrain, camels, boats, and money were
wanted for the armies about to concentrate in Scinde,
and the resident felt, in spite of his urgent instructions
to the contrary, that to raise a civil war in the country
would not facilitate the obtaining of these necessaries.
The Hyderabad Ameers ill-brooked the communica-
tion of the tripartite treaty, and, far from evincing
alacrity to aid Shah Shooja’s invasion of their territory
and treasury, wrote to inform him that he would be
opposed. With the British resident they temporised ;
but he clearly saw that after the receipt of the terms of
the tripartite treaty no dependence could be placed on
the Ameers of Hyderabad as allies, and that all profes-
sions of friendship and willingness to aid were lip-deep.
The feeling amongst their retainers was violent, and
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Pottinger, returning from a visit, was openly insulted by
the populace, and stones were flung at him and his
companions.

Affairs in Scinde were in this state when Pottinger,
on October 18, 1838, called upon the Government of
Bombay to despatch the force of 5,000 men which had
been prepared to embark for service in Scinde.

Prior to this—that is, by October 15—information
which could be relied upon had been received in Scinde
of the breaking-up of the siege of Herat and of the
retreat of the Persian army from before its walls.
Intimation of the event had also reached Lahore from
Peshawur about the same time, and was immediately
communicated to the Governor-General.

In the meanwhile, on September 10, Lord Auckland
had issued directions for the formation of an army,
destined for operationsin Afghanistan; and on October 1
he had published a proclamation assigning the causes
and reasons which led the Anglo-Indian Government
to resolve upon the restoration of Shah Shooja to the
throne from which he had been driven nearly thirty
years before. There being no just ground of quarrel
with Dost Mahomed Khan, the declaration spoke of the
measures taken by the Cabul ruler in 1837, to repel
Sikh aggression at the mouth of the Khybur, as a sudden
and unprovoked attack upon the troops of our ancient
ally Maharajah Runjeet Singh; and alleged this
circumstance as the cause for giving to Burnes’s purely
commercial mission political functions; the avowed
object of that step being to mediate just and reasonable
terms between the Sikh and Afghan rulers, and to
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avert the calamity of war. Dost Mahomed was accused
of urging unreasonable pretensions, which had precluded
the attempt to mediate ; of avowing schemes of aggran-
disement and ambition injurious to the security and
peace of the frontiers of India; of adherence, together
with his brothers of Candahar, to the Persian policy ;
and of consequently compelling Burnes’s mission to leave
Cabul without success.

The attack upon Herat was designated a most un-
justifiable and cruel aggression ; and intrigues were said
to be actively prosecuted throughout Afghanistan for
the purpose of extending Persian influence and authority
to the banks of, and even beyond, the Indus. Further,
it was said, the envoy in Persia had been compelled by
a refusal of his just demands, and by a systematic course
of disrespect, to quit the court of the Shah, and had
officially communicated, under the express order of Her -
Majesty’s Government, the necessity under which Great
Britain was placed to regard the advance of the Persian
arms against Herat as an act of hostility towards her-
self.

The preceding combination of events, denominated a
crisis of affairs, was stated, after serious and mature
deliberation, to have satisfied the Governor-General that
pressing necessity, as well as every consideration of
policy and justice, warranted the British Government
in espousing the cause of Shah Shooja, who when in
power had cordially acceded to measures of united re-
sistance to external enmity, and whose popularity
throughout Afghanistan was contrasted with the dis-
union and unpopularity of Dost Mahomed Khan and
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his brothers. The latter were represented as ill-fitted
under any circumstances to be useful allies to the
British Government, and to aid us in our just and
necessary measures of national defence. Allusion was
made to the tripartite treaty and its conditions, by
which the independence of the Ameers of Scinde and
the integrity of Herat were guaranteed. And hopes
were expressed that, from the measures completed or in
progress, the general freedom and security of commerce
would be promoted ; that the name and just influence
of the British Government would gain their proper
footing among the nations of Central Asia; that
tranquillity would be established upon the most im-
portant frontier of India, and that a lasting barrier
would be raised against hostile intrigue and encroach-
ment.

This proclamation, in which the words ¢ justice’ and
‘necessity,” and the terms ‘frontier,” ¢security of the
possessions of the British Crown,’ and ¢ national defence,’
were applied in a manner for which there is fortunately
no precedent in the English language, concluded as
follows :—¢ His Majesty, Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk, will
enter Afghanistan surrounded by his own troops, and
will be supported against foreign interference and
factious opposition by a British army. The Governor-
General confidently hopes that the Shah will be speedily
replaced on his throne by his own subjects and ad-
herents ; and when once he shall be secured in power,
and the independence and integrity of Afghanistan
established, the British army will be withdrawn.’

G
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How that British army performed its duty; how
the multifarieus hopes of the Government were realised ;
how the integrity of Afghanistan was re-established ; and
how the pledge of the withdrawal of the British troops
was fulfilled, will hereafter be related.




CHAPTER VI
SEPTEMBER-NOVEMBER 1838,

ASSEMBLY OF THE BENGAL TROOPS8 AT FEROZEPORE—DEBARKATION OF
THE BOMBAY DIVISION ON THE COAST OF SCINDE—PLAN OF THE
CAMPAIGN—RESIGNATION OF BSIR HENRY FANE—ASSUMPTION OF
COMMAND BY BIR JOHN KEANE.

A HEAVY rainy season, which continued to a late period
in the year, was not favourable to the march of troops
in part brought from distant cantonments ; but previous
warning having been given, the orders for the ren-
dezvous of the army at Kurnaul, issued on September
13, 1838, by the Commander-in-Chief in India, Sir
Henry Fane, found the corps prépared for.motion, and
by November 28 he had assembled at Ferozepore, under
his own personal command, a carefully-selected force of
14,000 men of all arms. The Shah’s contingent, under
British officers chosen by Sir Henry Fane, was also at
Ferozepore. Five months only had elapsed since the
commencement of its organisation, and as the service
was not popular, and the recruiting necessarily hurried,
the general appearance of the men was not very
soldierly, nor was their discipline in a forward state.
Under good officers, however, it was rapidly improving.
In strength the Shah’s contingent amounted to 6,000
e
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men of all arms, natives of the British provinces of
India, and equipped from the British magazines. The
whole available force was therefore at this point
20,000 men.

Simultaneous with the rendezvous of the Bengal
troops at Ferozepore was the debarkation on the coast
of Scinde of the Bombay division, amounting to 5,000
men of all arms, under the command of Sir John Keane.
They laboured under all the disadvantages of troops
landing from ship-board on no friendly coast, neces-
sarily without the means of movement and ignorant of
the country in which they had to act; but they enjoyed,
in consequence of their short sea-voyage and the neces-
sity it entailed of economising room, comparative free-
dom from the host of camp followers which was the
embarrassment of the Bengal divisions.

The British army, consisting altogether of 25,000
men, was thus in two bodies, separated from each other
by the whole length of the course of the Sutlej and
Indus, that is by a distance of 780 miles; the main body
at Ferozepore movable, but that on the sea-board of
Scinde, paralysed for a time by the want of camels or
other beasts of burden, immovable.

The main objects for which this army had been
assembled were the invasion of Afghanistan in order to
establish Shah Shooja; and the succour or recapture
of Herat, if the place should have fallen to the Persians.
The ancillary objects were the exaction of a heavy
subsidy from the Ameers, and the occupation of a part
of Scinde by a British force in support of the invasion
of Afghanistan. Vast political importance was attached
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to what was termed the integrity of Herat. To raise
the siege, or to retake the fortress, was the paramount
consideration to which all others were made subordinate.
Time, therefore, was of great moment, for the defence
had been obstinate, and it was hoped that the town
might hold out until succoured by the British advance.
Should this hope not be realised, it was still of the
utmost importance to attack the Persians before they
should have had time to fresh munition the fortress,
and to recover from the fatigues and exhaustion of a
long siege.

The periodical rains may be said as a general rule
to prescribe the season for the commencement of mili-
tary operations in India. The winter, during which
the highlands of Afghanistan are long covered with
snow, may be said likewise as a general rule to pre-
scribe the favourable time for military operations above
the passes. With reference to the distance of the point
of rendezvous, Ferozepore, from the various canton-
ments of the Bengal troops, and the period at which
the rainy season terminated, the army could not judici-
ously have been earlier put into motion than it was.
Assembled at Ferozepore in the end of November it had
before it the best season of the year for military opera-
tions in the plains of Scinde and the Punjab, whether
it moved in a north-west direction upon Attock, in
a westerly course straight upon Dera Ismael Khan,
or in a south-west direction upon Bukkur and Shikar-
pore.

The last of the three was the line selected. When
the plan of the campaign was formed—that is, before
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the retreat of the Persians had become known—the
principal object in view was the early succour of Herat,
and for the attainment of this object the south-west
route was undoubtedly the most favourable. Advanc-
ing by Dera Ismael Khan, the army would certainly
have had a shorter road into the interior of the Afghan
country. Ascending by the Gomul Pass, not then
known, however, and leaving Ghuznee to its right, it
might have struck off by the Ab Istadat and so reached
Candahar. But this route, though short, would never-
theless have involved greater delay than the more
circuitous one by the south, for snow lies longer on
the high ground at the head of the Gomul Pass and in
the neighbourhood of Ghuznee, and the country conse-
quently is longer impracticable for the movement of
troops. The same objection applied to the northerly
route by Attock upon Cabul ; and, moreover, the route
from Cabul to Herat is long and difficult for an invading
army. The route by Shikarpore on Candahar, there-
fore, though circuitous and demanding more abundant
means of transport, commissariat stores, provisions, and
troops, was yet the best adapted to the end in view—
an early appearance before Herat; and it was on this
ground that the Commander-in-Chief assented to the
advance of the Bengal column by a line of operations
which entailed so great a development of means.
The Commander-in-Chief had, however, little to say
to the plan of the campaign, or indeed to anything
but to the details regarding the conmstitution of the
force, which necessarily in a great measure devolved
upon him. The arrangements for the supply of the
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army, which it did not rest with him to initiate, were,
contrary to his wishes, deferred till too late a period,
and then thrown into the hands of the various politi-
cal functionaries. The latter, not acting in systematic
communication with each other and the commissariat
department of the army, exerted themselves zealously
but independently, and sometimes in competition with
the commissariat officers, thus enhancing the cost of sup-
plies to the Government.

The plan of the campaign originated in the political
negotiations which have been detailed, and was formed
without advertence to purely military considerations.
Taking the treaty between Runjeet Singh and Shah
Shooja, and the Shah’s campaign in 1834, as a basis,
the plan was at first confined to an exact imitation of
that series of operations. Burnes urgently pressed for
the presence of a regiment or two with the Shah ; Sir
Henry Fane would accede to no small detachment ;
then came the news of the failure of McNeill’s negotia-
tions before Herat, and his withdrawal from the Persian
camp ; and lastly was superadded the unwillingness of
the Ameers to admit the obsolete claims of Shah
Shooja, to have their treasury plundered for his
benefit and to see their country invaded without even
a plausible pretext. These various circumstances modi-
fied the strength and constitution of the force to be
employed, but they never affected the original plan of
operations. The Governor-General, anxious for the
cordial co-operation of Runjeet Singh, shrank from
exciting his apprehensions by a proposal to march
across his territories. It was felt that such a proposal
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could not fail to be disagreeable to the wary Sikh, who
had indeed willingly permitted the Shah’s son Timoor
to advance through the Punjab direct upon Cabul, en-
gaging also to support him with a Sikh contingent of
6,000 men, and to maintain a force in observation at
Peshawur, but who could not so easily have been
brought to accede to the passage of a large British
army.

The plan of the campaign thus, a close imitation of
the former unsuccessful enterprise of Shah Shooja,
presented no feature of originality, except the prominent
part taken by the British Government in operations
eminently characterised by an absolute disregard of all
sound military principles.

Of the 14,000 regular troops brought together at
Ferozepore, the chief part had been drawn from the
cantonments of Meerut, Kurnaul, and Delhi, though
some of the battalions had marched to the rendezvous
from the still more distant cantonments of Agra, Luck-
~ now, and Cawnpore, and even from Allahabad and
Benares. Meerut and Kurnaul thus weakened were
not correspondingly reinforced by the moving up of
troops to replace those withdrawn, so that although the
different military cantonments were not left wholly un-
provided, yet Cawnpore was the only station held in
force, and was distant from Meerut about 260 miles.
Admitting, however, that on an emergency the troops
occupying Kurnaul, Meerut, Delhi,and even Muttra and
Agra, could by a concentric movement have been with
tolerable rapidity brought together, still the reserve
thus assembled must have been about 250 miles from
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Ferozepore. The plan of the campaign was therefore -
as follows :—20,000 men, of whom 6,000 were raw
troops, were to start from Ferozepore and effect a
junction with a force of 5,000 men separated from
them by a distance of 780 miles of march. The latter,
being landed on the coast of Scinde without means of
motion and without a depdt of provisions, were entirely
at the mercy of the Ameers of Scinde, known to be
hostile to the military occupation of their country, and
having the power to cut off all supplies whether of food
or of beasts of burden.

In moving to effect this junction, only the pre-
liminary step to far more extended operations, Fane
was to have no reserve nearer than the scattered canton-
ments on the Jumna and Ganges with which to watch the
Sikh forces and insure Sikh fidelity. In maintaining
his communications with Ferozepore he must therefore
always feel that these were at the mercy of a large well-
appointed Sikh army at Lahore, which was only four
marches from the Sutlej, whilst his unconcentrated
reserve was 250 miles from the same point. In short,
he was to leave in his rear, and virtually in possession
of his communications, a large army which might act
against us at any moment that the will of an Eastern
despot, or his death, should render the measure agree-
able to Sikh politics, notoriously jealous of the establish-
ment of British power on the west of the Punjab.

If the forbearance of the Ameers, or their intimida-
tion, permitted the pacific march of the two bodies,
whose first duty was to enforce the levy of a heavy
subsidy and the cession, nominally for a time, of
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Bukkur and Shikarpore, with such other points as might
be deemed essential, the British commander was to
leave the injured and plundered rulers of Scinde and
their untried Belooch strength in his rear, and in
possession of  his communications, in order to advance
against Afghanistan.

That country was known to be rough and difficult,
and it was supposed to be inhabited by warlike tribes,
proud of their independence, bigoted in their faith,
and unlikely to endure a king forced on them by
British bayonets. Moreover, the resources of Afghan-
istan were poor, and the provisioning of an invading
Indian army, with its swarm of followers and cattle,
was a problem of doubtful solution. To form depots
of provisions in advance was impossible; no large
towns or rich districts lay on the route. To depend on
caravans of food from the rear, even if food could be
provided, involved heavy escorts ; for passes such as the
Bolan and the Khojuk, infested with plunder-loving
tribes knowing every step of their recesses, were not to
be passed with impunity by rich unguarded convoys ;
and it was fair to calculate that the chiefs of Candahar
would raise all the opposition in their power. Between
Sukkur and Candahar 404 miles were to be traversed,
through a country offering strong points; and to ensure
the maintenance of free communication with the rear,
a matter essential to the safety of the army, the whole
of this line of operations must be protected by a chain
of posts.

Arrived in Candahar, the British commander would
have, altogether, some 850 miles of communication
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through Scinde with Ferozepore; and before moving
onwards to Herat, 370 miles further, it would be neces-
sary for him to leave a strong detachment with Shah
Shooja to oppose Dost Mahomed, in case the latter
should advance from Cabul.

Thus, after leaving his original base, Ferozepore, at
the mercy of a powerful but doubtful ally, Runjeet
Singh ; and what may be termed his new base, Upper
Scinde, but too much at the mercy of the injured
Ameers ; it is evident that Fane could have brought to
Herat but a small force with which to repulse the
Persian army or to besiege and storm the fortress.

Throughout this long series of operations, extending
over 1,200 miles of country, a single serious check was
almost inevitable ruin, and nearly tantamount to de-
struction. The British commander could look for no
support, no reinforcements ; for his reserves, whether
the troops on the Ganges and Jumna or those in
the Bombay Presidency be regarded as such, were at
least 1,400 miles to his rear, and the intervening powers
were sure to be disaffected in case of reverse. Every-
thing in the expedition was matter of the utmost
uncertainty, even to the feeding of the troops, for
Afghanistan merited the character given to Spain by
the Fourth Henry of France: Invade with a large force,
and you are destroyed by starvation; invade with a
small one, and you are overwhelmed by a hostile people.
And as if to superadd ridicule to the dangers of the
enterprise, which was avowedly undertaken to relieve
or recapture a fortress famed for its strength, and
possibly defended by a large Persian artillery and
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Russian engineers, the complement of battering-guns
taken with the force was four eighteen-pounders.

In a few words, the plan of the campaign violated
in a glaring manner all usual military precautions.
Although in Eastern wars the leaders of our armies
have dared much, counting boldly on the inferiority of
discipline and organisation in the armies opposed to
them, yet never before, during the history of the
British power in India, had so wild, ill-considered, and
adventurous a scheme of far-distant aggression been
entertained.

The official intimation of the retreat of the Persians
from before Herat modified to some extent the scheme
of operations. Fane, naturally haughty, had brooked
with impatience the crude military ideas of men who,
ignorant of the very rudiments of war, had been en-
trusted by the Governor-General with arrangements for
which they were incompetent. Yet, confident in his
own powers, and in the force he had brought together,
the very hazard of the enterprise had until now pos-
sessed a charm for his soldier ambition. When, how-
ever, the safety of Herat reduced the approaching
operations in Afghanistan to the raising of a puppet
king under the pupilage of Macnaghten, his pride re-
volted at a position so humiliating for the Commander-
in-Chief of the Indian armies, and he relinquished the
command of the expedition. On November 30 it was
notified that, under the altered circumstances consequent
on the retreat of the Persians, the command of the
detachment of the Bengal army was to be assumed by
Major-General Sir Willoughby Cotton, and that the
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second division of infantry, under General Duncan, was
to stand fast at Ferozepore, also occupying Loodianah.

A small corps of observation was thus formed ; but
it was far too small to be of real utility as a check upon
the Sikh army, 40,000 strong, and it reduced the force
destined for Afghanistan by 4,500 men.

The troops, indifferent to the reduction of numbers,
heard with regret that Fane would not lead them, for
his many soldierly qualities had gained their respect,
and they were temporarily handed over to the command
of a man for whom they had none. Their future
leader, Sir John Keane, was unknown to them, save that
by common report he possessed courage. His qualities
for command had had no trial except at New Orleans.
There, unfortunately for his country, he was superseded
when on the point of attacking an enemy at the time
unprepared and incapable of offering effectual resist-
ance. For his successor’s delays and the failure of the
attack, which was not made until the proper moment
had long past, he was not responsible.

After the halt of the second division, the force for the
operations on the Indus and in Afghanistan amounted
to 20,500 men of all arms, of whom 6,000 were but
half-trained ; so that Keane could only calculate on
14,500 disciplined troops with which to effect the
various objects of the Government. Subsequently, as
will be hereafter noted, a reserve of 3,000 men was
landed at Kurrachee, but this was not until February 3,
1839. Of the 14,500 disciplined troops, 5,000 only
were with Keane at Vikkur, and 9,600 men were at
Ferozepore about to commence their march.
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No position could well have been more disagreeable
for a commander. Unable for want of transport to
move from the ground he occupied, without supplies,
and with the strength of Scinde, whatever that might
be, interposed between himself and the Bengal troops
780 miles distant from him, Keane had but a remote
prospect of effecting a junction between his two divisions
and bringing actually under his own hand the army of
which he was nominally in command.
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CHAPTER VII
OCTOBER 1838—FEBRUARY 1839.

STATE OF AFFAIRS IN SCINDE—BURNES'S NEGOTIATIONS WITH MEER
ROOSTUM—DIFFICULT POSITION OF THE BRITISH RESIDENT POT-
TINGER—ADVANCE OF KEANE FROM VIKKUR—CESSION OF BUKKUR
—MARCH OF THE BENGAL TROOPS TO CO-OPERATE WITH KEANE—
CONCLUSION OF NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE AMEERS OF HYDERABAD.

THE first information conveyed to Keane after his
landing, that on the morning of the 29th a shot had
been fired from the Ameers’ artillery park over the
resident’s tent, was an instructive commentary upon
Pottinger’s intimation that the troops were to land with
the concurrence of the Scinde Government, and that
the officer in command was to consider himself in a
friendly country. Coupled with the facts that no boats,
grain, or camels had been collected ; that orders had
been issued for the assembly of the Belooch army and
its rendezvous at Hyderabad; that the Ameers had
endeavoured to intimidate the owners of camels and the
boatmen from engaging themselves with the British
force ; and that attempts had been made to induce the
Ameer of Khyrpore to join the Hyderabad Ameers in
open war against the invaders ; the insult offered to the
resident opened Keane’s eyes to the real state of affairs.
He was still more enlightened when Pottinger joined his
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camp on December 9, and apprised him of the course
of preceding negotiations. '

The treachery of the Ameers had been, in the eyes
of the Governor-General, fully established by their
having written ¢ a slavish ureeza to the Shah of Persia,’
by their having treated with honour a self-styled Persian
prince to whom this complimentary letter was entrusted ;
by their communication to Shah Shooja, which was
designated insulting ; and by their announcement that
they would oppose the Shah’s advance. On such alleged
grounds, Lord Auckland had determined to establish a
British subsidiary force in Scinde at the earliest practic-
able moment, and being of opinion that such a measure
was ¢ just and necessary on the principle of a regard for
our future security,’ he directed that the reception of a
subsidiary force should be made a sine qud non in any
new engagement with the Ameers. As a spur to the
negotiations, use was to be made of the overtures which
the British Government had received from a descendant
of the old Kalora dynasty, then residing at Bikaneer,
whose pretensions might, the resident was informed,
be favourably regarded by the British Government,
should no member of the reigning family be found dis-
posed to accede to the arrangements deemed ¢ absolutely
indispensable to the safety and tranquillity of our Indian
possessions.” These negotiations were, however, not to
be pressed until the presence of British troops in Scinde
should give support to the authority of the resident.

Meanwhile, by a strange neglect of experience as to
the character and diplomatic conduct of Burnes, the
Governor-General had again selected him for the exer-
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cise of discretion on vague and indefinite instructions;
and he was, unfortunately for Pottinger, in Upper Scinde.
Baulked at Cabul, and sore at Macnaghten’s selection
for the post of envoy, he had been in some measure
soothed by the charge of a mission to Kelat. Had his
orders been consistent with his avowed office, no imme-
diate inconvenience might have ensued from his again
being invested with political functions; but this was
not the case. The most important part of his instruc-
tions consisted of a reference to the temporary cession
of Bukkur, and Lord Auckland’s readiness to enter into
a new treaty with Meer Roostum which should guarantee
the independence of Khyrpore and assure its ruler of
the protection of the British Government against all
external enemies. This treaty, indeed, was to be depen-
dent on contingent events at Hyderabad—for it was
palpable that transactions at Khyrpore were of secondary
importance. But such a provision was not likely to
suffice for the guidance of Burnes. Prior to actively
entering upon the duties of his new field, his ambition
had received no slight stimulus by the honour of knight-
hood, and, as before this he was ill able to brook the
secondary place assigned to him, he was now still less in-
clined to take a subordinate part in affairs. The news of
the retreat of the Persian army from before Herat having
arrived, Burnes found, in the middle of October, that the
Khyrpore Ameer was complimentary and full of pro-
fessions of friendship for the British Government. Meer
Roostum was not uninfluenced by the hope that the
retreat of the Persians, removing the main cause of the
contemplated operations in Afghanistan, might preserve
H



98 THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR.

Northern Scinde from the passage and occupation of
British troops. Burnes disabused the Ameer of any
such hopes, which were rather entertained than ex-
pressed, and spoke in such a manner asto call forth the
observation ¢ that it was very evident the jungles of
Scinde would soon be on fire if our wishes were not
met.” Meer Roostum and his advisers felt themselves
differently circumstanced from the Ameers of Hyder-
abad, and whatever their secret repugnance to the
advance of Shah Shooja, the facility with which either
the Sikh ruler or the Bengal force from Ferozepore, or
both together, could assail Northern Scinde rendered it
essential to self-preservation that all ebullitions of feeling
should be smothered in the presence of a man so hasty
and unsafe as the envoy of Kelat, whose conduct in
Cabul was well known in Scinde, and who was regarded
as a torch of discord. Meer Roostum was therefore
very complimentary to Burnes, and guarded in his
overt communications with the Ameers of Hyderabad,
to whom he wrote : ¢ Captain Burnes arrived at Khyr-
pore on October 18. In the first meeting I have only
welcomed him, and learnt from his expressions that
both he and Colonel Pottinger have been appointed by
the Governor-General of India to manage the affairs
of Scinde. You know that the English possess India
and many other extensive countries ; notwithstanding
the Sikhs are so aspiring, still they lean towards the
English with extreme friendship, harmony, and mutual
concord, as if they were of one party. In such a case
it is but foresight to make friendship with them, and
advisable to act according to Colonel Pottinger’s inclina-
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tion, that he may not be offended, for he is ambassador
and guest.” Thus, under the form of advice to Noor
Mahomed Khan and hisrelatives, Meer Roostum, without
compromising himself, conveyed to them, with the
cognisance of Burnes, the real reason of the temporising
policy of Khyrpore. In his secret communications,
Meer Roostum avowed himself ready to be guided by
Noor Mahomed Khan.

Burnes, deceived by what he deemed a sincere
instance of friendship and devotion, was still further
won by the show of confidence with which Meer
Roostum treated him in making him acquainted with
the contents of a letter received from Hyderabad. In
this letter Noor Mahomed wrote: ‘I have written to
you frequently since by messengers, and once by a camel
rider, and requested you to come to Sehwan. Colonel
Pottinger is here, and we have not settled with him till
we hear from you. Let me hear immediately what
Captain Burnes is doing. Why have you not sent your
son and acted with me? Your answer will decide all.
I am ready for peace and for war, so be quick.” Heed-
less of foregone negotiations and engagements, Burnes
had already forwarded an ill-considered draft of a treaty
to Pottinger for his approval. He now hastened to
convert into pledges the hopes held out by himself in
discussing thedraft treaty, and wrote to his Government :
¢ With such adherence, I feel quite at a loss to know
how we can either ask money, or any favour of this
family. I have never doubted their sincere disposition
to cling to us, but in their weak state I did not expect
such firmness in the day of trial.’

: %)
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Pottinger was not carried away by Burnes’s enthu-
siastic admiration of the conduct of Meer Roostum,
whose agents at Hyderabad had been less wary and
guarded than the more sagacious minister of the Ameer,
and had with considerable naiveté inquired from the
resident ¢ what could induce the Governor-General to
revive the obsolete question of the Scinde tribute to the
kings of Cabul’ The question had been accompanied
with the remark, ‘It is a joke talking of it as a demand
of the king ; you have given him bread for the last five
and twenty years, and any strength he has now, or may
hereafter have, proceeds from you, so that the demand
is literally yours.” And the resident had been at the
same time given to understand that Meer Roostum was
averse to the temporary cession of Bukkur and its
occupation by the British troops.

Pottinger therefore objected to the draft treaty,
which was a mere repetition of that already in full
force, with the two additions of fixing a British resident
at Khyrpore and taking that principality under British
protection. The first of these stipulations was wholly
unnecessary, as by existing treaties the resident was
competent either to reside at Khyrpore himself or depute
a subordinate. The second was a great and free boon,
which might prove embarrassing to the Government,
and was conferred without any sacrifice whatever on
the part of the Khyrpore Ameer.

Pottinger stated the terms on which he was pre-
pared to form a separate treaty with Meer Roostum
—but he added that it was unnecessary to point out
that the period for forming and carrying into effect
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such an arrangement had not then (October 29)
arrived.

Unhappily, on the same day on which Pottinger
issued his instructions to Burnes, curbing the precipitate
eagerness of the envoy of Kelat, the Governor-General
wrote his; and the latter were far more consonant to
Burnes’s views and wishes. The time being, in his lord-
ship’s opinion, arrived when a separate treaty guaran-
teeing the independence of Khyrpore might with all-
propriety be tendered, Burnes was empowered to enter
into a negotiation with Meer Roostum. With reference,
however, to the state of affairs at Hyderabad, which
rendered it advisable that Pottinger should press no
demands on the Ameers until, backed by the Bombay
force, he could do so with effect, Burnes was enjoined
the utmost secrecy in the communications he was
authorised to make to the Khyrpore chiefs regarding
the guaranteed independence of their territory. Thusit
so happened that on the self-same day Pottinger, on the
spot, and responsible for the state of political relations
with Scinde, issued one set of instructions to a person
acting in a subordinate political capacity, whilst the
Governor-General, distant from the scene of negotia-
tions, not only issued instructions of a diametrically
contrary nature, but by simultaneously empowering a
subordinate functionary to act in independence of his
principal, suddenly introduced an element of disorder
and confusion which might have proved seriously detri-
mental to the views of Government.

Hitherto. it had been the policy of the Governor-
General to acknowledge and support the paramount



102 THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR.

position of Noor Mahomed as the head of the confede-
racy of the Ameers ; but the defection of Meer Roostum
from the cause of his family, and the want of unanimity
among the Hyderabad Ameers themselves, now sug-
gested to the Governor-General that a sub-division of
authority might be productive of advantage. The
resident was accordingly further instructed that a
separate treaty might be formed with each Ameer on
the terms proposed to the Ameer of Khyrpore. The
latter, in consideration of the temporary cession of the
fort of Bukkur, was to be exempt from the payment of
subsidy ; but this privilege was not to be extended to
other members of the family, whose possessions were
to be guaranteed to them on the condition of their
agreeing to pay such quota of a fair and reasonable
subsidy as might be deemed proper to require from
them.

Keane, at the same time that he was apprised of
" the instructions which the resident had received, learnt
that the latter indulged no hope of carrying Lord
Auckland’s commands into effect. Pottinger felt himself
bound to inform the Governor-General that the an-
nouncement of the intention to station even a company
of Sepoys in Scinde would be the signal for a coalition
against the British and their plans; that no single
Ameer had expressed a heart-felt sentiment in admission
of the justice and necessity of the cause in which the

British Government had embarked ; and that not one

of them, nor the whole collectively, would willingly give
10,000 rupees to see the Governor-General’s measures
perfected. Moreover, the guarantee of their territories
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individually, without the payment of one farthing, but
coupled with the stipulation that a force was to be main-
tained in Scinde at the expense of the Indian Govern-
ment, was a proposal which would be rejected; and
with which compliance could only be obtained by
coercion.

The facility with which the Governor-General per-
sisted in flattering himself that the preliminary arrange-
ments in Scinde could be concluded, and the instructions
based on this assumption, evidently arose from a mis-
apprehension of the real state of affairs; and before
Keane could think of the ulterior operations in Afghan-
istan, it behoved him to extricate himself from the
awkward position into which he had been thrust, and
which any premature discovery of Lord Auckland’s
intentions towards the Ameers of Hyderabad could -
not fail of rendering much more embarrassing, and
probably dangerous. Pottinger felt this, and that he
must hazard no demand which he was not prepared
by force to exact, not only out of regard to the success
of such demand, but also with respect to the peculiarly
helpless condition of the troops at Vikkur. Camels
came in slowly in spite of all exertions, and the Bengal
troops were too distant to make themselves felt in
Scinde. Keane and Pottinger were therefore equally
desirous that no event should precipitate measures with
the Ameers, whom both felt to be at the moment under
very advantageous circumstances, if they either knew
or were accidentally excited, to seize them. Matters
were in this state in the middle of December, when
Burnes, who had never rested until he induced the
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Governor-General to grant him independent powers,
acting without reference to the state of affairs in Lower
Scinde, took a step marked with more than his cus-
tomary indiscretion, and calculated to bring on the very
difficulties which Keane was anxious to avoid, and which
Pottinger by patient temporising was staving off.

The injunctions of Government to Burnes regarding
secrecy had arrived too late. His negotiations at
Khyrpore had transpired, and had inflamed the sus-
picion of Noor Mahomed and his relatives. Their
altered tone towards the resident, and the measures
they adopted to assemble the Belooch force, evinced that
they had a clear appreciation of the policy which those
negotiations foreboded, and that they guessed the motive
of Pottinger’s studied procrastination in deferring all
questions of importance for the decision of Macnaghten.
Pottinger was therefore anxious that no further dis-
closures of the ultimate intentions of the Indian
Government should be inconsiderately made, and on
December 3 he wrote to Burnes inquiring whether the
latter deemed it advisable that the demands to be
brought before the Ameers of Hyderabad should be
delayed until there were means in Northern Scinde to
protect the grain depdts which Burnes was collecting
for the army. Pottinger knew that, by the time the
Bengal column approached Scinde, Keane’s force would
be in a condition to move; and every consideration of
policy and military precaution rendered the suggestion
a wise one. Burnes, who received it on December 9,
instead of paying attention to advice so wholesome,
and offered in a manner the most unpresuming, resolved
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at once to carry into effect the commands of the
Governor-General, and to tender the specified terms
to the chiefs of Upper Scinde, demanding a written
pledge that he was not answerable for any evils that
might immediately flow from their acceptance, and
that the Khyrpore Government was to become answer-
able that no harm befell the grain depdts. In tendering
the terms for acceptance they were contrasted with
what was to befall Hyderabad, and Burnes notified his
intention of withdrawing from Scinde if they should be
refused.

The reasons assigned for this ill-timed determina-
tion were the instructions of the Governor-General to
Pottinger suggesting the sub-division of authority by
the formation of separate treaties; and the allegation
that there was no chance for the next two months of
the grain dep6ts being better protected than they then
were. That allegation was incorrect, for there was
every prospect that the advance of the Bengal division
and the Shah’s force would be in Northern Scinde by
the middle of January. And it might have occurred
to Burnes that Pottinger was the best judge of the
proper time for carrying into effect instructions speci-
ally entrusted to his discretion.

Pottinger, receiving on the one hand instructions
from a Government which was either unable or un-
willing to apprehend the real state of affairs, and, on
the other hand, having to negotiate with a Government
thoroughly hostile in feeling, but balancing between
the evils of open war with vastly superior powers and
a dishonourable compact, tantamount to the relinquish-
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ment of its independence, had by his cautious bearing
avoided the errors into which his own Government
were pressing him to plunge, and had restrained the
Ameers of Hyderabad from an appeal to the pride and
courage of the Belooch tribes. Burnes's indiscretion
endangered all, and promised to increase tenfold the
difficulties with which he had long been patiently
struggling. Apprehensive of the possible consequences
of such ill-judged haste, he wrote to Burnes pointing
out that the pledge he had required was futile; that
the ill-advised and premature disclosure of the Governor-
General’s plan would, if it did not cause the Ameers
to commence hostilities, enable them to make prepara-
tions for resistance; that by looking only to his own
object of settling the petty question of Khyrpore he
jeopardised the safety of the officers at Hyderabad and
Tatta; and that the Ameers might at once cripple
Keane’s force by inducing the camel-drivers to desert
with their camels. The letter concluded with the obser-
vation that if Burnes could not carry out his measures at
Khyrpore without interfering with the affairs of Lower
Scinde, in however slight a degree, it was his duty to
have waited until he ascertained Pottinger’s sentiments.

This reproof was merited ; but what had been done
could not be recalled, and Keane found that he must
be prepared to contend not only against the difficulties
arising from the peculiar situation of his force, but also
against those which might arise from the unconcerted
action of independent political functionaries.

Burnes, elate with the independent powers he had
received, and with the measures he had pursued, wrote
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on December 17 to announce the latter to Cotton, as
also the probability of hostilities with Hyderabad, and
pressed for the rapid advance of the troops upon Scinde.

If Burnes gloried to Cotton in having thus done his
utmost to provoke the wrath of the Ameers, Keane by
no means partook of his satisfaction. Finding that the
Belooch army was assembling in his front, that hostilities
might at any moment commence, and that in that case
he must look to the security of his base and depéts at
Vikkur, and the maintenance of the communications of
the army with the sea-board, from whence alone it was
in the first instance sure of supplies, he hastened to
make use of the six remaining weeks of fine weather on
which he could depend, and pressed for the immediate
despatch of the reserve force from Bombay with four
months’ provision. Pottinger had on December 16
written to the Governor-General, deprecating the de-
spatch of the reserve on the grounds of the smallness
of the force ordered ; but in communication with Keane
he now altered his views, and on December 20 applied
to Bombay for the despatch of this additional force to
Kurrachee with all possible expedition, truly remarking
that even if the Ameers allowed Keane’s force to pass
quietly through the country, Scinde could not be left
on its then footing in rear of the army, and that Burnes
had already apprised the Ameers of the Governor-
General’s intentions with regard to the maintenance of
a subsidiary force. It was a fortunate circumstance that
this call for reinforcement was made and unhesitatingly
complied with.

It was now imperative that as little leisure should
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be afforded to the Hyderabad Ameers for hostile pre-
parations as circumstances permitted ; but Keane was
still hampered by the want of baggage cattle, and but
for the cordial aid of the Rao of Cutch, and the exer-
tions of a private native merchant at Kurrachee, he
would have been still longer forced to stand still at
Vikkur. The want of camels was far from being the
only need, for a great difficulty was the want of money
and the impossibility of raising it. Pottinger had above
twenty-five lacs of bullion, and yet could not raise 1,000
rupees for the use of the force. In spite of wants and
difficulties, however, Keane, anxious to make a forward
movement, advanced on December 24 with one half of
his division, the remainder following two days after.
On the 28th he reached Tatta, a position on the Indus
which insured his communications with Kurrachee, the
point of debarkation for the reserve he expected, and
was at the same time not so far from Vikkur but that
his line of operations by the river was well covered.
His heavy stores, ammunition and the like, having to
be moved by water, it was imperative that he should
jealously secure his river communications. Having
gained unopposed the position of Tatta, he could there
await, if advisable, the nearer approach of the Bengal
force, and the debarkation of the reserve, watch the
proceedings of the Ameers, and more easily than at
Vikkur obtain supplies from the surrounding country.
Pottinger had at first intended not to bring forward
the terms to be offered to the Hyderabad Ameers until
the arrival of the Bombay force before Hyderabad
should enable him to dictate, and if necessary enforce
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his demands; but the Government, anxious that the
expedition into Afghanistan should not be deferred to
another season in consequence of military operations in
Scinde, now notified its willingness to moderate its
requisitions both as to territory and treasure, and urged
Pottinger to a speedy and if possible amicable termination
of negotiations. The resident knew that the advance
of the Bengal troops had crossed the Indus on the 10th
and 11th at Gote Amil, and reached Sukkur on the
12th ; that Shah Shooja had, with his contingent, com-
menced the passage of the river on the 11th, seven
miles above Roree, and marched to Shikarpore; and
that the head-quarters, marching with the cavalry
brigade of the Bengal force, was not above ten or
twelve days in rear of the Shah, and might therefore
be expected about the time that the treaty would be
presented and discussed. The proximity of the force
could not fail to have effect ; and it was not unreason-
able to hope that the Ameers, who had refrained from
active hostilities against Keane when such could with
the greatest advantage have been entered upon, would
now feel that they had lost their opportunity. Pressed
by Government, therefore, and aware that the terms he
had to offer had long ceased to be a secret, Pottinger
resolved not to await, as originally intended, the arrival
of the army at Hyderabad, and on January 18 he
despatched a draft treaty for the acceptance of the
Ameers.

Keane advanced from Tatta on January 23 by the
road on the right bank of the Indus, and on the 25th
reached Jurrukh, a place two marches from Hyderabad,
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where he was forced to halt to allow the ammunition
and provisions coming by water to close up to him.
While at Jurrukh he learnt that the Ameers had re-
jected the proffered treaty; that the Belooch were in
strength at Hyderabad ; and that hostilities appeared
inevitable. He thereupon wrote to Fane stating his
position, and his intention of crossing the Indus where
he best could; and called for the march of a part of
the Bengal force down the left bank of the Indus to
co-operate with the Bombay troops in a movement on
Hyderabad.

Fane had, however, anticipated the call, for having
received a letter from Keane of January 15 announcing
that Pottinger was about to despatch the treaty on the
acceptance of which the question of war or peace
depended, he had at once advised Cotton to push for-
ward a part of his force. Advice from Fane was a
command, and Cotton prepared to execute the move-
ment as soon as his rear should close up. Orders for
the march of 5,600 men of all arms, were accordingly
issued on the 27th, but the departure of the troops was
delayed until the cession of Bukkur and its occupation
by a British garrison should be completed.

On January 26, Meer Roostum and his brothers
waited on Fane, and received from his hands the
separate treaty ratified by the Governor-General on
January 10, 1839, by which the Khyrpore Ameer
entered into subordinate alliance with the. Anglo-
Indian Government; the latter, in return, binding
itself not to covet one jot of his country, and to
protect the principality and territory of Khyrpore.
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Meer Roostum was exempted from the payment of
tribute to the Shah or subsidy to the British Govern-
ment, but by a separate article the occupation of
Bukkur during war was ceded. This fort, occupying a
rocky island in the Indus where the river takes a
sudden turn to break through a limestone ridge, was a
place of no real strength except from the circumstance
of its insular position. In Scinde, however, its reputa-
tion was great, and as it commanded the most eligible,
because the narrowest, point for the bridging of the
mighty stream, its occupation was a matter of some
temporary importance. In the East the surrender of a
fortress is always felt a disgrace; and the cession of
Bukkur, to which an exaggerated idea of strength and
importance had long been attached, was a source of
sorrow to the aged Ameer of Khyrpore, who felt
humiliated by so open and manifest a token that his
independence was at an end. There were doubts,
therefore, whether quiet possession would be yielded,
and the march of the Bengal troops towards Hyderabad
was delayed until the fort should have been secured.
Notwithstanding Fane’s anxiety to save time, the 27th
and 28th were passed before Burnes succeeded in
obtaining the formal surrender of the keys; for the
news of the rejection of the treaty by the Ameers of
Hyderabad threw the Khyrpore Ameers into doubt,
and made them hesitate on taking so decided a step as
that of the cession of Bukkur. If hostilities ensued,
and fortune smiled on the Belooch arms, the surrender
of the fortress would seriously compromise the Ameers
of Khyrpore with their brethren, They shrank, there-
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fore, from incurring the odium of a measure which,
unpopular under any circumstances, might prove to
have been traitorously impolitic. But, having put off
the delivery of the keys as long as appeared compatible
with safety, the Khyrpore Ameers at length yielded,
and, intimidated by the presence of a force with which
they felt themselves wholly unequal to cope, made over
the keys to Burnes on January 29, 1839. The matter
having been settled, a wing of the 35th N.I. and the
flank companies of the 16th N.I. were embarked in
boats, and pushed across to the island of Bukkur. To
the last, doubts were entertained whether the fort
would be quietly given up; and Cotton’s want of
arrangement on this occasion was well calculated to
encourage opposition. The garrison was, however,
seen to embark on board boats and quit the fort before
the troops were half across the noble breadth of water
which lay between the British camp and the rock of
Bukkur; and when they reached the island and
scrambled on shore the place was at once surrendered.
In mockery of respect to Meer Roostum’s sovereign
rights his flag was displayed on the ramparts, and a
guard of Beloochees permitted to attend it; but our
colours were also uncased upon the walls, and the
Sepoys, who shouted to see the ensign of British power
float domineeringly over the magnificent river at their
feet, knew well that where once planted in the East
that emblem of dominion was seldom known to be
struck.

On the morning of the 30th the troops destined to
co-operate with the Bombay division moved southwards
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under Cotton, marching by the direct road on the left
bank of the Indus upon Hyderabad. A detachment
of the Shah’s contingent advanced from Shikarpore
upon Larkhana almost simultaneously with Cotton.
Fane had thus put in motion for Keane’s support
a larger force than Keane had under his own hand;
for on the left bank Cotton was at the head of
5,600 men, whilst the parallel column on the right
bank of the river under Simpson was of about half
that strength.

Meanwhile, however, negotiations had been reopened
by the Ameers of Hyderabad, and Keane remained at
Jurrukh awaiting their result. Aware of the orders
issued on the 27th for the advance of the Bengal
division, and that Bukkur, ceded by treaty, would
without doubt be in the hands of the British, the
Ameers awoke to the fact that they were about to
plunge single-handed into a contest with upwards of
21,000 men in Scinde, 15,000 of whom were good
troops provided with excellent artillery. They, there-
fore, sent a vakeel to Pottinger to reopen negotiations,
and to intimate a desire to accept the terms of the
proffered treaty after a satisfactory explanation of two
of its articles should have been afforded. The golden
opportunity for attacking Keane’s isolated, ill-pro-
visioned, and unmovable force had been lost; time
had been given to equip and move; and the position
of the Ameers was now far different from what it had
been two months before. From 15,000 to 20,000
Belooch troops were concentrated at Hyderabad ; but,
however brave individually, they lacked the discipline

1
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for which the Anglo-Indian army is renowned, and they
felt themselves vastly inferior in cavalry and artillery,
potent arms in a plain-country like Scinde. It was no
longer a question whether 15,000 or 20,000 Beloochees
could overwhelm Keane and his paralysed force at
Vikkur, but whether they could maintain a contest
with superior numbers, discipline, and equipment ; for
to the 21,000 men in Scinde was to be added the
Bombay reserve, with the strength of which the Ameers
were necessarily ignorant, but which they knew would
prove a considerable accession of force. The advantage
derivable from their concentrated position, and the
isolated condition of the columns moving against them,
was rather apparent than real. To cross such a river
as the Indus with the view of attacking Keane was a
delicate operation in front of an alert enemy, who
might contest the passage; and a defeat on the right
bank exposed the capital and its treasure as an easy
prey to Cotton. To march against the latter was more
feasible; but a considerable force must be left to occupy
Hyderabad, watch Keane, and oppose his passage of
the river, should he, as was probable, attempt to cross.
Their force thus divided, they would have attacked
Cotton without any great superiority of numbers, and
with a great inferiority in serviceable artillery and good
cavalry. Having committed the grave errors of losing
two months without an endeavour to harm Keane when
in a critical position, and of affording time for the
assembly in Scinde of 21,000 fighting men, the Ameers
of Hyderabad now wisely resolved not to risk their
power and country by an ill-timed appeal to arms,
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Pottinger received their deputation, but feeling that
every day strengthened his position, and that he was in
a condition to dictate terms, he added to those already
preferred the old demand of the payment of tribute to
Shah Shooja, limiting the amount to twenty-one lacs of
rupees.

Keane, uncertain of the effect of the diplomatic
notes and measures, contemplated, in case of the re-
jection of the treaty and the renewed requisition, cross-
ing the Indus in face of the Belooch army, and opposite
to the capital, depending upon the fire of his artillery
and the steadiness of his troops to enable him to effect
the passage.

The transport of infantry and cavalry in flat square-
headed unmanageable boats across a river of swift
stream, and averaging a thousand yards of breadth,
would have been tedious, and, in front of & numerous
enemy, extremely hazardous; for Keane would have
found that the fire of his artillery, whatever its precision,
would have afforded weak support to the boats full of
troops, swept down by the stream, and landing where
and how they best could, on banks covered with thick
wood. Fane, a more able soldier than Keane, and alive
to the hazard of such an operation, was not free from
anxiety for the result. Contemplating the possibility of
serious hostilities, and of a siege of Hyderabad, he in-
structed his engineers to be prepared, if ordered, to
break up the nearly completed bridge at Bukkur, and
embarking battering-guns, ammunition, engineer park,
artillery, and sappers and miners, to drop down the
river with all speed to the neighbourhood of Hyderabad.

13
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Keane, however, was spared the fulfilment of his
bold enterprise; for on February 1, the intimidated
Ameers of Hyderabad announced to Pottinger their
readiness to accede to the terms of the proffered treaty,
and to the now superadded, though once relinquished,
exaction of tribute to Shah Shooja. In consequence
of this favourable turn of negotiations, orders were
despatched to Cotton to halt the Bengal column. This
reached him on the 7th ; and on February 9 he received
further instructions, directing him to countermarch his
force on Roree; for Keane, having on the 3rd marched
from Jurrukh, and reached Kotree, opposite to Hyder-
abad, on the following day, had there been informed of
the arrival of the reserve on February 2, at Kurrachee.

In consequence of shots fired from the Kurrachee
fort, the ¢ Wellesley’ had battered down its southern face.
As the Ameers had notified their acceptance of the
treaty, there was now little doubt of their submission,
and of the final settlement of affairs without recourse to
arms, but Pottinger, on receipt of the news, intimated
to the Ameers that a shake of their lip would bring
upon Hyderabad the same fate that the ¢ Wellesley ’ had
inflicted on Kurrachee. The threat was unnecessary,
for the Ameers, sensible that the time for opposing the
British was passed, had determined to succumb ; and,
on February 7, began to pay the first instalment of the
tribute money, completing the delivery of ten lacs of
rupees by the evening of the 9th.

The treaty having been signed by the Ameers,
Keane now issued orders for the march of the Bombay
column upon Shikarpore; upon which place, by the
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route of Roreé, Cotton with the Bengal column was
also in full march on the 10th.

Thus was concluded the overthrow of the indepen-
dence of rulers, our allies by treaty, whom we professed
to befriend and to secure, at the time that we sanc-
tioned and instigated an obsolete demand for tribute
preferred against them by a puppet king of our own
raising ; and unscrupulously subjugated their country,
on the plea that it was an integral part of Hindustan,
and that its occupation was essential for the defence of
our frontier and the peace and security of India.

If want of truth characterised the reasons put forth
for the invasion of the friendly territory of Scinde,
want of common acquaintance with the rudiments of
war marked the course pursued in effecting it. The
measure was as imbecile in conception as it was iniqui-
tous in principle.

To argue in its favour from its fortuitous success,
is to overlook the most palpable of errors. The first
step in the scheme of operations was to jeopardise a
British force of 5,000 excellent troops, landing them,
without means of movement or subsistence, in a country
where the very fact of their appearance in so helpless
a condition might have been the signal for a harassing
system of hostilities which, without compromising the
Belooch, would not improbably have worn out and
destroyed the invaders. No one could calculate on the
injured princes proving so weak and vacillating, so
blind to the opportunity thrust upon them, that they
should fail to strike in defence of their country and
rights, when a mere handful of men was thrown on
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their shores, helpless from want of cattle and provisions,
and distant more than 700 miles from any armed aid.

All camels and camel-drivers, boats and boatmen,
were, as well as provision, within the grasp of the
Ameers, and but for an extreme solicitude to avoid
rupture with the powerful British Government, every
motive which could actuate brave men pointed out
that it was better to fight for independence, and timely
to resent invasion, than to wait until plans should be
matured, and scattered forces concentrated on their
coveted territory, in order to constrain them to accept
terms alike a dishonour to those who proffered and to
those who were to receive them.

The discreet conduct of Pottinger, neither to be
driven into injudicious measures by the miscalculating
haste and eagerness of his own Government, nor to be
disturbed from a patient and firm bearing by angry
negotiations with incensed princes, gained time when
most essential, and, by preventing the outbreak of
hostilities at an early stage, enabled the presence of
21,000 men in Scinde subsequently to exact submission
to the humiliating conditions which he was aware
nothing but force could induce the Ameers to entertain.
The instructions of the Government, suggestive of
almost everything most- ill-timed, even to the kindling
of a civil war; and the want of consideration and
sagacity in Burnes; would, but for Pottinger’s forbear-
ing policy, have brought on a conflict with the Ameers,
and delayed the invasion of Afghanistan until Scinde
should be conquered, an operation which might have
taken time to complete.
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The simultaneous launch upon Scinde of the envoys
‘Macnaghten, Burnes, and Pottinger, and the com-
manders Keane, Fane, and Cotton, all to a certain ex-
tent independent authorities, having very partial inter-
communication or general understanding with each
other, was another remarkable feature in these pre-
liminary transactions. Fortunately Pottinger had dis-
cretion, Fane decision and a commanding temper, and
Keane courage and confidence ; otherwise affairs might
have been very seriously compromised by the jarrings
of triplicate envoys, and triplicate commanders, and
the want of concert amongst the isolated columns of
the latter.
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CHAPTER VIIL
FEBRUARY-APRIL 1889.

BRIDGING OF THE INDUS—ADVANCE OF THE BENGAL DIVISION INTO
BELOOCHISTAN — THE BOLAN PASS — ADVANCE OF THE BOMBAY
DIVISION—FAILUBE OF FORAGE AND SUPPLIES—EKEANE'S ARRIVAL
AT QUETTA.

THE reserve force being in possession of Kurrachee, and
the Ameers having accepted the treaty and completed
the payment of the first instalment of tribute, Keane
felt himself at liberty to enter upon that which was
entitled ¢ the grand object of reinstating Shah Shooja on
the throne of Afghanistan.” As late as February 6,
Macnaghten, in entire ignorance of the state of affairs
at Hyderabad and of the intentions of Pottinger and
Keane, was in anxiety in consequence of the delay in
settling Scinde, which appeared to threaten the loss of a
whole season, a period in which, he observed, ¢it is
impossible to say” what may happen to prevent the
success of our grand enterprise.’ Under these appre-
hensions he urged that if the state of affairs were such
that Sir John Keane required the co-operation of the
Bengal column, the subjugation of Scinde and the inva-
sion of Afghanistan might, notwithstanding, be simul-
taneously carried on; the Shah’s contingent being
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strengthened by a brigade of the regular army, a regi-
ment of native cavalry, and a sufficient proportion of
field and battering-guns, and thus enabled to undertake
without delay the advance upon Candahar, the disposal
of Dost Mahomed, and the despatch of a detachment to
Herat. This suggestion reached Hyderabad after the
Ameers had submitted, and Keane was already in
motion up the left bank of the Indus, purposing to
reach Shikarpore about the 4th or 5th of March. His
troops were still much straitened by the want of camels,
and there was the greatest uncertainty as to obtaining
supplies on the route selected ; nevertheless he deter-
mined to push on, trusting to fortune in the absence of
those pre-arrangements which the exercise of foresight
might have insured.

Cotton was simultaneously in motion, returning by
the same route on which he had advanced down the
left bank of the Indus. Upon his arrival at Roree, he
found that on February 9 the artillery park, consisting
of seventy ordnance carriages and 212 bullock carts,
had passed over to the right bank, and that on the 13th
the heavy guns had been crossed over on platformed
rafts of boats coupled together, the embarkation and
disembarkation of the eighteen-pounders having been
facilitated by pier-heads constructed on each bank of
the river. There was nothing, therefore, to retard the
immediate passage of the troops, who crossed over by
brigades on successive days, accompanied by their bag-
gage, and were by the 18th all on the right bank
of the Indus, having effected the passage without
accident.



122 THE FIBRST AFGHAN WAR.

The construction of a bridge of boats is not difficult
where no opposition is offered, where boats, material,
and practised men are abundant, and where the stream
is moderate. The breadth-of the river, provided means
are ample, makes little difference. But in this instance,
boats were scarce ; the platform timbers of the bridge
had in part to be floated from Ferozepore to Sukkur,
and there to be sawn up; the supply, thus brought with
much labour from a great distance, was insufficient ;
and there was nothing to be had on the spot but the
khugoor palms, which when felled and split were used
in lieu of timbers. Rope had to be manufactured, and
anchors had to be made; for the Indus at Bukkur is
narrowed to a total breadth of 500 yards, and the
main body of its waters flowing between Bukkur and
Roree through a channel of 367 yards in breadth, it
rushes over its rocky bed with an impetuous current;
the use of heavy anchors is therefore imperative. With
Sappers untrained to such operations, and with a few
Scindian boatmen whose language was not understood,
these difficulties had to be overcome and the work con-
structed. It was several times in jeopardy, and once
was yearly swept away by a sudden rise in the river ;
it was further constantly endangered by the action of
boughs and trees caught by the cables and swayed by
the swift stream with an incessant vibratory motion
that wore quickly through the cables and gave them
the appearance of having been cut with a sharp instru-
ment. Much vigilance and exertion was therefore re-
quired, both to complete and then to maintain the
structure. It proved of great service to the army,
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enabling about 38,000 troops and camp-followers, 30,000
camels, the field artillery of the force, the ordnance
carriages of the park, and the long train-of bullock-
carts, to effect the passage of this noble river rapidly,
easily, and safely. The chief engineer, Thomson, was
justly praised for opening the campaign by a successful
work of such utility and magnitude; for, to have
bridged the Indus was a fact at once impressive and
emblematic of the power and resources of the army
which thus surmounted a mighty obstacle.

Fane saw the force pass to the right bank and then
took leave of the army, the command of which had
devolved upon Keane. His farewell was read with
feelings of regret. Of a commanding presence, which
accorded with a character strict, stern, and decided, he
had acquired the confidence of men and officers ; and
though he was untried in Indian warfare, the troops
augured well of his qualities for the conduct of an
expedition which without him was likely to want a
master spirit.

Fane’s farewell to the troops praised them for their
discipline, and for their conciliatory behaviour towards
the inhabitants of the countries through which they had
passed. He did them but justice; for 9,500 fighting-
men, accompanied by upwards of 28,000 camp-followers,
and 30,000 camels, had performed a march of altogether
600 miles, not only without an act of atrocity, but
without a serious complaint of plunder or ill-usage—a
fact alike creditable to the excellent discipline of the
troops, and to that which has great influence indepen-
dently of discipline, the orderly and considerate disposi-
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tion natural to the Bengal Sepoy, who, himself in
general from the agricultural classes, has always
sympathy with the cultivator.

Six hundred miles of march performed inseventy days
had, however, already taken effect on the baggage-cattle
of the troops ; the camels were beginning to suffer, and a
proportion to be disabled ; and the horses of the cavalry
and artillery were also deteriorated in condition, the
march from Roree towards Hyderabad and back again
to Roree having proved very trying, especially to the
horses in harness. These effects were not attributable
only to the distance traversed. The want of forage
had been a frequently recurring evil ; the camels were
very generally overloaded, and they were in such
quantities that the food in the neighbourhood of a
halting-place generally sufficed only for those of the
leading camp, and the baggage-cattle of every succeed-
ing camp had to stray further in search of grazing
ground. In proportion as they gradually fell off in
strength, in consequence of constant work under heavy
loads, they took a longer time to accomplish a march,
and had, therefore, less time for rest and grazing; and
this, coupled with often having far to wander for food,
was speedily destructive of their efficiency; add to
which that in Scinde the camels fed chiefly upon the
tamarisk, a plant which proved injurious to those which
had been accustomed to the various kinds of mimosa
and thorny shrubs, which form the usual food of the
camel in Hindustan. In two important branches of
efficiency, namely camels and horses, the Bengal force
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under Cotton when it reached Sukkur had therefore
suffered.

By February 20, with the exception of the 85th
Regiment N.I, left to garrison Bukkur, the whole
force was assembled at Shikarpore, where, including the
Shah’s contingent, 16,600 men of all arms awaited with
eagerness the order to advance. Keane was aware that
time was of great importance, and he must have known
that the above force, fully equipped and ready for
movement, would be at Shikarpore on or about the
20th, by which time the Bombay division could not be
further north than Sehwan, and therefore at a far greater
distance from the mouth of the Bolan Pass than Cotton’s
division. Keane ought, therefore, to have hastened to
place himself at the head of the main mass of his army,
regarding the Bombay troops as the rearward of his
advancing columns, and entrusting them to Willshire.
Once in communication with the envoy and Shah
Shooja, he would have been better able to judge how
the advance should be made and what arrangements
were to be adopted for maintaining the communications
of the army with the new base of its operations, Shikar-
pore. This obvious course never appears to have
occurred to him, for he remained long watching the
slow progress of the Bombay division.

Macnaghten, pressed by his Government to expedite
the advance into Afghanistan, and brooking impatiently
the delay in Scinde, was desirous of pushing forward as
soon as Cotton should arrive ; and it happened that the
information which he received on the evening of the
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20th, afforded him grounds for urging the necessity of
an immediate advance of the force.

It was already known that Shah Kamran had ordered
Pottinger and Stoddart to quit Herat. The former of
these officers had granted bills upon the credit of the
British Government to large amounts ; the exigencies of
the siege had at first been the reason for such advances,
but they had been continued when the Persian army
retreated from before Herat, in order to preserve the
wretched inhabitants from starvation. Moreover, the
king and his chiefs had to be supported by an allowance ;
the ordinary sources of revenue having failed, some
of them, such as the traffic in slaves, being repugnant to
the newly existing connection with the representatives
of the British Government. Notwithstanding the
liberality of Pottinger however, Kamran and his Wazeer,
Yar Mahomed, could not abstain from exactions and
from a line of conduct towards the Heratees which,
though doubtless in unison with their own ideas of
power and its legitimate exercise, were made the subject
of objection and remonstrance on the part of the British
officers. Pottinger and Stoddart became, therefore,
obnoxious to Shah Kamran and his minister, and the ill
feeling was increased by a delay on the part of the
Indian Government in honouring the bills which
Pottinger, without authority to warrant such payments,
had granted. Discussions ensued, ending in no dignified
conduct on the part either of the Wazeer or of Pottinger,
and the British officers were ordered to leave the Herat
territory. Stoddart did so, and proceeded to Bokhara,
but Kamran und his minister, becoming alarmed at the
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length to which matters had proceeded, now requested
Pottinger to defer his departure. He complied with
the request, but was shortly again subjected to insult,
and a rough altercation followed between Pottinger and
the Wazeer which left little prospect that a good under-
standing with the Herat ruler could be maintained.

In the meantime the Persians still held Ghorian, and
McNeill continued to write in a tone of alarm to Burnes,
and to dwell on the intentions of the Shah to renew
operations against Herat. Burnes added fuel to the
flame which McNeill’s despatches were calculated to
excite, by reporting that Vicovich was accompanying
the Candahar chiefs and forces to Herat with the view
of capturing the place.

Such communications kept alive solicitude for the
integrity of Herat; and on February 20 Macnaghten
received the further intimation that the Bolan Pass was
about to be occupied in force and the passage of the
army there contested. The receipt of this information
produced a consultation between Macnaghten, Burnes,
and Cotton, at which it was hastily decided to advance
at once into the Bolan Pass, without a prior reference
to Keane, in order to secure that entrance into Afghan-
istan. The next day Cotton issued corresponding orders
to the force, the advanced portion of which, consisting of
the engineers and sappers, strengthened by a detach-
ment of infantry and native cavalry, was to march on
February 22. _

The Shah and the contingent had been at Shikarpore
upwards of a month when the forward movement was
determined, and the interval might have been employed
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to great advantage in ascertaining the supply of water
and forage available for the advancing force throughout
the ten marches which lay between Shikarpore and
the mouth of the Bolan Pass. A very ordinary
degree of foresight thus exercised would have saved the
cattle of the army much needless distress, and greatly
diminished the loss which ensued. Grain might have
been sent on from Shikarpore, forage collected from
the surrounding country upon the line of route, and
precautions taken as to water. Time, men, and means
were ample for the execution of such obvious and
essential measures; but the army soon learnt that it
might abound in envoys and major-generals, yet griev-
ously suffer from a lack of foresight.

The distance between Shikarpore and Dadur is 171
miles, ninety-six of which are over a comparatively
desert country, in which the villages are far asunder,
water scarce and bad, and farage even of the poorest
description very difficult to procure. Thirty-nine miles
from Shikarpore this inhospitable tract first presents
itself ; and for a space of twenty-six miles the Pat,
as it is termed, offers neither blade of grass, bush,
nor water, but an even surface of arid, friable, saline
soil, crispy under foot like hoar frost, and glistening
by moonlight in a manner not dissimilar. This boun-
dary between Scinde and Cutch Gundava being passed,
the country is not so absolutely sterile; but it is still
comparatively a desert. Later in the year than the
troops were to cross, that is from April to August, the
passage of the plains of Gundava is an undertaking of
peril, for the burning heat of the sun and the pestilen-
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tial exhalations of the soil are often fatal to the man
who dares them. The end of February was a favourable
season for crossing the Pat and the barren country be-
yond it; and had the antecedent month’s leisure of the
cavalry of the contingent been devoted to collecting,
upon the line to be traversed, one or more depéts of
grain, and supplies of forage at every halting-place, the
march to Dadur might have been effected with small
loss and inconvenience, and the cattle would have been
in better heart for the difficulties and privations which
awaited their onward progress. Instead of sweeping
the surrounding country of the only fodder procurable,
namely, straw or stalk of the jowar and bajra grains,
which is always carefully stored by the villagers as
provender for their cattle, the troops were marched
into this tract of country as if upwards of 3,000 horses
and 30,000 camels were in the possession of miraculous
powers of abstinence.

At Shikarpore it had become known that the Bombay
division and its commissariat must depend upon the aid
of the commissariat of the Bengal division to furnish
both camels and provision. This unforeseen demand
did not diminish the difficulties of the single department
upon which the onus of supplying an additional and a
distant division was thrown ; and having regard to the
fact that no preparations had been made in advance,
no depdts of grain or fodder established, and that it
was impossible to calculate upon any supplies but such
as the force carried with it or brought up from the
rear, the exercise of common prudence was impera-
tive. Fifteen thousand fighting men, accompanied by

K
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Shah Shooja and his court, were to move on one line
to Dadur; and upwards of 5,000 men by another on
the same point; from thence both bodies were to ad-
vance on the same route upon Candahar. The division
which landed with Keane ran little chance of being
much encumbered by followers, but the 15,000 men at
Shikarpore, with a march of 380 miles before them
through a difficult and miserably poor country, from
which little or no aid in supplies could be expected,
might well have spared a part of its mass of non-
combatants. Taking the most moderate estimate, there
were not less than 80,000 men at Shikarpore, only
15,000 of whom were combatants, dependent on the
commissariat for food. The army was proceeding into
a sterile mountainous country equipped exactly in the
same manner as if for service in the plains of India;
whereas every consideration pointed out the expediency
and necessity of adapting the number of mouths to be
fed, and the equipage of the force, to the entirely
different climate and country in which it was to act.
No attempt was, however, made to limit the numbers
of an embarrassing rabble, nor to diminish the lumber-
ing baggage of the force. Common sense demanded
that resources should be husbanded, and needless
mouths be left where they could be fed without in-
curring risk to the expedition from the consumption of
rations sure to be required for the fighting men. The
display of foresight and of common sense at the opening
of this campaign were, however, on a par.

The troops which were to lead marched on Feb-
ruary 22. They were followed by the cavalry on the
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23rd, and by the brigades of infantry on successive
days; Shah Shooja and the contingent, strengthened
by a brigade of regular troops, bringing up the rear.
A battalion of infantry and a regiment of cavalry from
the contingent were left at Shikarpore.

The leading body crossed the Pat on the night of
the 24th, reaching Bushor on the morning of the 25th ;
but finding the supply of water bad and insufficient,
the engineer camp moved on to Meerpore on the 26th,
accomplishing fifty-seven miles in forty-eight hours.

The cavalry, though marching by half-regiments,
was much distressed in the advance from Shikarpore
to Bushor by waut of water and forage, and the possi-
bility of a retrograde movement in consequence of the
dearth of these necessary supplies was contemplated ;.
but the officer sent forward to learn what promise
the country held out was directed to return with the
opinion of the engineer, Thomson, that at all hazards
the cavalry should come on, as a retrograde movement
at that time would be the ruin of the expedition. Thom-
son also intimated that he, with his small body of troops,
would march on, whatever the course pursued by the
cavalry. Thus early, however, did the want of timely
and feasible arrangement for a moment endanger the
conduct of operations.

By March 10, Cotton’s force was assembled at Dadur.
The horses had suffered severely from want of forage.
from deficiency and badness of water, and from obtain-
ing a partial supply of green wheat or barley, which
proved most destructive to their condition and efficiency.
The camels, rapidly disabled by want of food, by the

x2
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heat of the weather, and by the fatigue of long marches
and heavy loads, were dying fast; and the Beloochees
had learnt from several successful sweeps, in which
they carried off considerable booty, that a golden
harvest awaited them when the columns and the bag-
gage should once be engaged in threading the mountain
passes. These losses in the open plains were very dis-
creditable to the vigilance of the force, but it seemed
the opinion that no effective measures to secure the
line of march should be taken for fear of exciting the
hostility of the Belooch tribes; and Burnes, when in-
formed that in consequence of an attack upon a hospital
waggon, and the wounding of some sick, orders had
been issued to the leading detachment that the parties
covering the line of march were at liberty to act against
marauders, complained to Cotton against instructions
which he characterised as ¢ bloodthirsty and calculated
to bring on a blood feud.’

No supplies had been obtained between Shikarpore
and Dadur, and great difficulty was already experienced
in bringing them up from the rear, a difficulty not
diminished by the necessary diversion of camels for the
aid and supply of the Bombay division. On March 8
it had been found advisable to place the camp-followers
on half-rations; yet no steps were taken at Dadur,
before plunging into the defiles. of a barren mountain
country, to send back part of the non-combatants and to
reduce the baggage. Cotton contented himself with
directing that a better road than that between Bagh
and Dadur should be made through the Bolan Pass,
replying, when informed of the nature of the defile and
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the degree of clearance which could be effected, that
¢ the stones might be broken !’

The army was now to surmount a pass of much
celebrity, but before entering upon this portion of its
labours, rest was essential to the jaded cattle, and for
commissariat arrangements. Accordingly a halt of five
days was made at Dadur, but a detachment of cavalry
and infantry under a good soldier, Cureton, was at once
sent on to form the advance of the force, escort Burnes
proceeding to Kelat, and cover the engineers, who
moved into the Pass on March 11, with the view of
rendering it practicable for the troops. The main
body remained at Dadur until the 16th.

The ascent from the plains of the Indus to the high-
lands of Afghanistan is not effected by one sudden rise,
but is spread over a considerable extent of country,
throughout which parallel ranges of mountains form a
series of steps from the burning plains to the elevated
plateau. Where the streams draining these chains
break through them, the most practicable passes are
formed, and amongst them the Bolan is one of the
least difficult. Its course is winding; where it lies
along or slants across the valley between two ranges,
the pass is wide and spacious; but where a break
through a range is to be traversed, the defile narrows,
and is close, jagged, and overhung by the precipices of
the cleft chain. Water is abundant, fodder scarce,
the road stony, and trying to the feet of camels and
horses, but particularly so to those of bullocks, which
wear to the quick from constant attrition in shingle and
sharp gravel. The pass is fifty-nine miles in length.



134 THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR.

Of this the first twenty-one miles present a very gradual
ascent, though parts of the road are rough and bad,
and not more than about 300 feet of elevation are
gained ; in the next nine miles the rise is more rapid,
being about 600 feet ; whilstin the next eight and a half
miles a rise of 900 feet is surmounted ; but the most
trying part is that from Ab-i-goon to Sir-i-Kujour,
.where in nine and a half miles a rise of 1,950 feet has
to be won by a fatiguing march in a great measure
over boulders and rough ground. Thelast ten miles are
not so distressing for cattle, although a rise of nearly
1,300 feet is made before the Dusht-i-bedowlut (‘the
profitless plain’) greets the eye with a southernwood-
covered expanse, bounded in the distance by snow-
capped ranges of mountains.

From March 16th to 23rd the force under Cotton was
threading the Bolan, unopposed in front except by the
nature of the road, but losing many camels from fatigue,
and some from the petty attacks of marauders. Much
baggage was sacrificed, which was no disadvantage to
the force, though it necessarily whetted the appetite of
the Belooch for plunder; but the fall of many com-
missariat camels was a grievous matter for the troops, as
each camel that carried flour bore a day’s food for 160
Sepoys, and the loss of other stores and supplies, though
less valuable, was far from unimportant. Encouraged
by success, the marauders harassed the rear brigade,
which, however, found no difficulty in making good its
way, the opposition being slight; but an officer was
badly wounded in the course of the desultory skirmish-
ing. The 37th Regiment N.I. was left to secure the
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head of the Bolan, three of its companies having been
left at Dadur to hold the débouché of the pass until the
Shah and the troops escorting him should enter it.

Cotton reached Quetta on March 26, and as Keane’s
orders prohibiting a further advance were positive, he
. determined there to await the arrival of his chief with
the Bombay troops.

The latter quitted Larkhana on March 12, but
Keane, mortified at Cotton’s advance, instead of march-
ing, as was his original intention, to Shikarpore, struck
off to his left and reached Gundava on the 21st, hoping
to find the pass from thence to Kelat practicable, and
to reach the highlands of Afghanistan and Quetta
almost as soon as Cotton. Ten days were, however,
spent in a halt opposite the mouth of the pass, the only
result of the delay being a reconnaissance and a final
decision not to attempt an advance on Kelat.

- On the 31st the march was resumed, and on April 6
the Bombay force was at Dadur; Keane, however,
having given up the hope of advancing on Kelat, had at
length deemed it time to push ahead of the Bombay
division, and had joined Shah Shooja’s camp on March
26, within a march of the mouth of the Bolan Pass.

Cotton, as already stated, had reached Quetta on the
same day; but apprehensions on the score of food
beginning to be felt, Burnes on the 25th had started for
Kelat, with the view of inducing Mehrab Khan, its ruler,
to furnish supplies, and to pay his respects to Shah
Shooja when that monarch should arrive. The Khan’s
promises to have depits of grain collected both at
Dadur and Quetta had proved fallacious, and there
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were other symptoms that the presence of an invading
army was agreeable neither to him nor to his subjects.
Burnes, however, having waited until the force reached
Quetta, thought that, backed by the vicinity of such
strength, he could induce or intimidate the Belooch
into more energetic measures for provisioning the army.

At the same time Cotton despatched his Adjutant-
General, Craigie, to acquaint Keane with the dilemma
in which his peremptory orders forbidding a further
advance placed the Bengal division, whose store of
food was running so short that Cotton was overwhelmed
with apprehension, and had already taken a most dis-
couraging view of affairs.

The camp-followers had been on half-rations since
March 8, notwithstanding which reduction in the daily
consumption of food, the Bengal force found itself on the
27th with only about ten days’ supply in camp. Candahar
was 147 miles from Quetta, and before reaching the
former place the Khojuk range of mountains must be
passed. The value of the Khan of Kelat’s promises
was manifest, Quetta being disfurnished of grain; and
the hope of obtaining supplies further in advance and
nearer the enemy was evidently still more doubtful
than that of finding them at Quetta. Whatever the
course, therefore, which might ultimately be pursued
by Keane, it became imperative to stave off absolute
famine by economising to the uttermost the supply of
food which remained. Nevertheless, Cotton, with a
certainty that a few days of indecision was tantamount
to the miserable ruin of his gallant troops, still hesitated
from a fear of arousing discontent. He proposed, it is
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true, that the Sepoys should, in lieu of a pound of flour,
receive half a pound of flesh, mutton being procurable ;
and as two pounds of flour is their full ration, there
would thus have resulted a doubling of the period for
which the stock in camp would be calculated to last.
But the Sepoys, with the exception of the sappers and
miners, refused the offer, as contrary to their habits and
feelings; and Cotton shrank from any further action,
either by advancing in contravention of Keane’s orders
or by ordering a necessary reduction of rations. Under
these circumstances it seemed a question whether he
would not close his temporarily independent command
with no other decision on this all-important matter
than that of leaving Keane, when too late to remedy
Cotton’s error, to meet as he best could gaunt famine in
his camp.

The chief engineer, however, having learned the
exhausted state of the commissariat, saw the necessity
for instant decision, and urged the immediate adoption
of the only measure which could fend off disaster,
assuring Cotton that he would be responsible for the
men under his command receiving the order for half
rations without a murmur. Thus encouraged, and
having subsequently ascertained from other officers
commanding regiments that they concurred in the
opinion that no danger need be apprehended from an
order evidently imperatively necessary, Cotton at last
issued his instructions for placing the fighting-men
on half and the camp-followers on quarter rations,
granting at the same time money compensation for the
deduction. As foretold, the order was received without
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a murmur by the troops. It fell with great severity on
the crowd of wretched camp-followers, who, unable to
obtain sufficient sustenance in camp, sought it in the
neighbouring villages, running the risk of being plun-
dered and murdered whilst on such food-hunting
wanderings ; and in this manner many perished.

There was no grain for the cavalry horses; and the
commissariat failing to procure forage of any descrip-
tion, the officers commanding corps were empowered to
make their own arrangements—a liberty which, as it
could fill no granaries and conjure up no stores of
forage, effected no improvement in the condition of the
cavalry. The grain-crops then rising were the only
resource, necessarily a very partial one, and, moreover,
affording but little nourishment. Officers, anxious for
their chargers, paid the most exorbitant sums for dry
lucerne and chopped straw.

The inhabitants of the surrounding villages, pressed
to supply all they possessed in the form of food, were
at first, though alarmed by the craving eagerness with
which the search and requisition for provisions was
carried on, in part reconciled to such proceedings by
the readiness with which the most extravagant prices
were paid for the necessaries of life; but at last they
became exasperated at the prospect of everything being
eaten up by the halting multitude of troops, camp-
followers, and cattle; and finding the opportunity
favourable for plunder, they deserted their villages,
and sought to indemnify themselves for any losses
- which the presence of the force entailed by carrying
off camels, and by stripping and murdering the camp-
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followers, who, though wanting food, were constantly
found to have a good deal of money on their persons.

Matters continued in this state from March 27 until
April 6, the force for eleven days idly consuming
supplies, camp-followers starving, or seeking food at
the peril of their lives, and the horses of the cavalry
and artillery rapidly losing the little strength which
was left them, when at last Keane came into camp and
assumed the command of the army, thanking Cotton
for the able and judicious manner in which he had
conducted the long march of the Bengal troops, and
for having arrived in Afghanistan in a highly creditable
order.
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CHAPTER IX.
APRIL-JUNE 1839.

BURNES'S NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE KHAN OF KELAT—ADVANCE OF THE
FORCE — CHARACTER OF THE COUNTRY BETWEEN QUETTA AND
CANDAHAR—ARRIVAL AT CANDAHAR—CONDITION OF THE TROOPS—
EXPEDITION TO GIRISBHK—ADVANCE UPON CABUL—POSITION OF DOST
MAHOMED.

FANE had early taken the precaution to warn the
commissariat department that failure on the part of the
political officers would not be held a valid excuse in the

event of a deficiency of supplies for the army being
~ felt in the course of military operations. Burnes, en-
trusted with the formation of dep6ts of grain and stores -
in Upper Scinde, had failed to accomplish this object;
and Macnaghten passed a month in inactivity at Shikar-
pore, during which time he had the opportunity of
partly remedying Burnes’s failure by the establishment
of dep6ts of grain and forage on the route to the mouth
of the Bolan Pass. The army very early had occasion
to think of Fane’s prophetic warning.

Macnaghten’s impatience for an advance,urged on by
his Government and by Burnes, and acceptable to Cotton,
thrust the troops onwards without any sufficient reason,
and before such arrangements as were feasible and
necessary with respect to water and supplies could be
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made. The Shah’s contingent, strengthened by a few
regular troops, had been pronounced on February 6
sufficient for the march on Candahar and Herat ; a far
smaller detachment could, therefore, have marched to,
and if thought desirable through, the pass, and secured
right of way for the columns, which could subsequently
have followed when commissariat arrangements for
the combined Bengal and Bombay forces had been
effected.

After the submission of the Ameers, Keane’s presence
was essential at Shikarpore, where he could have con-
trolled operations. He had seen Fane and learnt from
him the qualities of the various officers, envoys, and
generals, and being responsible to his country for the
safety, welfare, and success of a considerable force
about to launch on a hazardous expedition, he ought
not to have left the direction of events one moment
longer than avoidable in the hands of men whose rule
of action seemed to be neglect of all that foresight and
prudence demanded ; and who, whatever their abilities
in other respects, proved from the first that command-
ing an army was not their vocation, and that they
wanted the military ability which it is the fashion to
despise, but which on trial few men are found to possess,
whether soldiers by profession or civil envoys vested
with the control of operations. Keane’s contemplated
movement of the Bombay column up the Gundava
Pass would have been a good one, had his force been
properly provided with camels and food, and had he
properly reconnoitred the pass; but neither was the
case, and he turned from a defile which was practicable
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because he thought it the reverse, having intended to
attempt it without the necessary equipment of provisions
and baggage-cattle for his troops. Though it was a
difficult, because a very fatiguing, pass to ascend, had
he succeeded in his object the Bombay division would
have had the advantage of a line on which forage had
not been consumed; both the Bengal and Bombay
columns might have been on the highlands of Afghan-
istan about the same time ; and being a shorter period
in threading the passes they would have offered less
opportunity for the Belooch to assemble, watch column
after column, and attack and plunder as circumstances
favoured. The Khan of Kelat, moreover, would have
been in direct communication with the Commander-in-
Chief, and Burnes might have been spared the exercise of
a diplomatic wisdom which promised to furnish Mehrab
Khan with a lac and a half of rupees likely to be used,
if he were not well-disposed, in raising and paying the
tribes. The conception, therefore, was good, had means
corresponded and proper arrangements been made.
Keane’s peremptory orders to Cotton to halt at Quetta
without advertence to the condition of the Bengal
column were most ill-judged. For eleven days he kept
a body of fighting men on half rations, and a mass of
camp-followers on quarter rations, uselessly consuming
their scanty supply, which even with such severe hus-
bandry was barely enough to enable them to reach
Candahar ; and, when about to enter a hostile country
having the character of furnishing formidable horsemen,
he gave the finishing blow to the greater part of his
own cavalry by thus confining them to a spot which
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was soon bald of forage. To have instructed Cotton
to continue advancing by easy marches, without pressing
his jaded cattle, husbanding provisions and forage to
the uttermost, and keeping his troops as well together
as circumstances admitted, would have been the safest
and the wisest course, that least destructive of the
efficiency of the cavalry arm of the force, and calculated
to give the earliest relief to starving followers and half-
fed soldiers, whilst at the same time affording the rear
brigades the required opportunity of closing up.

Keane risked much by the order which bound Cotton
to Quetta, and gained nothing but exemption from the
fatigue of the few forced marches which would have
sufficed to have early placed him with the advance.
In fact, he had perilled the success of the expedition, as
was proved by the perusal of despatches found in the
Bolan Pass, and opened by Colonel Dennie. The retreat,
by forced marches, of the Bengal and Bombay columns
had been the subject of consideration.

Weary of a halt, the tedium of which was only
diversified by rumours of a petty, futile, and discredit-
able diplomacy; by the success of marauders, who
plundered and murdered with comparative impunity ;
and by the contemplation of the wretchedness and
misery of the starving followers; the army hailed with
pleasure the arrival of Keane, well assured that the
circumstances under which he assumed command were
such that an immediate forward movement was the only
course open to him, unless, as from his known courage
was altogether improbable, he preferred the ignominy
of a disastrous retreat. The troops were confident that
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the adoption of the latter alternative was not to be
expected from a brave man, and he lost no time in
justifying their expectations.

Inquiry soon satisfied Keane that the prospect of
obtaining provisions from Kelat could not for a moment
be entertained. Burnes had, it was true, concluded a
treaty with the Khan of Kelat, by which the latter
bound himself to supply grain and camels for the force,
and to pay a visit of homage to Shah Shooja, receiving
in return the guarantee of the sovereignty of Beloochi-
stan, the disposal of its revenue, and the promise of a
subsidy to the amount of a lac and a half of rupees.
As an earnest of the generosity and friendly intentions
of the British authorities acting in the name of the
Shah, Burnes had, moreover, paid down to Mehrab Khan
20,000 rupees, and he calculated on thus inducing the
Kelat ruler to proceed to Quetta without delay and
there to pay homage. But Burnes’s temperament and
conduct marred every diplomatic transaction in which
he engaged, and whilst in Upper Scinde he had in-
disposed the Khan of Kelat towards himself. Upon a
report hastily made, and credulously received, which
charged Mehrab Khan with confiscating grain collected
in Cutchee for the army, Burnes wrote a menacing and
imperious letter to the Khan, and further induced Shah
Shooja basely to threaten his benefactor, who had
received him when a helpless fugitive, had afforded him
a safe asylum from his pursuers, and had secured his
unmolested escape to the plains of the Indus. Mehrab
Khan was reminded that Shah Nawaz Khan, a rival
claimant of the Kelat throne, was in Shah Shooja’s
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camp. This ingratitude, and Burness insulting letter,
had early sown distrust.

The Khan was, however, very desirous of a good
understanding with the British Government ; for it had
curbed Scinde, and was about to bit the mouths of the
Candaharees, and in so doing it ‘effected what was most
desirable for his own safety and independence. He
had nothing to apprehend from an alliance with a
Government powerful but distant, and devoid of any
motive for coveting a territory so little worth as ‘that
of Kelat, while he had much to fear from the.Ameers
of Scinde and the chiefs of Candahar. Open hostility
towards the British power was certain and inevitable
destruction. Considerations of future policy and present
safety, therefore, alike counselled him to accept the
very favourable treaty proffered to him. But to place
himself in the hands of Shah Shooja, after the threat he
had received, was a step repugnant to Belooch caution,
and the Khan’s suspicion was not allayed by Burnes’s
eagerness to purchase his march to Quetta with the
gratuitous donation of 20,000 rupees. Burnes’s hasty
departure from Kelat, after deputing the notorious
Mohun Lal to escort the Khan to the Shah’s presence,
left the doubtful and wavering chief to the full play of
his own fears and the evil suggestions of plotting foes
in his councils.

Whether alarmed by the intimation that treachery
was contemplated, or anxious to communicate the
nature of the arrangements made at Kelat, Burnes had
unfortunately quitted the place without the Khan;
and, being attacked by plunderers on the road, he was

L
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the first, on reaching Quetta, to protest against the
treaty he had concluded, assuming, without inquiry and
against all probability, that the attack on his baggage
had been made by order of Mehrab Khan. The latter
was consequently still more averse to submitting
himself to Shah Shooja, having no confidence in the
good faith of the Shah or in the discriminating justice
of his advisers, and being naturally disinclined to com-
promise personal safety by placing himself at the mercy
of the disreputable natives by whom the envoy and
minister Macnaghten was led in his attempts to effect
strokes of policy.

That which most concerned Keane was the evident
failure of the endeavour to draw supplies of grain from
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